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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Directors' Report

The directors present the annual report and audited financial statements of AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Lunited for the year ended 31
December 201 |

Business review and principal activities

AMG Plymouth UK Heldings (1) Limited ("the Company”) 1s a holding company with subsidiares that provide investment management
services, predominantly 1n connection with unquoted companies The Company, together with its subsidiantes forms "the Group" The Company,
through 1ts subsidiancs, holds direct investments in Pantheen equity funds

The results of the Company show a profit of of $27,216,226 for the year (2010 loss $5,416,219)

The Company 1s subject to a transfer pricing agreement with other group companies Income and expenditure allocation i the Group 1s
determined by the transfer pricing agreement

Business environment

The fundraising environment for private equity markets has been very challengeng in recent years and tthas been ne exception for funds of funds

From January to November 2011, $11 3 billion’ was raised in private equity funds of funds compared to $15 3 billion 1n 2010 The first half of
2011 saw a strong pick-up 1n appetite from investors, but volaulity in the wider financial markets saw the pace of fund raising drop ofT in Q3 and
Q4 1f there 1s more stability 1n the financial marhets in 2012, funds of funds asset raising activity 15 expected to pick-up again

During 2011 managers brought 1o market fewer new products and targeted less capital than during the industry’s peak years of 2006 to 2008
The average size of final fund closes dropped from $369 million in 2007 to $234 miilion in 2011 It 15 also taking longer for managers to raise
capital for their funds Pantheon raised approximately $t 3 ballion tn assets dunng the 2011 fiscal year, bringing the total assets under
management to $24 3 billion

Strategy

The Group aims to produce long term and sustainable performance in private equity by invesung n diversified portfolios whilst managing nsk
This can be achieved by the selection of the best managers diversified by stage, ime and sector The Group relies on us large, expenenced and
stable team, a track record of eut-performance, thorough research and a nisk-managed approach The Group consistently seehs to recruit and
retzin the highest cahiber professional staff in order to mamntain its prime position n the market

Future outlook

Despue the challenging fund raising environment and increasing number of nvestors choosing to invest directly in private equity funds, there
continues to be strong interest for funds of funds amongst mstitutional mnvestors According to a survey taken in October 2011 by Preqin
amongst tstitutional investors, 78% of the surveyed said that they are hkely to consider making a new commitment to a fund of funds in the next
three years' Many of those surveyed believed private equuly markets present good investment opportumities, despite the current economic
nstability, given the long-term nature of the asset class and the historical track record of private equity managers generaling very attractive
returns  The best managers of these vehicles, who also have the abihity to bring to market new and 1nnovative products, will contimue to attract
capital as the market conditions improve  In recent years, Pantheon has been shifting its focus more toward offering flexible solutions (through
separate accounts) and a broader range of products (such as infrastructure} Pantheon 1s well positioned for 2012 given its relatively strong
nvestment performance, its ability to bring to market innovative products, and its global distnbution capabilittes The company will be
completing the final close of 1ts three primary funds that were launched wn 2010, which includes PASIA VI, PUSA 1X and PCURO VII Further,
115 currently marketing new products including Emerging Markets, Global Infrastructure and Co-investment funds

Dividends

There were ne dividends paid during the year
Directors
The directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements are listed on page |

No beneficial interests in the Company were held by the drrectors during the year

(Continued )

! Source The 2012 Preqin Private § quuty Fund of T unds Review
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Report of the Directors (continued)

Directors' indemnlty

The Growp, which mncludes the Company, Trabality 1 ¢ for directors and officers  This 15 a qualifying indemmty provision for the
purposes of the Companses Act 2006

Charitable donations
Dunng the year the Company made chantablc donahions of bl (2010 Snel)

Principal risks and uncertaintics

I'he manageinent of the business and the cxeculion of the Group's strategy arc subject to a number of nsks The key nisks relate 10 compention,
i estincnt pecformance and staff retenton

o Competinon  Prvale cquity has expenienced sgmificant growth 1o recent ycars ond has attracied :ncrcasing numbers of compeitors

I1he Groups competitive advaniage lics i an extensive 11 depth market database, comprehensive research and aceess to top quantic
perforimers

Investment pecformance  Pantheon apphes a disciphned and proven anuly manager mvestmient approach which allows investors lo
benefir from diversity at stage, tine and sccior level sclectien of best-of breed managers and enhanced cash flow through secondary
opporiunitics

Stafl rulenbion Prvete equity 15 an cxtremcly compenitive market and the Group recogmises the aeed 1o employ snd retam (e best
talent available The Group has a genune focus on I8 associates and 15 commuitted 1o providing a rewarding and stimulating
cnvironment for all its ciployces

The Coivpany 18 exposed 1o financial nsk through its 1 assets and f I isbibnes The most nnportant caimponents of this financial nsk
arc currency nsk and credit risk

Currency nisk - the Company 1s Lxposcd to Lorency nisk w respect of asscts and labihtics denominaled v currcucics other than Uit States
Dollar Fhe most sigmificant currencics 1o which the Growvp 1s exposed arc the Briish Pound, the Eure and the Hong Kong Dollar At present, the
Campany docs nol implement any measures 10 hudgy s uxposurg to foreign exchange nsk

Crdit sk - this 1s the nsk thal a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts 1n full when due The Company manages the usk by 2 combnation of
active credil contrel and chent div ersification

Independent anditors

A resolunion for the re-appotmment of Pacew aterhouseCoopers LLP as audilors of the Company s to be propased o1 the forthcoming Annual
General Mecuing

On behalf of the Board
D H—
20-22 Budford Row D Maines
London Direclor
W{CIR 4IS Daic 26 September 2012
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited
Siatement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Annual Report and the Financial Statements

I'he directors are responsible for prepaning the Directors' Report and the financial statements 1n accordance with apphcable law and regulanons

Company law requires the dircctors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law, the directors bave elected to prepare
the financiel statements in accordanee with United Kingdon Generally Accopted Accounting Prachice (United Kmgdom Accounting Standards
and applicable taw) Under company law the dircctors must not approve the financial statements wnkess they arc satisficd that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that penod

In prepanmg these financial statemenis, the dicectors are required to

*  sclect switable nccounting policics and then apply them consistently
& make judgemunis and accounnig estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

s sile whether applicable UK Accountiog Standards have been followed subject to any material departures disclosed and explamed in the
financial statements, and

o prepare the finzncial staluments on the going concern basis unless 1t 13 nappropriaic to presume that the company will centinue tn
busintss

The directors canfirm that they have comphed with the above requirements

The dircctors an responsible for keepmg adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tune the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statemeuts
comply with the Compamies Act 2006 1hcy are alse responssble for safeguarding the asscts of the Company and heuce for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detuehion of frand and other megilantics

Statement of disclosure of information to audliors
As far as ¢ach of the directors are oware, there s no relevant audit snformation of which the Company's auditors are unaware  Each director has

taken all the steps that they ought 1o have taken as o disector 1n arder 1o make themsclves aware of any relevant awhit information and 1o estabhish
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

On behalf of the Board

D Malnes
Dnector
Date 26 September 2012

20-22 Bedford Row

Lendon
WCIR 435
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited
Independent Auditors' Report to the Member of AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

We have audited the financial statements of AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited for the year ended 31 December 2011 which comprise the
Profit and Loss Account, the Balance Sheet and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied m their preparation 1s
apphcable law and Umited Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

As explamed more fully 1n the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on page 4, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being sansfied that they giwve a true and farr view  Qur responsibility 15 to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements 10 accordance with applicable Jaw and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Aud:ting Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Thus report, including the opimons, has been prepared for and only for the company's member as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Pant 16
of the Compantes Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do net, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report 15 shown or into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent tn
writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves oblaiming evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statlements sufficient (o give reasonable assurance that

the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the

accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances and have been consistenily appled and adequately disclosed, the .
reasonableness of sigmficant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentatton of the financtal statements In addition, we

read zll the financial and non-financial information 1n the annual report to 1dentfy material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements

If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications {or our report

Opinion on the financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements

& give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its profit for the year then ended

. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and
®  have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Compantes Act 2006
Opimion on other matter prescribed by the Compamies Act 2006

In eur opinion the information given 1n the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 1s consistent
with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report 1 respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion

®  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not vistted by
us or

s the financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

®  wc have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Toby Shailes (Serior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of Pricew aterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditers
London

Date 27 September 2012
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Profit and Loss Account

For the year ended 31 December 2011

For the year ended For the perntod ended
Notes 31 December 2011 31 December 2010
3 5

Turnover Ic - -
Admirnistrative cxpenses (12,433) (7,828)
Foreign currency exchange gamn 807,572 -
Operating profit/ (loss) 795,139 (7,828)
Interest expense (15,401,360) (7,514,699
Dividend income 37,951,798 -
Profit/ (less) on ordinary activities before taxation 3 23,345,577 (7,522,527}
Taxation on profit/ {loss) on ordinary activitigs 4 3,870,649 2,106,308
Retained profit/ (loss) for the financial year/ period 27,216,226 (5,416,219)

There are no matenal differences between the profit/{loss) on ordinary activities before taxation and the profit/(loss) for the periods stated above
and their historical cost equivalents

The Company has no recognised gains or losses other than those included mn the results above and therefore no separate statement of total
recogmised gains and losses has been presented

All profits/{(losses) arose from continuing operations

I'he notes on pages 8 to 11 form part of the financial statements
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Balance Sheet

/3 1-Deeember-2011

Fixed assets

Investoent in subsidianics
Current assets

Dcebtors

Creditors amounts {alllng due within one year

Net current Habllitles

Net nssets

Capital and reserves

Called up share eapual
Share Premum

Profit and loss account

Equity shareholders' funds

The notes on pages 8 to 11 form part of the financiul statements

Signed on behalf of the Beard on 26 September 2012

: %.’-_
D Naines
Director

Page 7

Noes

Al
31 December 2011
3

At
31 December 2010
S

362,429,205 362,429,205
40,281,231 19,533,026
40,281,231 19,533,026

(L67,115,757) (173,583,778)
(126,834,526) {154,050,752)

235,594,679 108,378,453

181,664,431 181,664,431
32,130 241 32,130,241
21,800,007 (5.416,219)

235,594,679 208,378.453
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2011

1 Accountmg pohicies

a Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on a gomg concern basis, under the historic cost convention, 1 accordance with the Companies Act
2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom The accounung policies are set out below and have been applied consistently
throughout the year

b Consohdation
The Company 1s a substdiary of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc ("AMG") The results of the Company and its subsidiaries are included within
the consohdated financtal statements of AMG and therefore the Company s exempt from the requirement to prepare group accounts

Consequently, these financtal statements present iformanion about the Company as an individual undertaking and not about wts group The
financial statements of AMG are appended to these financial statements

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements under the terms of section 401 of the
Companies Act 2006

The consolidated accounts of AMG comply with the requirements relating to the disclosure of non-audit services provided by audttors
¢ Turnover
The Company has not received any income during the year or preceeding pertod

d Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabshties denormnated in a foreign currency are translated into United States dollars at the year-end rate  Transactions in a
foreign currency are translated nto United States dollars at the rates prevailing on the date of the transaction Exchange differences are taken
directly mto the profit and loss account

¢ Investments

Investments n subsidianies are held at cost in the batance sheet

f Cash flow exemption

Under FRS 1 (revised 1996), the Company is exempt {rom preparing a cash flow statement on the grounds that it 1s a wholly owned subsidiary
undertaking and the ulumate parent company, AMG, prepares consohdated financial statements which are publicly available

g Related party disclosure

The Company 1s exempt under paragraph 3 (c) of FRS 8 'Related Parties' from disclosing related party transactions with enties that are part of
the AMG Group

2 Dhrectors and employees

The directors do not recerve any emoluments for services to the Company The Company does not have any cmployees

3 Profit/ (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation

For the year ended For the period ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
3 )
Profit/ (loss) on ordinary activities 15 stated after charging
Audutors' remuneration - for audit work 12,433 7,828
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2011

4 Taxation

UK corporation tax at an effective rate of 26 5% (2010 28%)
a) Analysis of tax credit 1n the year

Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the year

Tax credit on profits on ordmnary activities

b) Factors affecting tax credit for the year
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax

Tax at 26 5% ( 2010 28%)
Tax exemp! income

Current tax credu for the year

5 Investments

Investment in subsidiaries
ALl January
Additions

At 31 December

Page 9

For the year ended For the penod ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
$ $

(3,870,649) (2,106,308)
{3,870,649) (2,106,308)

For the year ended For the pentod ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
$ 5

23,345,577 (7.522,527)
6,186,578 (2.106,308)
(10,057,227) -
(3,870,649 (2,106,308)

For the year ended
31 December 201}

For the pertod ended
31 December 2010

$ $
362,429,205 -

- 362,429,205
362,429,205 362,429,205
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2011

6 Debtors

Due within one year
Amounts from Parent

Amounts owed by fellow subsidiaries
Group tax rehief

7 Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year

Loan stock

Amounts duc to Parent

Amounts due to subsidiary undertaking
Loan stoch interest

Accruals

The loan stock 15 unsecured, payable on demand with an interest rate of 10%

8 Share capital

Authorised

1,160,276,111 ordinary shares of £0 10 cach

Allotted, called up and fully paid

1,160,276,111 ordinany shares of £0 10 each

9 Profit and loss account

At 1 January
Profit/(loss) for the financial year/peniod

At 31 December

Page 10

At At

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
$ b

27,043,109 10,381,120
9,367,473 7.045,598
3,870,649 2,106,308
40,281,231 19,533,026

At At

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
3 $

147,533,380 148,634,533
9,393,473 7,045,598
6,460,154 10,381,120
3,708,490 7,514,699

20,261 7.828

167,115,757

173,583,778

At At
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
$ b
181,664,431 181,664,431
181,664,431 181,664,431

For the year ended
31 December 2011

For the period ended
31 December 2010

$ $
(5.416,219) .
27,216,226 (5.416,219)
21,800,007 (5.416,219)
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2011

10 Reserves

Share Premium Profit and Loss Total
3 $ $
At the begimning of year 32,130,241 (5,416,219) 26,714,022
Profit for the year - 27,216,226 27,216,226
At the end of year 32,130,241 21,800,007 53,930,248
11 Reconcihation of the movement i shareholders’ funds
For the peried ended Tor the period ended
31 December 201§ 31 December 2010
$ $
Opening shareholders' funds 208,378,453 -
Issue of shares - 181,664,431
Profit/(less) for the financial year/penied 27.216,226 {5,416,219)
Share premium - 32,130,241
Closing shareholders' funds 235,594,679 208,378,453

12 Parent company

The uttmate parent undertahing and the largest group to prepare consolidated financial statements 1s AMG ncorporated in the United States
of Amenca The consclidated financial statements of AMG can be obtained from 600 Hale Street, Prides Crossing, MA 01965 and are

appended to these financial statements

13 Related party disclosure

FRS 8 grants a partial exemption to subsidiary undertakings from its requirements, provided that 100% of the voting nights of the company are

controlled within the group, and the subsidiary 1s included 1n publicly available consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company have tahen advantage of this exemption in respect of the transactions betwecn the Company and other

quahfying group undertakings

There are no other related party transactions

Page i1
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
OR
{1 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition penod from to

Commtssion File Number 001-13459

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified n 1ts charter)

Delaware 04-3218510
(State or other junisdiction of (IRS Employer
Ncorpordtion Or orgdnizalion} Identification Number)

600 Hale Street, Prides Crossing, Massachusetts 01965
(Address of principal executive offices)

(617) 747-3300
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securtties registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act
Title of cach class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock ($ 01 par value) New York Stock Exchange

Secunues registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrani 1s a well-known seasoned 1ssuer, as defincd mn Rule 405 of the Secunties
Act Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if the regisirant 1s not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d} of the
Act Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reporis required (o be filed by Section 13 or 15(d} of the Secunines
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter penod that the Registrant was required to file such reports),

and (2) has been subject 1o such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submutted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232 405 of thus chapter) durmg the
preceding 12 months {or for such shorier period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files) Yes No (J

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (229 405 of this chapter) 1s not
contained heren, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge m defimtive proxy or mformation statements

incorporated by reference in Part 11T of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ts a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller
accelerated Diler” and “smaller reporting company™ in Rule 12b 2 of

"

reportng company See the definmions of “large accelerated filer,
the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer Accelerated Oler [ Non-accelerated filer (1 Smaller reporting company [

{Do not check if a smaller
reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant 1s a shell company (as defined m Rule 12b-2 of the Act} Yes [l No

At June 30 2011, the aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based upon the closing
price of $101 45 on that date on the New York Stock Exchange, was $3,227,844,602 Calculation ot holdings by non-affihates 15 based
upon the assumption, for this purpose only, that executive officers, directors and any persons holding 10% or more of the registrant’s

common stock are affibates There were 51,763,612 shares of the registrant 5 common stock outstanding on February 16, 2012

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definiive Proxy Statement to be delivered to shareholders in connection with the Annual Meetimg of Shareholders

to be held on or about June 4, 2012 are mcorporated by reference into Part 1

T
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Page Dim 8250" X 10 750" Copy Dim. 40 X 60 File BA78801A,7




MERRILL CORPORATION AKOSMIN//21-FEB-12 16 40 DISK121 [[1ZDY1 11ZDY78801]BG78801A 6
mrli_1111 fmt Free 2210DM/D Foot oD/ 0D VJRSeq 1Clr 0
DISK024 [PAGER PSTYLESJUNIVERSAL BST.96 8 CCs 6958

PART I
Item 1
Item 1A
Item 1B
Item 2
Item 3
Item 4

PART 11
Item 5

Item 6
Item 7

Item 7A
Ttem 8
Item 9

Item 9A
Item 9B

PART III
Item 10
Item 11
Item 12

Item 13
Item 14

PART IV
Item 15

L

FORM 10-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Business

Risk Factors

Unresolved Staff Comments
Propertics

Legal Proccedings

Mine Safety Disclosures

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Secunties

Selected Financial Data

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

Quantitative and Qualtative Disclosures About Market Risk

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Finanaal
Dusclosure

Controls and Procedures

Other Information

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Executive Compensation

Secunty Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

Certain Relationships and Related Transachions and Director Independence

Principal Accountant Fees and Scrvices

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

T

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc 10-K  Proj P31883BOS11 Job 11ZDY78801 (11-31888-1)
Page Dim 8250" X 10 750" Copy Dim 38 X543  File BG78801A 6

10
15
15
15
15

16
19

20
42
84

84
84

85

85
85
85

86




MERRILL CORPORATION LPALLES//22-FEB-12 13 55 DISK12! [11ZDY1 11ZDY78801]JCA78801A ,14
mrll_1111 {fmt Free 350D*/3460D Foot oD/ 0D VIRSeq 1CIr 0
DI1SK024 [PAGER PSTYLESJUNIVERSAL BST,96 8 CCs 864

L

PART 1
Item 1 Business

We are a global asset management company with equity investments 1n a diverse group of boutique
mvestment management firms (our “Affiliates”) We pursue a growth strategy designed to generate
sharcholder value through the internal growth of our existing business, additional investments in
investment management firms and strategic transactions and relationships structured to enhance our
Affihates’ businesses and growth prospects

In our investments 1n each of our Affiliates, we hold a substantial equity interest The remaining
equity interests are retamed by the management of the Affihate and enable Affihate managers to
continue to participate 1n their firm’s success Our investment approach provides a degree of hquidity
and diversification to principal owners of boutique investment management firms, and also addresses
the succession and ownership transition 1ssues facing many founders and principal owners Our
partnership approach also ensures that Affiliates maintain operational autonomy 1in managing therr
business, thereby preserving their firm’s entrepreneunal culture and independence In particular, our
structures are designed to

* mamtain and enhance Affihate managers’ equity incentives n their firms,
« preserve each Affilate’s distinct culture and investment focus, and

* provide Affihates with the ability to realize the benefits of scale economues 1n distribution,
operations, compliance and technology

Although we mvest 1n firms that we anticipate wiil grow independently and without our assistance,
we are commutted to helping Affihates identify opportumities for growth and leverage the benefits of
economies of scale We assist our Affiliates in broadening global distribution, developing new products
and providing strategic support and enhanced operational capabihities

We believe that substantial opportumities to make investments in high-quality boutique investment
management firms will continue to arise as their founders seek to institutionalize thewr businesses
through broader equity ownership, or approach retirement age and begin to plan for succession Qur
management identifies select firms based on our thorough understanding of the asset management
industry, and has developed relationships with a significant number of these firms Within our target
umverse, we seek the strongest and most stable firms with the best growth prospects, which are
typically characterized by a strong multi-generational management team and culture, with a
commitment to bullding a firm for its longer-term success, focused investment discipline and long-term
investment track record, and diverse products and distribution channcls We are focused on mnvesting in
the highest quality boutique mmvestment management firms speciahizing i an array of investment styles
and asset classes, including both traditional and alternative investment managers We anticipate that we
will have significant additional 1nvestment opportunities across the global asset management industry,
including the potential for investments 1n subsidianies, divisions and other investment teams or
products

Investment Management Operations

As of December 31, 2011, we manage $327 5 illion 1n assets through our Affiliates in more than
350 investment products across a broad range of asset classes and investment styles in three principal
distribution channels Mutua! Fund, Institutional and High Net Worth We believe that our
diversification across asset classes, investment styles and distribution channets helps to mitigate our
exposure to the nisks created by changing market environments

T

Affiliatad Managers Group. Inc 10-K Pro] P31888B0OS11 Job 11ZDY78801 (11-31888-1)
Page Dim 8250" X 10 750° Copy Dim 38 X543  File CA78801A ,14




MERRILL CORPORATION LPALILES//22-FEB-12 13 35 DISKi21 [11ZDY1 11ZDY78801]CATBR01A (14

mrll_} 111 fmt Free

730D*/1560D Foot oD/ 0D VIRSeq 2CIr 0

DISK024 [PAGER PSTYLES]JUNIVERSAL BST,96 8 CCs 52950

1

A summary of selected financial data attributable to our operations follows

2009 2010 2011
(tn mullions, except as noted)
Assets under Management (in billions)®"
Mutual Fund $445 % 852 $ 852
Institutional 1339 2001 2057
High Net Worth 296 347 366
Total $2080 § 3200 § 3275
Revenue'®
Mutual Fund $3132 $ 5788 § 7237
Institutional 4156 649 2 8414
High Net Worth 1130 1302 1397
Total $8418 $1,3582 31,7048
Net income {controlling interest)
Mutual Fund® $207 $§ 463 $ 655
Institutional 236 778 90 2
High Net Worth® 62 145 92
Total $595 % 1386 § 1649
EBITDA®?
Mutual Fund $706 % 1194 § 1512
Institutional 1397 2423 288 3
High Net Worth® 325 427 318
Total $2428 § 4044 § 4713
(1) Balances as of December 31

2
(3

Ly

(5)
(6)

(7

1n 2009, 2010 and 2011, revenuc attributable to ¢hients domuiciied outside the U S was
approxumately 18%, 33% and 39% of total revenue, respectively

Note 26 to the Consohdated Financial Statements on page 79 describes the basis on which we
present our distribution channe! operating results

In 2011, we changed our estimate of payments to be made under certain of our contingent
payment arrangements and recogmized a gain totaling $4 8 million ($3 1 mullion of which 1s
attributable to the controlling interest) This gain was allocated $0 2 million and $4 6 milhon to our
Mutual Fund and Institutional channels, respectively

During 2011, we recorded a $9 2 million expense associated wath the revaluation of Indefinite-hved
intangible assets

Duning 2011, we determned that the value of a cost method investment had been reduced to zero,
and recorded a $12 8 mullion cxpense

EBITDA, including a reconcihation to cash flow from operanons, 1s discussed 1n greater detail 1n
“Supplemental Liquidity Measure” on page 30
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Mutual Fund Distnbution Channel

Through our Affiliates, we provide advisory or sub-advisory services to mutual funds These funds
are distributed to retail and mstitutional chents directly and through intermedianies, including
independent investment advisors, retirement plan sponsors, broker-dealers, major fund marketplaces
and bank trust departments

Utihzing the distnibution, sales, chent service and back-office capabilities of Managers Investment
Group LLC (“Managers”), our Affihates are provided access to the Mutual Fund wholesale distribution
channel and wrap sponsor platforms Managers offers Affillates a single point of contact for retail
intermediaries such as banks, brokerage firms and other sponsored platforms Within this distribution
channel, Managers 15 presently servicing and distnbuting approximately 40 mutual funds, including
funds managed by twelve Affihates

Institunonal Distnbution Channel

Through our Affibates, we offer a broad range of investment styles in the Institutional distribution
channel, including small, small/mid, mid and large capitalization value, growth equity and emerging
markets In addition, our Affiliates offer quantitative, alternative and fixed income products Through
this distmbution channel, our Affihates manage assets for foundations and endowments, defined benefit
and defined contribution plans for corporations and municipalities, and Taft-Hartley plans, with
disciphined and focused investment styles that address the specialized needs of institutional chents

Our institutional investment products are distributed by over 100 sales and marketing professionals
who develop new institutional business through direct sales efforts and established relationships with
pension consultants QOur efforts are designed to ensure that our Affilates’ products and services
successfully address the specialized needs of their clients and are responsive to the evolving demands of
the marketplace and provide our Affiliates with resources to improve sales and marketing materials,
network with the pension consultant and plan spoasor communities, and further expand and establish
new distnibution alternatives

We continue to work with our Affihates in executing and enhancing their marketing and client
service mitiatives by expanding our global distribution platform Our global distribution platform
includes offices 1n Sydney, serving mstitutional investors in Austraha and New Zealand, London,
serving institutional investors in the Umted Kingdom and Europe, Dubai, serving institutional investors
mn the Middle East, and Hong Kong, serving institutional investors in Asia Our Affihates corrently
manage approximately $150 0 bilhion 1n assets for non-U § clients 1n more than 40 countries, including
Australia, Brazil, Canada, Germany, Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Singapore, the United Arab
Emurates and the Umted Kingdom

High Net Worth Distnbution Channel

The High Net Worth distiibution channel 15 compnised broadly of two principal client groups The
first group consists principally of direct relationships with high net worth individuals and families and
charnitable foundations For these clients, our Affilates provide investment management or custormized
investment counseling and fiduciary services The second group consists of individual managed account
chent relationships established through intermedianes, which are generally brokerage firms or other
sponsors Qur Affiliates provide investment management services through more than 100 managed
account and wrap programs

We have undertaken several mitiatives to provide our Affihates with enhanced managed account
distnbution and administration capabilities Within our High Net Worth distnbution channel, Managers
15 presently distributing more than 20 investment products managed by multiple Affihates Managers
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distnibutes single and multi-manager separate account products and mutual funds through brokerage
firms

Qur Structure and Relanonship with Affiliates

In making investments 1in boutique 1nvestment management firms, we seek to partner with the
highest quality firms 1n the industry, with outstanding management teams, strong long-term
performance records and a demonstrated commitment to continued growth and success Fundamental
to our vestment approach 1s the belief that Affihate management equity ownership (along with
AMG’s ownership) ahigns our interests and provides Affihate managers with a powerful incentive to
continue to grow therr business Our investment structure provides a degree of hquidity and
dwversification to principal owners of boutique investment management firms, while at the same time
expanding cquity ownership opportunities among the firm’s management and allowing management to
continue to participate in the firm’s future growth Our partnership approach also ensures that
Affihates maintain operational autonomy in managing their business, thereby preserving their firm’s
cntreprencunal culture and independence

Although the specific structure of each investment 1s hughly taillored to meet the needs of a
particular Affilrate, in all cases, we establish a meaningful equity interest in the firm, with the
remaining equity interests retained by the management of the Affihate Each Affiliate 15 orgamized as a
separate firm, and s operating or shareholder agreement 1s structured to provide approprate
incentives for Affihate management owners and to address the Affiliate’s particular characternstics while
also enabling us to protect our interests, inciuding through arrangements such as long-term employment
agreements with key members of the firm’s management team

In most cases, we own a majonty of the equity interests of a firm and structure a revenue sharing
arrangement, 1n which a percentage of revenue 1s allocated for use by management of that Affihate n
paying operating expenses of the Affilate, including salanies and bonuses We call this the “Operating
Allocation ” The portion of each Affiliate’s revenue that 1s allocated to the owners of that Affiliate
(mcluding us) s called the “Owners’ Allocation ” Each Affihate allocates its Owners’ Allocation to its
managers and to us generally in proportion to their and our respective ownership interests in that

Affihate

One of the purposes of our revenue sharing arrangements 18 to provide ongomg incentives for
Affibhate managers by allowing them to participate in the growth of their firm’s revenue, which may
increase their compensation from both the Operating Allocation and the Owners’ Allocation These
arrangements also provide incentives to control operating expenses, thereby increasing the portion of
the Operating Allocation that 1s available for growth mminatives and compensation

An Affihate’s Operating Allocation 1s structured to cover 1ts operating expenses However, should
actual operating expenses exceed the Operating Allocation, our contractual share of cash under the
Owners’ Allocation gencrally has prionity over the allocations and distributions to the Affiliate’s
managers As a result, the excess expenses first reduce the portion of the Owners® Allocation allocated
to the Affiliate’s managers until that portion 1s eliminated, before reducing the portion allocated to us
Any such reduction in our portion of the Owners® Allocation 15 required to be pard back to us out of
the portion of future Owners’ Allocation allocated to the Affihate’s managers

Our munority investments are also structured to ahgn our nterests with those of the Affiliate’s
management through shared equity ownership, as well as to preserve the Affiliate’s entrepreneunal
culture and independence by maintaiming the Affiliate’s operational autonomy In cases where we hold
a minority investment, the revenue shanng arrangement generally allocates a percentage of the
Affihate’s revenue to us The remaining revenue 1s used to pay operating expenses and profit
distributions to the other owners Generally where we own a minonty investment, we are required to
use the equity method of accounting Consistent with this method, we have not consohdated the
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operating results of these firms (including their revenue) m our Consolidated Statements of Income
Our share of these firms’ profits (net of intangible amortization) 1s reported i Income from equity
method investments, and 1s therefore reflected in our Net income and EBITDA  As a consequence,
mcreases or decreases 1n these firms’ assets under management (8§86 9 billion as of December 31, 2011
and mcluded 1n our reported Assets under Management) will not affect our reported revenue

Certain of our Affihates operate under profit-based arrangements through which we own a
majorty of the equity in the firm and recewve a share of profits as cash flow, rather than a percentage
of revenue through a typical revenue sharing agreement As a result, we particaapate fully in any
icrease or decrease in the revenue or expenses of such firms In these cases, we participate 1n a
budgeting process and generally provide incentives to management through compensation arrangements
based on the performance of the Affiliate

We are focused on establishing and mamtamming leng-term partnerships with our Affihates Our
shared equity ownership gives both us and our Affiliates meaningful incentives to manage their
businesses for strong future growth From time to time, we may consider changes to the structure of
our relatonship with an Affilrate 1n order to better support the firm’s growth strategy

Many of our Affihate operating agreements provide our Affilate managers conditional nights (“put
rights”) that enable them to sell their retained equuty interests to us at certain intervals, gradually over
time These agreements also provide us conditional nights to require the managers to setl their interests
to us (“call nghts”) We believe these rights enhance our abihity to keep our owncrship within a desired
range and provide Affilate managers sufficient incentives to grow and improve their business and
create equity value for themselves These rights help facilitate our ability to provide equity ownership
opportumities in our Affihates to¢ more junior members of their management teams

Through our Affihates, we derive most of our revenue from the prowvision of investment
management services Investment management fees (“asset-based fees™) are usually determined as a
percentage fee charged on periodic values of a chient’s assets under management, most asset-based fees
arc billed by our Affiliates quarterly Our private equity products bill advisory fees on committed
capital

Certain clients are billed for all or a portion of their accounts based upon assets under
management valued at the beginning of a billing penod (“in advance”) Other chents are billed for all
or a portion of their accounts based upon assets under management valued at the end of the billing
period (“in arrears’) Most client accounts in the High Net Worth distnibution channel are lled in
advance, and most chent accounts in the Institutional distribution channel are billed in arrears Clients
m the Mutual Fund distribution channel are billed based upon average daily assets under management
Asset-based fees billed 1in advance will not reflect subsequent changes in the market value of assets
under management for that period but may reflect changes due to chient withdrawals Conversely, asset-
based fees billed in arrears will reflect changes in the market value of assets under management for
that period

In addition, over 75 Affilate alternative investment and equity products, representing
approximately $40 4 billion of assets under management (as of December 31, 2011), also bill on the
basis of absolute or relative investment performance (“performance fees”) These products, which are
primarily 1n the Institutional distribution channel, are often structured to have returns that are not
directly correlated to changes 1in broader equity indices and, if earned, the performance fee component
1s typically billed less frequently than an asset-based fee Although performance fees inherently depend
on wmvestment results and will vary from penod to period, we anticipate performance fees to be a
recurring component of our revenue We also anticipate that, within any calendar year, the majornity of
performance fees will typically be realized in the fourth quarter
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Our Net income reflects the revenue of our consolidated Affihates and our share of income from
Affiliates which we account for under the equity method, reduced by

our expenses, ncluding the operating expenses of our consolidated Affihiates, and

the profits allocated to managers of our consohdated Affilhates (1€, non-controlling interest)

As discussed above, for consohdated Affihates with revenue sharing arrangements, the operating
expenses of the Affihate as well as its managers’ non-controlling interest generally increase (or
decrease) as the Affiliate’s revenue increases (or decreases) because of the derect relationship
established in many of our agreements between the Affiliate’s revenue and 1ts Operating Allocation and
Owners’ Allocation At our consoldated profit-based Affihates, expenses may or may not correspond to
increases or decreases in the Affiliates’ revenues

Our level of profitability will depend on a vanety of factors, including

those affecting the global financial markets generally and the equity markets particularly, which
could potentially result 1n considerable increases or decreases in the assets under management at
our Affihates,

the level of Affiliate revenue, which 1s dependent on the abihty of our existing and future
Affilates to mamtain or increase assets under management by maintaining thesrr existing
mvestment advisory relationships and fee structures, marketing their services successfully to new
chients and obtamning favorable investment results,

our receipt of Owners’” Allocation from Affibates with revenue sharing arrangements, which
depends on the ability of our existing and future Affihates to mamntain certain levels of operating
profit margins,

the ncreases or decreases 1n the revenue and expenses of Affihates that operate on a profit-
based model,

the availlability and cost of the capital with which we finance our existing and new investments,

our success in making new investments and the terms upon which such transactions are
completed,

the level of intangible assets and the associated amortization expense resulting from our
investments,

the level of our expenses, including compensation for our employees, and

the level of taxation to which we are subject
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Diversification of Assets under Management

The following table provides information regarding the composition of our assets under
management as of December 31, 2011

Assets under  Percentage
Management of Total

{in bilitons)
Dastribution Channel:
Mutual Fund $852 26%
Institutional 2057 63%
High Net Worth 366 11%
Total $3275 100%
Asset Class:
Equity() $2079 63%
Alternative@ 803 25%
Fixed Income 393 12%
Total $3275 100%
Geography:()
Domestic $109 4 33%
Global/International 178 4 55%
Emerging Markets 397 12%
Total $3275 100%

(1) The Equity asset class includes equity, balanced and asset allocation products

(2) The Alternative asset class includes private equity, multi-strategy, market neutral equity and hedge
products

(3) The Geography of a particular investment product describes the general location of 1ts investment
holdings

Prospective Affiliates

Our target mvestment universe includes more than 1,800 investment management firms globally,
and we have established relationships with approximately 800 of these firms and continue to develop
new relationships with additional firms This group of boutique investment management firms includes
independently owned firms, as well as investment management subsidiaries of larger orgamzations and
strategic distribution firms located around the world We believe that demographic trends will continue
to create a number of transaction opporturmties as the founders of independent firms experience a necd
for partnership transition and succession planmng, or otherwise seek a degree of diversification and
additional resources to pursue their growth strategy In addition, we expect that the number of
transaction opportumtes available to us will be further enhanced as larger financial organizations
dispose of non-core asset management subsidiaries and private equity firms sell investments 1n asset
managers

We are well positioned to execute upon these investment opportumities through our established
process of 1dentifying and cultivating investment prospects, our broad industry relationships, as well as
our substantial expertence and expertise 1n structuring and negotiating transactions In addition, we
have a strong reputation as an effective partner to our existing Affihates, and are recogmzed as an
1nnovative, supportive mstitutional partner for the highest quahty boutique investrnent management
firms
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Competition

In cach of our three principal distribution channels, we and our Affihates compete with a large
number of other domestic and foreign investment management firms, as well as subsidiaries of larger
financial orgamizations In companson to us and our Affiliates, these firms may have significantly
greater financial, technological and marketing resources, captive distnbution and greater assets under
management and many offer an even broader array of investment products and services Since certain
Affihates are active 1n the same distnbution channels, from time to ume they compete with each other
for chients In additton, there are relatively few barners to entry for new investment management firms
to compete with our Affihates, especially in the Institutional distribution channel We believe that the
most important factors affecting our ability to compete for clients 1n our three principal distribution
channels are the

+ performance records, investment style and discipling, and reputation of our Affikates and their
management teams, as well as their ability to attract and retain high quality investment
professionals,

» depth and continuity of chent relationships,

dwversity of products offered,

level of chent service offered,

+ strong busmess relationships with the major intermedianies whe currently distribute our products,
and

» devclopment and marketing of new investment strategies and ability to access opportunities to
mect the changing nceds of investors

The relative importance of each of these factors ¢can vary depending on the distibution channel
and the type of investment management service mvolved, as well as general market conditions Each
Affihate’s ability to retain and increase assets under management would be adversely affected 1f chient
accounts underperform 1n companson to relevant benchmarks or peer groups, or if key personnel leave
the Affihate The abihty of cach Affihate to compete with other mmvestment management firms also
depends, 1n part, on the relative attractiveness of its investment philosophies and methods under
then-prevaiing market trends

A component of our growth strategy 1s the acquisition of equity interests in additional high-quality
boutique investment management firms In seeking to acquire such cquity interests, we compete with a
number of acquirers of investment management firms, including other investment management
companies, private equity firms, sovereign wealth funds and larger financial orgamzations Many of
these competitors have longer operating histories and greater financial and strategic resources than we
do, which may make our competitors more attractive to the owners of the firms in which we are
considening an mvestment In addition, these competitors may have a lower cost of capital and access
to funding sources that are not available to us We believe that important factors affecting our ability to
compete for future investments are the

» degree to which target firms view our investment structure as preferable, financially,
operationally or otherwise, to acquisition or investment arrangements offered by other potential
purchasers, and

* reputation and performance of our existing and future Affihiates, by which target firms may
judge us and our future prospects
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Government Regulation

Our Affiliates’ businesses are subject to complex and extensive regulation by vanous regulatory
authorities in junsdictions around the world This regulatory environment may be altered without notice
by new laws or regulations, revisions to existing regulations or new nterpretations or guidance Changes
in these laws or regulations could have a matenal adverse impact on our Affiliates’ businesses, our
profitability and mode of operations, and could require that we or our Affihates incur substantial cost
or curtail our operations or investment offerings Regulatory authorities may also conduct examinations
or inspections of our operations or those of our Affihates and any determination of a failure to comply
with laws or regulations could result in disciplinary or enforcement action with penalties that may
mclude the disgorgement of fees, fines, suspensions or censure of individual employees or revocation or
hmitation of business activities or registration Even 1n the absence of wrongdoing, regulatory inquiries
or proceedings could cause substantial expenditures of time and capital and result 1n reputational
damage, and potentially have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock Global financial
regulatory reform imtiatives are likely to result 1in more stringent regulation of the financial services
industry in which we and our Affihates operate, which could adversely affect our business

Employees and Corporate Qrgamzation

As of December 31, 2011, we employed approximately 120 persons and our Affiliates employed
approximately 1,900 persons, the substantial majority of which were full-time employees Neither we
nor any of our Affiliates 1s subject to any collective bargaining agreements, and we beheve that our
labor relations are good We were formed 1n 1993 as a corporation under the laws of the State of
Delaware

Our Web Site

Our web site 1s www amg com It provides information about us, as well as a link 1n the “Investor
Information” section of our web site to another web site where you can obtain, free of charge, a copy
of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, including exhibits, and any amendments to those reports filed or furmished with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended We make these rcports available through our web site as soon as reasonably
practicable after our electronic filing of such materials with, or the furmshing of them to, the Secunties
and Exchange Commission The information contained or incorporated on our web site 1s not a part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Item 1A Risk Factors

We face a vanety of risks that are substantial and inherent 1n our business, imnctuding market,
hiquidity, credit, operational, legal and regulatory risks The following are some of the more important
factors that could affect our business

QOur financial results depend on equity market returns and the investment performance of our Affihates

Our Affiliates typically recerve fees based on the market value of assets under management, and
payments will be adversely affected by dechines in the equity markets In addition, some of cur
Affihates are paid fees based on investment performance on an absolute basis or relative to a specified
benchmark and, as such, are directly dependent upon investment results which may vary substantially
from year to year Unfavorable market performance and volatihty in the capital markets or 1n the
prices of specific securities may reduce our Affiliates’ assets under management, which i turn may
adversely affcct the fees payable to our Affihates and, ultimately, our conscehdated results of operations
and financial condition Because our assets under management are largely concentrated in equity
products, our results are particularly susceptible to downturns in the equity markets, or a decline 1n the
assets mvested n the equity markets

Our growth strategy depends upon continued growth from our existing Affihiates and upon making new
investments n boutigue investment management firms

Qur Affillates may not maintain their respective levels of performance or contnibute to our growth
at their histoncal or currently anticipated levels Also, our Affiliates may be unable to carry out their
management succession plans, which may adversely affect their operations and revenue streams and
thus our results of operations

The success of our investment program will depend upon our abihity to find suitable firms 1n which
to invest, our ability to negotiate agreements with such firms on acceptable terms, and our ability to
raise the capital necessary to finance such transactions We cannot be certain that we will be successful
i finding or investing in such firms or that they will have favorable opcrating results following our
mnvestment, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations

Our financial results could be adversely affected by the financial stability of other financial institutions

We and our Affiliates routinely execute transactions with various counterparties n the financial
services industry Historical market volatility highlights the interconnection of the global markets and
demonstrates how the deteriorating financial condition of one mstitution may matenally and adversely
mpact the performance of other institutions We and our Affihates may be exposed to such nisk in the
event that a counterparty with whom we transact defaults on 1ts obligations, or if there are other
unrelated systemic failures 1n the markets

Historically, equuty markets and our common stock have been volatile

The market price of our common stock historically has expenenced and may continue to
experience volatibity, and the broader equity markets have expenienced and may again expenience
sigmficant price and volume fluctuations In addition, our announcements of our quarterly operating
results, changes in general conditions in the economy or the financial markets and other developments
affecting us, our Affihates or our competitors could cause the market price of our common stock to
fluctuate substantially
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Our Affihates’ businesses are highly regulated,

Qur Affiliates’ businesses are subject to extensive regulation by various regulatory authorities in
Junsdictions around the world If we aor any of our Affiliates were to fail to comply with those
regulations or be named as a subject of an investigation or other regulatory action, the public
announcement and potential publicity surrounding any such investigation or action could have a
material adverse effect on our stock price and result in increased costs even if we (or our Affihates)
were found not to have violated the regulations or the law The faillure of AMG or any Affiliate to
satisfy regulatory requirements could subject it to sanctions that might matenally impact our business
and the Affihate’s business Changes 1n laws or regulatory requirements, or the interpretation or
application of such laws and regulatory requirements by regulatory authorities, can occur without notice
and could have a matenal adverse impact on our profitability and mode of operations Proposals in the
United States and the European Union have called for more stringent regulation and additional
taxation of the financial services industry in which we and our Affihates operate, which may make 1t
more likely that changes will occur that could adversely affect our business, our access to capital and
the market for our common stock

In the U S, the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act represents a
comprehensive overhaul of the financial services regulatory environment and will require federal
agencies to implement numerous new rules, the extent of which 1s not yet known and many of which
may not be implemented for months or even years In the Umted Kingdom and Europe, our business
may be impacted by financial services reform initiatives enacted or under consideration 1n the
European Umion Compliance with these new laws and regulations may result in increased comphiance
costs and expenses

Our international operations are subject to foreign nisks, mcluding political, regulatory, economic and
currency nsks

We and some of our Affiliates operate offices or advise chents outside of the United States, and
several Affihates are based outside the Umted States Accordingly, we and our current and any
prospective Affiliates that have foreign operations are subject to nisks inherent in doing business
internationally, 1n addition to the nsks our business faces more generally These risks may include
changes 1n applicable laws and regulatory requirements, difficulties 1n staffing and managing forcign
operations, longer payment cycles, difficulties 1n collecting investment advisory fees recevable,
different, and 1n some cases, less stringent legal, regulatory and accounting regimes, political mstability,
fluctuations in currency exchange rates, expatnatton controls, expropriation nsks and potential adverse
tax consequences These or other nisks related to our international operations may have an adverse
effect both on our Affihates and on our consolidated business, financial conditicn and resuits of
operations

QOur Affihates’ autonomy himuts our abilty to alter thewr management practices and policies, and we may be
held responsible for habiittes tncurred by them

Although our agreements with our Affihates typically give us the authonty to control and/or vote
with respect to certain of their business activities, we generally are not directly involved in managing
our Affihates’ day-to-day activities, including investment management policies and procedures, fee
levels, marketing and product development, chent relationships, employment and compensation
programs and comphance activiies As a consequence, our financial conditton and results of operations
may be adversely affected by problems stemmung from the day-to-day operations of our Affihates

Some of our Affiliates are partnerships or hmited hability compames of which we, or entities
controlled by us, are the general partner or managing member Consequently, to the extent that any of
these Affilhates incur habihities or expenses that exceed its ability to pay for them, we may be directly or
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indirectly hable for their payment In addition, with respect to each of our Affiliates, we may be held
hable m some circumstances as a control person for the acts of the Affilate or its employces While we
and our Affiliates maintain errors and omssions and general hiability insurance 1n amounts beheved to
be adequate to cover certain potential habilities, we cannot be certain that we will not have claims that
exceed the limuts of available insurance coverage, that the insurers will remain solveat and will meet
their obligations to provide coverage or that insurance coverage will continue to be available to us and
our Affiliates with sufficient limits and at a reasonable cost A judgment in excess of available
insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition

We depend on regular distributions from our Affilates to fund our operations In addition, our structure
results in substanfial structural subordination that may affect our ability to make payments on our
obligations

We receive cash distnbunons from our Affiliates An Affihate’s payment of distributions to us may
be subject to claims by the Affihate’s creditors and to limitations applicable to the Affihate under
federal and state laws, including secunties and bankruptcy laws, and any applicable non-U S laws
Additionally, an Affihate may default on some or all of the distributions that are payable to us If we
do not recewve the distributions to which we are entitled under our agreements with our Affiliates, 1t
would adversely affect us, and may affect our ability to make payments on our obligations

Our nght to receive any assets of our Affihates or subsidiaries upon their hquidation or
reorgamization, and thus the right of the holders of our securities to benefit from those assets, typically
would be subordinated to the claims of that entity’s creditors In addition, even if we were a creditor of
any of our Affihates or subsidianes, our nghts as a creditor would be subordinate to any security
interest and indebtedness that 1s senior to us

The agreed-upon expense allocation under our revenue sharing arrangements with our Affihates may not be
large enough to pay for all of the respective Affiliate’s operating expenses

Our Affiliates have generally entered into agreements with us under which they have agreed to pay
us a specified percentage of their respective gross revenue, while retaining a percentage of revenue for
use 1n paying that Affiliate’s operating expenses We may not anticipate and reflect in those agreements
possible changes 1n the revenue and expense base of any Affiliate, and the agreed-upon expense
allocation may not be large enough to pay for all of an Affiliate’s operating expenses We may elect to
defer the receipt of our share of an Affiliate’s revenue to permit the Affihate to fund such operating
expenses, or we may restructure our relationship with an Affihate with the aim of maximzing the
long-term benefits 10 us, but we cannot be certain that any such deferral or restructured relationship
would be of any greater benefit to us Such a deferral or restructured rclationship may have an adverse
effect on our ncar-term or long-term profitability and financial condition

The sale or issuance of substantial amounts of our common stock could adversely impact the price of our
common stock

The sale of substantial amounts of our common stock 1n the public market could adversely impact
its price In connection with our financing activities, we 1ssued secunihies and entered into contracts that
may result 1n the 1ssuance of our common stock upon the occurrence of certain events As of
December 31, 2011, approximately 7 8 million shares remain 1ssuable under the terms of our
convertible securities Moreover, in connection with future financing activities, we may 1ssue additional
convertible secunties or shares of our common stock Any such 1ssuance of shares of our common stock
could have the effect of substantiatly diluting the interests of our current equity holders In the event
that a large number of shares of our common stock are sold 1n the public market, the price of our
common stock may fall
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The fatlure to consummate announced investments tn new mnvestment management firms could have an
adverse effect on our operating results and financial conditton.

Consummation of our acquisition transactions 1s generally subject to a number of closing
conditions, contingencies and approvals, including but not limuted to obtaining certain consents of the
investment management firms’ chents In the event that an announced transaction 1s not consummated,
we may experience a decline 1n the price of our common stock to the extent that the then-current
market price reflects a market assumption that we will complete the announced transaction In
addition, the fact that a transaction did not close after we announced 1t publicly may negatively affect
our abihty and prospects to consummate transactions in the future Finally, we must pay costs related
to these transactions, including legal and accounting fees, even 1f the transactions are not completed,
which may have an adverse effect on our results of operations and finanaal condition

We expect that we will need to raise additional capital in the future, and existing or future resources may not
be available to us wn suffictent amounts or on acceptable terms

While we belteve that our existing cash resources and cash flow from operations will be sufficient
to meet our working capital needs for normal operations for the foreseeable future, our continuing
acquisitions of interests in new affihated investment management firms may require addittonal capital
We may also need to repurchase some or all of our $460 0 mullion of outstanding 3 95% convertible
senior notes 1n the third quarter of 2013 We are contingently hable to make additional purchase
payments upon the achievement of specified financial targets in connection with certain of our prior
acquisitions and we have obhigations to purchase additional equity in existing Affihates, winch
obligations may be triggered from time to ime These obligations may require more cash than 1s then
available from operations Thus, we may need to raise capital by making addittonal borrowings or by
seiling shares of our common stock or other equity or debt securities, or to otherwise refinance a
portion of these obligations As of December 31, 2011, we are 1in compliance with the terms of our
credit facility, which matures in 2016

Our level of indebtedness may increase 1if we fund one or more future acquisitions through
borrawings under our credit facility This additional indebtedness could increase our vulnerability to
general adverse economic and industry conditions and will require us to dedicate a greater portion of
our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness

The financing activities described above could increase our interest expense, decrease our Net
income and dilute the interests of our existing stockholders In addition, our access to further capital,
and the cost of capital we are able to access, 1s influenced by our credit rating A reduction 1 our
credit rating could mcrease our berrowing costs and may limit our access to the capital markets

We have substantial intangibles on our balance sheet, and any impairment of our intangibles could adversely
affect our results of operations

At December 31, 2011, our total assets were approximately $5 2 billion, of which approximately
$3 4 bilhon were ntangible assets, and approximately $0 6 billion were Equity investments in Affiliates,
an amount comprised primarily of intangible assets We cannot be certain that we will ever realize the
value of such intangible assets An impairment of our intangible assets or an other than temporary
dechne 1n the value of our equity investments could adversely affect our results of operations

We and our Affiliates rely on certain key personnel and cannot guarantee thewr continued service

We depend on the efforts of our executwve officers and our other officers and employees Our
executive officers, 1n particular, play an important role in the stability and growth of our existing
Affiliates and 1n 1dentifying potential investment opportunities for us We do not have employment
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agreements with our officers, although each of them has a sigmficant equity interest, including stock
options

In addition, our Affiliates depend heavily on the services of key principals, who 1in many cases have
managed their firms for many years These principals often are primanly responsible for their firm’s
investment decistons Although we use a combmation of economic incentives, transfer restrictions and,
1n some mstances, non-solicitation agreements and employment agreements 1n an effort to retain key
management personnel, there 1s no guaranice that these principals will remain with their firms Since
certain Affiliates contnbute sigmficantly to our revenue, the loss of key management personnel at these
Affiliates could have a disproportionate adverse impact on our business

Our Affihates’ investment management contracts are subject to terrmnation on short notice.

Our Affihates derive almost all of their revenue from their chients based upon their investment
management contracts with those chients These contracts are typically terminable by the chient without
penalty upon relatively short notice (typically not longer than 60 days) and may rot be assignable
without consent We cannot be certain that our Affiliates will be able to retain their existing chents or
attract new clhients If our Affiliates’ clients withdraw a substantial amount of funds, 1t 1s likely to harm
our results In addition, investment management contracts with mutual funds are subject to annual
approval by each fund’s board of directors

Our industry 1s highly competitive

Through our Affihates, we compete with a bread range of investment managers, including public
and private mvestment advisors, firms associated with securities broker-dealers, financial institutions,
Insurance companies, private equity firms, sovereign wealth funds and other entities that serve our
three principal distribution channels, many of whom have greater resources This competition may
reduce the fees that our Affihiates can obtain for their services We believe that ocur Affiliates’ abihity to
compete effectively with other firms in our three distribution channels depends upon our Affihates’
products, investment performance and chent-servicing capabilities, and the marketing and distnbution
of their investment products QOur Affilitates may not compare favorably with their competitors in any or
all of these categories From time to time, our Affiliates also compete with each other for clients

The market for acquisitions of interests in investment management firms 1s highly competitive
Many other public and private financial services companies, including commercial and investment
banks, insurance companies and investment management firms, which may have sigmficantly greater
resources than we do, also tnvest 1n or buy investment management firms We cannot guarantee that we
will be able to compete effectively with such compames, that new competitors will not enter the market
or that such competition will not make it more difficult or not feasible for us to make new investments
n investment management firms
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

There are no unresolved written comments that were recerved from the Securities and Exchange
Commssion staff 180 days or more before the end of our fiscal year relating to our periodic or current
reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters and prnincipal offices are located at 600 Hale Street, Prnides Crossing,
Massachusetts 01965, we believe that the property 1s suitable for the foreseeable future We also lease
offices in Palm Beach, Flonda, Sydney, Australia, London, England, Hong Kong and Dubai, United
Arab Emurates In addition, each of our Affiliates leases office space in the city or cities in which 1t
conducts business

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we and our Affihates may be parties to vanous claims, suits and complaints
Currently, there are no such claims, suits or complamts that, in our opimon, would have a matenal
adverse effect on our financial position, hquidity or results of operations

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Regisirant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities

QOur common stock 1s traded on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol AMG) The following

table sets forth the high and low prices as reported on the New York Stock Exchange composite tape
since January 1, 2010 for the pencds indicated

2010

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

2011

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

High

$ 8143
88 01
8015

102 06

$112 86
113 00
109 67
100 41

Low

$60 55
60 39
58 08
7793

$96 90
9338
757
70 27

The closing price for a share of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange
composite tape on February 16, 2012 was $106 95 As of February 16, 2012, there were 25 stockholders

of record

We have not declared a cash dividend with respect to the periods presented We do not anticipate
paying cash dividends on our common stock as we intend to retain earnings to finance investments 1n
new Affiliates, repay indebtedness, pay interest and income taxes, repurchase debt securittes and shares

of our common stock when appropriate, and develop our existing business Furthermore, our credit

facility contains limitations on cash dwidends
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Secorities

We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during the first and second quarters of
2011 Owr share repurchase activity during the third and fourth quarters 1s presented 1n the table

below
Maximum Number
Total Number of Shares
of Shares that May
Purchased as Yet Be Purchased
Total Number  Average Price Part of Publicly Under Qutstanding
of Shares Paud Announced Plans Plans or
Period Purchased Per Share or Programs Programs'V
Quarter Ended September 30, 2011
July 1-31, 2011 — 5§ — — 1,584,706
August 1-31, 2011 312,600 8362 312,600 1,272,106
September 1-30, 2011 295,800 8118 295,800 976,306
Total 608,400 8292 608,400
Quarter Ended December 31, 2011
October 1-31, 2011 10,000 $74 50 10,000 2,966,306
November 1-30, 2011 35,924 8244 35,924 2,930,382
December 1-31, 2011 74,910 91 20 74,910 2,855,472
Total 120,834 87 21 120,834
729,234 $83 63 729,234 2,855,472

(1) In February 2007, July 2010 and October 2011, the Board of Directors approved share repurchase
programs authorizing us to repurchase up to 30 mullion, 0 5 milhon and 2 0 mdlion shares,
respectively, of our common stock As of December 31, 2011, 2 9 million shares remain available
for rcpurchase under these programs, which do not expire Purchases may be made from time to

time, at management’s discretion
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The following graph compares the cumulative stockholder return on our common stock from
November 21, 1997, the date of our imual public offenng, through December 31, 2011, with the
cumulative total return, duning the same penod, on the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, the Standard &
Poor’s 500 Financial Sector Index and a peer group comprised of AlhanceBernstein Holding L P,
Ameriprise Financial, Inc, BlackRock, Inc, Eaton Vance Corp, Federated Investors, Inc, Frankhn
Resources, Inc, Invesco Ltd, Janus Capital Group Inc, Legg Mason, Inc, T Rowe Price Group, Inc
and Waddell & Reed Financial, Inc (“New Peer Group™) Previously our peer group also included
GAMCO Investors, Inc and did not include AlhanceBernstein Holding L P, Amenprnise Financial, Inc,
Invesco Ltd and Legg Mason, Inc The comparison assumes the investment of $100 on November 21,
1997 1n cur common stock and each of the comparisen indices and, in each case, assumes reinvesiment
of all dividends
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Item 6, Selected Financial Data

Set forth below are selected financial data for the last five years This data should be read 1n
comjunction with, and 1s qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Consolidated Financial Statements
and accompanymng notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(tn mullions, except as noted and per share data)

Assets under Management (at period end) (in billions) $ 2748 $ 1701 $ 2080 §$ 3200 $ 3275
Statement of Income Data
Revenue $1,3699 31,1582 § 8418 $1,3582 $1,7048
Net income 456 6 1319 2129 287 3 3596
Net income (loss) (controlling interest) 1765 (3 595 1386 164 9
Earmings (loss) per share—diluted 451 (003) 138 281 311
Other Financial Data
Cash flow from {used n)

Operating activities $ 5094 $ 5080 $ 2432 § 4807 $ 7085

Investing activities (512 5) (936) (1815) (9738) (677

Financing activities 216 (2383) (2022) 5450 (5038)
EBITDA 4171 3090 2428 404 4 4713
Economic net mcome!? 2635 2254 1857 2991 3510
Economic earnings per share 677 557 437 609 662
Balance Sheet Data
Total assets™ $3,3738 $3,2127 $339%09 $52798 §52189%
Long-term debt® 1,7462 1,1841 9643 1,3920 11,1982
Redeemable non-controlling interest® 5154 2977 3690 406 3 4518
Stockholders’ equuty!” 638 9248 11,1097 11,8000 11,8660

(1) EBITDA, mcluding a reconciliation to cash flow from operations, 1s discussed mn greater detail in
“Supplemental Liquidity Measure™ on page 30

(2) Economic net income, including a reconciliation of Economic net income to Net income (controlling
interest), 1s discussed 1n “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” on page 28
In the first quarter of 2010, we modified our Economic net income defimtion to exclude the effect of
imputed nterest related to contingent payment arrangements from Net income (controlling interest),
and n the fourth quarter of 2010 we further modified the defimition to no longer add back Affihate
depreciation to Net income {controlling mterest} If we had applied these definition changes to all
periods presented above, Econormic net income would have been $257 3 million, $218 3 milhion,
$170 4 milon and $292 3 mullion and Economic earnings per share would have been $6 61, $5 40, $4 01
and 35 95 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively

(3) Economic earnings per share 15 discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condiion and Results of Operations” on page 28

(4) 'Total assets have increased as we have made new or additional mvestments 1n affibiated investment
management firms

(5) Long-term debt consists of the following Semor bank debt, zero coupon senior convertible notes,
floating rate convertible securnities, 2008 senior convertible notes, mandatory convertible securities and
junior convertible trust preferred secunities In 2008, we settled approximately $600 0 million of our
floating rate convertible securities and our mandatory convertible securities In 2010, we called our zero
coupon sentor convertible notes for redemption and all holders elected to convert their notes nto
shares of common stock

(6) Represents the current redempuion value of the non-controlling interests held in our Affiliates, as
described 1in Note 17 of the Consohidated Financial Statements

(7) In 2008, we ssued approximately 10 8 milhon shares of common stock to retire our floating rate
convertible securities and our mandatory convertible secuniies In 2009, we 1ssued approximately
1 8 million shares under our forward equity sale agreement In 2010, we 1ssued approximately
5 5 mullion shares under our forward equity sale agreement, approximately 1 7 milhion shares for our
mvesiment m Aston and approximately 0 9 million shares to settle the conversion of our zero coupon
semor convertible notes [n 2011, we repurchased 0 7 millon shares of our common stock
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements

When used n this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the Secunities and
Exchange Commussion, in our press releases and in oral statements made with the approval of an executive
officer, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” “is anticipated,” “may,”
“tntends,” “believes,” “estimate,” “project” or sumilar expressions are intended to wdentify “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the Private Securines Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Such statements are

subject to certain nsks and uncertainties, including, among others, the following

+ our performance 1s directly affected by changing conditions 1n global financial markets generally
and 1n the equity markets particularly, and a dechine or a lack of sustained growth n these
markets may result in decreased advisory fees or performance fees and a corresponding dechine
(or lack of growth)} in our operating results and in the cash flow distnbutable to us from our
Affihates,

* we cannot be certain that we will be successful 1n finding or investing 1n additional investment
management firms on favorable terms, that we will be able to consummate announced
investments 1 new investment management firms, or that existing and new Affiliates will have
favorable opecrating results,

* we may need to raise capital by making long-term or short-term borrowings or by selling shares
of our common stock or other securities i order to finance investments 1n additional investment
management firms or additional investments in our existing Affihates, and we cannot be sure
that such capital will be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all, and

= those certain other factors discussed under the caption “Risk Factors ™

These factors could affect our financial performance and cause actual results to differ matenally from
histonical earrungs and those presently anticipated and projected We will not undertake and we specifically
disclaim any obligation to release publicly the result of any revisions which may be made to any forward-
looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements or to reflect the
occurrence of events, whether or not anticipated In that respect, we wish to caufion readers not to place
undue rehance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made

Executive Overview

The following executive overview summarizes the significant trends affecting our results of
operations and financial condition This overview and the remainder of this Management’s Discussion
and Analysis supplements, and should be read 1n conjunction with, the Consohdated Financial
Statements of AMG and its subsidiaries (coliectively, the “Company” or “AMG”) and the notes thereto
contamned elsewhere 1n this Annual Repert on Form 10-K

We are a global asset management company with equity investments in a diverse group of boutique
investment management firms (our “Affihates”) We pursue a growth strategy designed to generate
shareholder value through the internal growth of our existing business, additional investments 1n
boutique investment management firms and strategic transactions and relationships designed to
enhance our Affiliates’ businesses and growth prospects

Cur global distribution strategy combines the resources and scale of a global asset management
company with the investment expertise of our boutique Affihates We are continuing to wnvest in our
distribution platform worldwide with the addition of new personnel and geographic regions
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The table below shows our financial highhghts for each of the past three years

(in mulitons, except as noted and per share data)
Assets under Management (in billions}
Revenue

Net income (controlling 1nterest)
Earnings per share—diluted
Economic net incomet?

Economic earnings per share(!)
EBITDA®

2009 2010 % Change 201 % Change
$2080 § 3200 54% § 3275 2%
8418 1,3582 61% 1,704 8 26%
595 1386 133% 164 9 19%
138 2381 104% 3n 11%
1857 2991 61% 3510 17%
437 609 39% 662 9%
2428 404 4 67% 4713 17%

(1) Economic net income and Economic earnings per share, including a reconcihation of Economic
net come to Net mncome, 15 discussed in “Supplemental Performance Measures” on page 28

(2) EBITDA, including a reconcibation to cash flow from operations, 18 discussed n greater detail in
“Supplemental Liquidity Measure™ on page 30

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the MSCI EAFE decreased 11 7% and the MSCI

Emerging Markets decreased 18 2%, while the S&P 500 increased 2 1% Our total assets under

management grew to $327 5 billion at December 31, 2011, an increase of approximately 2% over
December 31, 2010 The growth in our assets under management was the result of organic growth of

our Affilhates from net chient cash flows (822 9 tlhion), partially offset by negative investment

performance (515 2 bilhion)

Duversification of Assets under Management

The following table provides information regarding the composition of our assets under

management
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2010 December 31, 2013
Assets under Percentage  Assets under  Percentage  Assets under  Percentage
Management of Total Management of Total Management of Total
(in billions)
Asset Class
Equity") $1532 74% $2204 69% $2079 63%
Alternative® 313 15% 653 20% 803 25%
Fixed Income _ 235 11% 343 1% 393 12%
Total $208 0 100%  $3200 100%  $3275 100%
Geography: ™
Domestic $ 897 43% $1105 34% $109 4 33%
Global/International 932 45% 1691 53% 1784 55%
Emerging Markets 251 12% 404 13% 397 12%
Total $208 0 100%  $3200 100%  $3275 100%

(1) The Equity asset class includes equity, balanced and asset allocation products

(2) The Alternative asset class includes private equity, multi-strategy, market neutral equity and hedge

products

(3) The Geography of a particular investment product describes the general location of its investment

holdings
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Our strategic focus on global and emerging market equity and alternative products continues to
drive the growth of our business Duning the year ended December 31, 2011 we experienced strong
organic growth from net chent cash flows 10 our Alternative ($12 8 bilhon) and Equity asset classes
($7 9 billion) Meoderately positive mvestment performance in the Alternative and Fixed Income asset
classes contributed to the growth in 2011, while neganve investment performance 1n the Equity asset
class resulted in a 6% dechne from 2010

As mentioned above, our Global/International products benefited from net clhient cash flows of
$14 7 bilion and the Emerging Markets products benefited from net chent cash flows of $6 7 billion,
partially offset by negative investment performance across all geographic regions

Our assets under management increased significantly during the year ended December 31, 2010, 1n
large part, as a result of new Affiliate investments in Artemis, Aston, Pantheon and Tnlogy The
investments 1n Pantheon, Arterms and Trilogy further diversified our business by increasing our
exposure to Alternative, Global/International and Emerging Market product offermgs

Assets under Management by Operating Segment

The following tables present a rollforward of our assets under management by operating segment
(which are also referred to as distribution channels in this Annual Report on Form 10-K)

Statement of Changes

High Net
(e billzons) Mutual Fund  Institutronal Worth Totak
December 31, 2008 $ 347 $109 4 $260 $1701
Chent cash inflows 82 256 57 395
Chent cash outflows (112) (299) (63) (47 4)
Net chent cash flows 3n (4 3) (0 6) )
New mnvestmentst) 27 17 12 56
Investment performance 104 336 53 493
Other® (03) (65) (23) (91
December 31, 2009 $445 $1339 $296 $2080
Chent cash inflows 214 298 76 588
Client cash outflows (18 5) (24 2) (X)) (49 4)
Net chent cash flows 29 56 09 94
New mvestments'") 265 376 04 645
Investment performance 97 254 42 393
Other® 16 (2 4) (0 4) (12)
December 31, 2010 $852 $200 1 $347 %3200
Client cash inflows 292 445 76 813
Client cash outflows (23 8) (280) (6 6) (584)
Net chent cash flows 54 165 10 229
Investment performance (52) (109) 09 (15 2)
Other™® (02) — — (02)
December 31, 2011 $852 $2057 $36 6 $3275

(1) In 2009, we completed an investment in Harding Loevner In 2010, we completed investments 1n
Arteris, Aston, Pantheon and Trnlogy

(2) Other ncludes assets under management attributable to Affihate product transitions and transfers
of our interests 1n certain Affilated investment management firms, the financial effects of which
are not material to our ongoing results
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As shown 1n the assets under management table above, client cash inflows totaled $81 3 billion
while client cash outflows totaled $58 4 bilhon for the year ended December 31, 20i1 The net flows for
the year ended December 31, 2011 occurred across a broad range of product offerings 1o each of our
distribution channels, with no individual cash inflow or outflow having a material impact on our
revenue Or expenses

The operating segment analysis presented in the following table 1s based on average assets under
management For the Mutual Fund distnibution channel, average assets under management represent
an average of the daily net assets under management For the Institutional and High Net Worth
distibution channels, average assets under management reflect the billing patterns of particular chient
accounts For example, assets under management for an account that bills 1n advance 1s presented in
the table on the basis of beginming of period assets under management while an account that bills in
arrears 1s reflected on the basis of end of period assets under management We beheve that this
analysis more closely correlates to the billing cycle of each distribution channel and, as such, provides a
more meamngful relationship to revenue

(i mutlions, except as noted) 2009 2010 % Change 2011 % Change
Average Assets under Management (in billions)‘V
Mutual Fund $372 § 651 75% § 869 33%
Institutional 116 0 156 4 35% 207 8 33%
High Net Worth 26 8 313 17% 359 15%
Total $1800 $ 2528 40% §$ 3306 31%
Revenue
Mutual Fund $3132 % 5788 85% § 7237 25%
Institutional 4156 649 2 56% 8414 30%
High Net Worth 1130 1302 15% 1397 7%
Total $8418 $13582 61% $1,7048 26%
Net income (controlling interest)'®
Mutual Fund® $207 § 463 56% $ 655 41%
Institutional 236 778 230% 902 16%
High Net Worth® 62 145  134% 92  (3D%
Total $ 595 §$ 1386 133% § 1649 19%
EBITDA®
Mutual Fund $ 706 % 1194 69% § 1512 27%
Institutional 1397 2423 T3% 2883 19%
High Net Worth®™ 325 427 31% 318 (260%
Total $2428 § 4044 67% $ 4713 17%

(1) As descnbed above, our average assets under management considers balances used to bill revenue
during the reporting period These amounts include assets managed by firms accounted for under
the equity method ($47 5 billion, $60 7 bilion and $79 9 billion for 2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively) Assets under management attributable to any investment 1n new Affiliates are
included on a weighted average basis for the period from the closing date of the respective
investment

(2) In 2011, we changed our estimate of payments to be made under certain of our contingent
payment arrangements and recogmzed a gain totaling $4 8 milhion ($3 1 million of which 1s
attributable to the controlling interest) This gain was allocated $0 2 million and $4 6 mullion to our
Mutual Fund and Institutional channels, respectively
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(3) Durning 2011, we recorded a $9 2 million expense associated with the revaluation of Indefimte-tived
mtangible assets

(4) During 2011, we determined that the value of a cost method investment had been reduced to zero,
and recorded a $12 8 milhon expense

(5) EBITDA, including a reconcihation to cash flow from operations, 1s discussed 1n greater detail in
“Supplemental Liquidity Measure” on page 30

Results of Operations
Revenue

Our revenue 1s generally determined by the level of our average assets under management, the
portion of our assets across our products and three operating segments, which realize different fee
rates, and the recogmtion of any performance fees Performance fees are generally measured on
absolute or relative investment performance agamnst a benchmark As a result, the level of performance
fees earned can vary sigmficantly from period to period and these fees may not necessarily be
correlated to changes in assets under management

Qur revenue increased $346 6 milion (or 26%) i 2011 from 2010, primanly from a 31% increase
0 average assets under management, partially offset by a decline in performance fees from our
consolidated Affillates This increase 1in average asscts under management resulted from our 2010
investments 1in new Affilates and net chient cash flows, partially offset by a dechne 1n global equity
markets during 2011 Unrelated to the change 1n assets under management, consclidated performance
fees declined $27 5 mulhon to $30 9 million (or 47%) in 2011, as compared to 2010

Our revenue increased $516 4 million (or 61%}) 1n 2010 from 2009, primanly as a result of a 40%
Increase 1n average assets under management and our investments 1n new Affihates that reahize
comparatively higher fee rates The increase mn average assets under management resulted principally
from our new Affihate investments, strong investment performance and positive net chent cash flows
Unrelated to the change min assets under management, consohdated performance fee revenue increased
$35 4 million to $58 4 million (or 154%) for the year ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the
year ended Deccmber 31, 2009

The following discusscs the changes in our revenue by operating segments

Mutual Fund Distribution Channel

The tncrease 1n revenue of $144 9 milhion (or 25%) m the Mutual Fund distnbution channel in
2011 from 2010 resulted primanly from a 33% increase 1n average assets under management The
increase In average assets under management resulted principally from our 2010 investments i new
Affihates and net chient cash flows, partially offset by a decline in global equity markets during 2011

The increase in revenue of $265 6 million (or 85%) 1n the Mutual Fund distribution channel
2010 from 2009 resulted from a 75% increase 1n average assets under management The increase 1n
average assets under management resulted principally from our 1nvestments in new Affiliates, strong
mvestment performance and positive net client cash flows

Institunional Distnbution Charnnel

The ncrease in revenue of $192 2 million (or 30%) 1 the Institutional distribution channel 1n 2011
from 2010 resulted primarily from a 33% increase 1n average assets under management, partally offset
by a decline 1n performance fees from our consohidated Affihates The increase 1n average assets under
management resulted principally from our 2010 investments in new Affihates and net client cash flows,
partially offset by a dechne 1n global equity markets during 2011 Unrelated to the change in assets
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under management, consohdated performance fee revenue decreased $259 mullion to $30 7 mullion (or
46%) for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2010

The increase n revenue of $233 6 million (or 56%) 1n the Institutional distribution channel in 2010
from 2009 resulted principally from a 35% increase in average assets under management and our
investments in new Affibates that realize comparatively higher fee rates The increase 1n average assets
under management resulted principally from our new Affihate investments, strong investment
performance and positive net client cash flows Unrelated to the change i assets under management,
consolidated performance fec revenue increased $34 2 milhon to $56 6 nulhon (or 153%) for the year
ended December 31, 2010 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2009

High Net Worth Distnbunion Channel

The increase n revenue of $9 5 milhon (or 7%) n the High Net Worth distribution channel m
2011 from 2010 resulted principally from a 15% increase in average assets under management The
increase In average assets under management resulted principally from 2010 investment performance
and net chent cash flows in both 2010 and 2011

The increase in revenue of $17 2 mitiion (or 15%) 1n the High Net Worth distribution channel in
2010 from 2009 resulted principally from a 17% increase 1n average assets under management The
increase 1n average assets under management resulted principally from mvestment performance

Operating Expenses
The following table surnmarizes our consohidated operating expenses

P — 2009 2010 % Change 2011 % Change
Compensation and related expenses $4026 §$5945 48% § 7188 21%
Selling, general and admimistrative 1268 2846 124% 3508 23%
Amortization of intangible assets 329 600 82% 977 63%
Depreciation and other amortization 127 141 11% 150 6%
Other operating expenses 269 310 15% 36 4 17%
Total operating expenses $6019 $9842 64% $1,2187 24%

The substantial portion of cur operating expenses 15 incurred by our Affiliates, the majonty of
which 1s mcurred by Affiliates with revenue sharing arrangements For Affihates with revenue sharing
arrangements, an Affilate’s Operating Allocation percentage generally determines its operating
expenses Accordingly, our compensation expense 15 generally impacted by increases or decreases in
cach Affilhate’s revenue and the corresponding increases or decreases in their respective Operating
Allocations During 2011, approximately $359 6 mulhion, or about 50 0% of our consolhidated
compensation expense, was attributable to our Affikate partners from their Operating Allocations The
percentage of revenue allocated to operating expenses vanes from one Affihate to another and may
vary within an Affihate depending on the source or amount of revenue As a result, changes n our
agpregate revenue may not impact our consolidated operating expenses to the same degree

Compensation and related expenses mcreased $124 3 milhion (or 21%) i 2011, as compared to
2010 This increase was attributable to increases i aggregate Affilate expenses of $74 4 million from
new Affiliate investments 1n 2010, and also a result of the relationship between revenue and operating
expenses at extant Affihates which experienced increases in revenue, and accordingly, reported higher

compensation expenses
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Compensation and related expenses increased $191 9 mullion {or 48%) in 2010 The ncrease was
attributable to increases 1n aggregate Affihate expenses of $84 9 milhon from new Affiliate investments,
and $81 2 million from the relatonship between revenue and operating expenses at extant Affiliates,
which experienced 1ncreases i revenue, and accordingly, reported higher compensation expenses This
increase was also attmibutable to ncreases 1n holding campany incentive and share-based compensation,
as compared to 2009

Selling, general and administrative expenses creased $66 2 million (or 23%) m 2011 This
increase was a result of increases in Affiliate expenses of $48 9 mulhon 1n 2011 from new Affihate
investments m 2010 This increase was also attributable to increases in sub-advisory and distribution
expenses attributable to increases 1n assets under management at our Affiliates in the Mutual Fund
distnbution channel These increases werc partially offset by a $13 5 million decrease in acquisition-
related professional fees, as compared to 2010

Selling, general and administrative expenses ncreased $157 8 million (or 124%) n 2010 This
merease resulted principally from increases 1 aggregate Affiliate expenses of $119 2 million from new
Affiliate investments This increase also resulted from a $10 3 million increase in acquisition-related
professional fees, as compared to 2009

Amortization of mtangible assets increased $37 7 million (or 63%) 1n 2011 and $27 1 milhon {or
82%) n 2010, principally attributable to increases in definite-lived intangible assets resulting from new
Affihate investments in 2010 The ncrease m 2011 s also the result of a $9 2 mullion expense
associated with the revaluation of Indefimite-lived intangible assets at one of our Affiliates

Depreciation and other amortization increased $0 9 mullion (or 6%) n 2011, as compared to 2010,
principally attributable to 2 $1 3 mullion increase n aggregate Affihate expenses from new Affiliate
investments 1 2010 Depreciation and other amortization increased $1 4 million (or 11%) 1 2010,
principally attributable to a $2 1 million increase in aggregate Affiliate expenses from new Affilate
imvestments This increase was parnally offset by decreases 1n spending on depreciable assets i recent
penods

Other operating expenses ncreased $5 4 million (or 17%) i 2011, as compared to 2019,
principally attributable to an increase in aggregate Affibate expenses of $5 5 milhion from new Affihate
investments 1n 2010, as well as an increase 1n costs associated with our global distnbution imtiatives
Thesc 1ncreases were partially offset by a $2 5 mullion loss realized on the transfer of Affihate interests
in 2010, which did not recur n 2011 Other operating expenses increased $4 1 million (or 15%) 1n 2019,
principally attributable to a $6 1 nullion increasc i aggregate Affihate expenses from new Affiliate
investments, partially offset by a decrease 1n losses realized on transfers of Affiliate interests in 2010, as
compared to 2009

Other Income Statement Data

The following table summanzes non-operating mncome and expense data

2009 2010 % Change 2011 % Change

(1tn rmithions)

Income from equity method investments $316 $775 145% $727 (6)%
Investment and other income (loss) 249 229 &% (50} (122)%
Investment income (loss) from Affihate investments 1n
partnerships 274 45 (116)% — (100)%
Interest expense 646 662 2% 738 11%
Imputed nterest expense and contingent payment
arrangements 135 249 84% 273 10%
Income tax expense 328 915 179% 931 2%
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Income from equity method investments consists of our share of income from Affihates that are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting, net of any related intangible amortization
Income from equity method mvestments decreased $4 8 milhon (or 6%) 1 2011, principally as a result
of a $101 8 million decrease in performance fees (to $177 1 milhon) This decrease was partially offset
by increases i revenue cesulting from higher assets under management Income from equity method
investments mcreased $45 9 milhon {(or 145%) 1n 2010, principally as a result of a $158 4 milhion
increase i performance fees (1o $278 9 milhion)

Investment and other income (loss) decreased $27 9 milhon (or 122%) n 2011, as compared to
2010, pnincipally as a result of increases in Affihate investment losses This decrease also resulted from
the write-off of a cost method investment durning 2011 ($12 8 milhon) Investment and other income
(loss) decreased $2 0 mullion (or 8%) in 2010, principally as a result of a $7 5 milhon gain on the
settlement of a contingent payment n 2009, partially offset by a $4 0 million increase in Investment and
other tncome (loss) from new Affihates, as well as increases 1n investment earnings

Investment mcome (loss) from Affiliate investments i partnerships relates to the consohdation of
certain investment partnerships in which our Affiliates are the general partner In the third quarter of
2010, we deconsolidated these partnerships For 2010, the loss from Affilhate investments in
partnerships was $4 5 million This loss was principally attributable to mvestors who are unrelated to us

Interest expense increased $7 6 muillion (or 119) mn 2011, principally as a result of an increase n
the cost of borrowings under our revolving credit facility This increase was also atiributable to a
$0 8 million ncrease in 1ssuance costs related to the credit facihty amendment that occurred in the first
quarter of 2011 Interest expense increased $1 6 million (or 29%) 1n 2010, principally as a result of
increased borrowings under our revolving credit facility

Imputed nterest expense and contingent payment arrangements consists of interest accretion on
our senior convertible securities and our jumor convertible trust preferred securities, as well as the
accretion and revaluation of our contingent payment arrangements Imputed interest expense and
contingent payment arrangements increased $2 4 million (or 10%) n 2011 as compared to 2010,
prnincipally as a result of a $6 7 milhon increase n accretion related to our contingent payment
arrangements partially offset by a $4 8 million gamn on revaluation Imputed interest expense and
contingent payment arrangements increased $11 4 million (or 84%) 1n 2010, principally as a result of a
$9 9 mullion increase 1n accretion related to our contingent payment arrangements

Income taxes increased $1 6 million (or 2%) in 2011, as the result of an increase 1in Income before
ncome taxes, partially offset by a $7 6 million benefit from revalung certain deferred tax habihties as a
result of a change to corporate tax rates 1n the United Kingdom

Income taxes increased $58 7 million (or 179%) 1n 2010, as the result of an increase 1n Income
beforc income taxes and approximately $11 2 million of taxes attributable to non-controlling interests
from our 2010 new Affibate investments This increase was partially offset by a $4 I nmilion benefit
from revaluing certain deferred tax habihities as a result of a change to corporate tax rates in the
United Kingdom
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Net Income

The following table summanzes Net income for the past three years

(in muftions) 2009 2010 % Change 2011 % Change
Net income $2129 $2873 35% $3596 25%
Net income (loss} (non-controlling interests mn

partnerships) 267 44 (116)% — (100)%
Net mcome (non-controlling interests) 1267 1531 21% 1947 27%
Net income (controlling interest) 595 1386 133% 1649 19%

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests increased $41 6 million (or 27%) n 2011 This
change resulted prnincipally from the previously discussed changes in revenue Affiliate equity 1ssuances
had the effect of increasing Affilate equity ownership, and therefore increasing net income attributable
to non-controlling interests These ncreases were partially offset by increases in amortization, interest
expenscs, tax expenses and investment losses attributable to non-controlling interests, as compared to
2010 In 2010, Net income attributable to non-controlling interests increased $26 4 mithon (or 21%)
This increase was proportionately less than the increase in revenue as a result of the previously
discussed ncreases in tax expenses Additionally, Affilate equity repurchases had the effect of
decreasing Affihate equity ownership, and therefore decreasing the income attributable to
non-controlling interests

Net income (loss) (non-controlling interests in partnerships) relates to the consolidation of certain
investment partnerships in which our Affiliates are the general partner In the third quarter of 2010, we
deconsolidated these partnerships For 2010, the loss from Affihate investment partnerships attributable
to the non-controlling nterests was $4 4 nullion

Net mcome {controlling interest) mcreased $26 3 milhon (or 19%) 1n 2011 as a result of the
previously discussed increases in revenue, partially offset by increases in reported operating expenses
Net income (controlling interest) increased $79 1 million (or 133%) in 2010 as a result of the previously
discussed increases in revenue and income from equity method investments, partially offset by increases
in reported operating and income tax expenses and income attnibutable to non-controlling interests

Supplemental Performance Measures

As supplemental information, we provide non-GAAP performance measures that we refer to as
Economic net income and Economuc earnings per share We consider Economic net income an
important measure of our financial performance, as we believe 1t best represents our operating
performance before non-cash expenses relating to our acquisition of interests in our nvestment
management fums Economic net income and Economic earnings per share are used by our
management and Board of Directors as our principal performance benchmarks, including as measures
for ahigning executive compensation with stockholder value These measures are provided 1n addition
to, but not as a substitute for, Net income (controlling interest) and Earnings per share Economuc net
income and Economic earmings per share are not hquidity measures and should not be used 1n place of
any hquidity measure calculated under accounting principtes generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP™)

Under our Economic net imcome definitton, we add to Net income {(controlling interest)
amortization (including equity method amortization), deferred taxes related to intangible assets,
non-cash imputed interest expense (principally related to the accounting for convertible securitics and
contingent payment arrangements) and Affiliate equity expense We add back amortization attnibutable
to acquired chent relationships because this expense does not correspond to the changes in value of
these assets, which do not diminish predictably over time The portion of deferred taxes generally
attributable to intangible assets (including goodwill) that we no longer amortize but which continues to
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generate tax deductions 1s added back, because we believe 1t 15 unlikely these accruals will be used to
settle matenal tax obhgations We add back non-cash expenses relating to certain transfers of equity
between Affiliate management partners, when these transfers have no dilutive effect to our
shareholders

Economic earmings per share represents Economic net income divided by the adjusted diluted
average shares outstanding, which measures the potential share 1ssuance from our scnior convertible
securities and junior convertible secunities {each further described i Lagquidity and Capital Resources)
using a “treasury stock” method Under this method, only the net number of shares of common stock
equal to the value of these securities 1n excess of par, if any, are deemed to be outstanding We believe
the inclusion of net shares under a treasury stock method best reflects the benefit of the increase in
available capital resources (which could be used to repurchase shares of common stock) that occurs
when these secunities are converted and we are relieved of our debt obhgation This method does not
take into account any increase or decrease 1n our cost of capital in an assumed conversion

The following table provides a reconcihation of Net income (controlling interest) to Economic net

mcome
{tn mullions, except per share data) 2009 2010 zon
Net income (controlling 1nterest) $ 595 $1386 $1649
Intangible amortizationt! Y 64 4 859 1170
Intangible-related deferred taxes®™ 386 475 432
Imputed 1nterest and contingent payment arrangements®® 83 132 147
Affihate equity expense 72 71 112
Affiliate depreciation® 77 68 —
Economic net income $1857 $2991 $3510
Average shares outstanding—diluted 433 494 530
Assumed 1ssuance of senior convertible securihes shares 09 (0 4) —
Assumed 1ssuance of jumor convertible securities shares — — —
Dilutive impact of semor convertible secunties shares 01 01 —
Dilutive impact of junior convertible securities shares — — —
Average shares outstanding—adjusted diluted 425 491 530
Economic earmings per share®™ $437 $609 $662

(1} As discussed n Note 1 to the Consohidated Financial Statements on page 49, we are required to
use the equity method of accounting for certain of our investments and, as such, do not separately
report these Affiliates’ revenues or expenses (including intangible amortization) 1in our income
statement Qur share of these investments’ amortization, $31 9 mullion, $32 1 mulion and
$32 9 mllion for 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively, 1s reported in Income from equity methed
investments

(2) Our reported intangible amortization, $32 9 milhon, $60 0 millon and $97 7 million for 2009, 2010
and 2011, respectively, includes $0 4 million, $6 2 milhon and $13 6 milhion, respectively, of
amortizahion attnbutable to our non-controlling interests, amounts not added back to Net income
(controlling nterest) to measure our Economic net income The 2011 reporied mtangible
amortization includes a $9 2 million expense associated with the revaluation of Indefimite-lived
intangible assets at one of our Affihates

(3) As described m Note (2) above, we reduced the carrying value of certamn of our Indefinite-iived
intangible assets during 2011 In addition, we recorded a 2% reduction in the Umted Kingdom tax
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rate Together, the tax effect of these items resulted 1n a $8 7 mullion decrease 1n our intangible-
related deferred taxes

(4) Our reported Imputed nterest expense and contingent payment arrangements, $13 5 mullion,
$24 9 million and $27 3 million for 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively, includes $0, $3 9 million and
$4 3 million of imputed interest attributable to our non-controlltng nterests, amounts not added
back to Net income (controlling interest) to measure our Economic net income

(5) In the first quarter of 2010, we modified our Economic net income defimtion to exctude non-cash
imputed interest and revaluation adjustments related to contingent payment arrangements from
Net income (controlling interest), and 1n the fourth quarter of 2010 we further modified the
definitton to no longer add back Affihate depreciatton to Net income (controliing interest) If we
had applied these definition changes to all penods presented above, Economic net mmcome would
have been $170 4 mithon and $292 3 million and Economic earmings per share would have been
$4 01 and $5 95 for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, respectively

Ligquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summanzes certain key financial data relating to our liquidity and capital
resources

December 31,

(in mulhions) 2009 2010 2011
Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents $2595 $3133 § 4495
Senior bank debt — 460 0 2500
2008 senior convertible notes 4096 4221 4356
Zero coupon convertible notes 474 — —
Junior convertible trust preferred securtties 5074 5099 5126
Cash Flow Data

Operating cash flows 2432 43807 7085
Investing cash flows (1815) (9738) (677)
Financing cash flows (2022) 5450 (503 8)
EBITDAM 2428 404 4 4713

(1) The defimtion of EBITDA 1s presented below under Supplemental Liquidity Measure

We view our ratio of debt to EBITDA (our “internal leverage ratio™) as an important gauge of our
abiliy to service debt, make new investments and access additienal capital Consistent with industry
practice, we do not consider juntor trust preferred secunities as debt for the purpose of determiming our
nternal leverage ratio We also view our leverage on a “net debt” basis by deducting from our debt
balance holding company cash At December 31, 2011, our internal leverage ratio was 13 1

Under the terms of our credit facihity we are required to meet two financial ratio covenants The
first of these covenants 15 a maxumum ratio of debt to EBITDA (the “bank leverage rati0”) of 30 The
calculation of our bank leverage ratio is generally consistent with our nternal leverage ratio approach
The second covenant 1s a rmmmum EBITDA to cash interest expense ratio of 3 0 (our “bank iterest
coverage ratio”’} For purposes of calculating these ratios, share-based compensation expense s added
back to EBITDA As of December 31, 2011, our actual bank leverage and bank nterest coverage ratios
were 15 and 8 3, respechively, and we were in compliance with all terms of our credit facility We have
$750 0 milhon of remaining capacity under our credit faciity and we could borrow the entire amount
and remain 1in comphiance with our credit agreement
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We are rated BBB— by both Standard & Poor’s and Fitch rating agencies With the exception of a
modest 1ncrease in the borrowing rate under our credit facility (0 50%), a downgrade of our credit
rating would have no direct financial effect on any of our agreements or securities (or otherwise trigger
a default)

Supplemental Liquidity Measure

As supplemental information, we have provided information regarding our EBITDA, a non-GAAP
hguidity measure This measure 1s provided 1in addition to, but not as a substitute for, cash flow from
operating activities EBITDA represents earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation
and amortization EBITDA, as calculated by us, may not be consistent with computations of EBITDA
by other compames As a measure of hquidity, we believe that EBITDA 1s useful as an indicator of our
ability to service debt, make new investments and meet working capital requirements We further
belicve that many investors use this information when analyzing the financial position of companies 1n
the investment management industry

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash flow from operations to EBITDA

2009 2010 2011
fin milltons)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities $2432 $ 4807 §$ 7085
Interest expense, net of non-cash items(" 570 585 657
Current tax provision o 421 450
Income from equity method nvestments, net of distributionst® 81 439 (227)
Net income (non-controlling mterests) (1267 (1531) (1947)
Net (income) loss (non-controlling interests 1n partnerships}) (267) 44 —
Changes 1 assets and habilities 722 (16 0) (352)
Other non-cash adjustments® 16 4 (561)  (953)

EBITDA $2428 $4044 354713

(1) Non-cash items include Amortization of 1ssuance costs and Imputed interest and contingent
payment arrangements ($21 1 rmitlion, $32 5 mslion and $35 4 miltion 1n 2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively)

(2) Distributions from equity method investments were $55 5 million, $65 8 million and $128 3 milhon
for 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively

(3) Other non-cash adjustments include share-based compensation expenses, tax benefits from stock
options and other adjustments to reconcile Net income (controlling interest) to net cash flow from
operating activities

In 2011, we met our cash requirements primanly through cash generated by operating activities
and borrowings of senior bank debt Qur pnincipal uses of cash were to make distributions to Affiliate
partners and repay our senior bank debt and other habihities We expect that our principal uses of cash
for the foresceable future will be for investments 1n new and existing Affihates, distributions to Affiliate
managers, payment of principal and nterest on outstanding debt, and for working capital purposes

The following table summanzes the principal amount at maturity of our debt obhigations and
convertible securities as of December 31, 2011

Matunty Form of
{tre rutllions) Amount Date Repayment
Semior bank debt $2500 2016 €8]
2008 senior convertibles notes $460 0 2038 (2)
Jumior convertible trust preferred secunties $7308 2036/2037 3)

(1) Settled in cash

(2) Settled 1n cash if holders exercise therr August 2013, 2018, 2023, 2028 or 2033 put rights, and 1n
cash or common stock at our election if the holders exercise their conversion rights

(3) Settled 1n cash or common stock (or a combmation thereof) at our election 1f the holders exercise
their conversion rights
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We entered into a $1 0 bilhon senior unsecured credit facility in November 2011 (the “amended
credit facility™), consisting of a $750 0 mullion revolving credit facility (the “revolver”) and a
$250 0 nuilion term loan (the “term loan”), the principal terms of which are similar to our previous
semor unsecured revolving credit facihty The term loan and $720 0 million of the revolver have a
five-year matunty (maturing November 3, 2016), the remaining $30 0 mlhon of the revolver matures
January 12, 2015 Subject to certain conditions, we may mncrease the revolver and the term loan by up
to $150 0 milion and $250 0 mulhon, respectively The term loan borrowings were used to repay the
outstanding balance under the previous revolving credit facility (3210 0 milhon) and for general

corporate purposes

The amended credit facihity 1s unsecured and contains financial covenants with respect to leverage
and mterest coverage, as well as customary affirmative and negative covenants including hmitations on
indebtedness, liens, cash dividends, asset dispositions and fundamental corporate changes

Convertible Secunties

At December 31, 2011, we have one semior convertible security outstanding (‘2008 senior
convertible notes”) and two jumor convertible trust preferred secunties outstanding, one 1ssued in 2006
{the “2006 junior convertible trust preferred securities”) and a second 1ssued 1n 2007 (the “2007 junior
convertible trust preferred securities”) The principal terms of these secunities are summarized below

Issue date

Matunty date

Par value (in millions)
Carrying value (in mullions)®
Denomination

Current conversion rate
Current conversion price
Stated coupon

Tax deduction rate(®

2007 Jumor 2006 Jumor
2008 Convertible Convertible
Convertible Trust Preferred Trust Preferred
Notes Secunities Securities
August 2008  October 2007  April 2006
August 2038 October 2037  Apnl 2036
3460 0 $4308 $3000
4356 2978 214 8
1,000 50 50
7959 0250 0333
$125 65 $200 00 $150 00
395% 515% 510%
9 38% 8 0% 750%

{1) The carrying value 1s accreted to the principal amount at maturity over an expected life
of five years for the 2008 senior convertible notes and 30 years for each of the junior
convertible trust preferred securitics

{2} These convertible securnities are considered contingent payment debt instruments under
federal income tax regulations, which require us to deduct iterest in an amount greater

than our reported Interest expense

The 2008 convertible notes are convertible into a defined number of shares of our common stock
upon the occurrence of certain events Upon conversion, we may elect to pay or deliver cash, shares of
common stock, or some combination thereof The holders of the 2008 convertible notes may put these
securities to us in August of 2013, 2018, 2023, 2028 and 2033 We may call the notes for cash at any

time on or after August 15, 2013

In the second quarter of 2010, we called our zero coupon sentor convertible notes due May 7, 2021
for redemption at their principal amount plus any onginal sssue discount accrued thereon In heu of
redemption, all of the holders elected to convert their zero coupon senior convertible notes into shares
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of our common stock We 1ssued 873,626 shares of common stock to settle these conversions, and
cancelled and retired the notes

Both the 2006 and 2007 junior convertible trust preferred securities are convertible, at any time,
mto 2 defined number of shares Upon conversion, holders will recewve cash or shares of our common
stock, or a combination thereof We can call the 2006 junior convertible trust preferred securities if the
closing price of our common stock exceeds $195 per share for a specified penod of time

We can call the 2007 jumor convertible trust preferred securities on or after October 2012 if the
closing price of our common stock exceeds $260 per share for a specified period of time Holders of
the 2006 and 2007 jumor trust preferred securities have no rights to put these securities to us

Dernvative Instruments

From time to time, we seek to offset our exposure to changing intercst rates under our debt
financing arrangements by entenng into interest rate hedging contracts These instruments are
designated as cash flow hedges with changes in fair value recorded in Other comprehensive income for
the effective portion of the hedge

We have entered into interest rate swap contracts to exchange a fixed rate for the vanable rate on
a portion of our credit factity These contracts expire between 2015 and 2017 Under these contracts,
we will pay a weighted average fixed rate of 1 76% on a notional amount of $100 0 millon through
October 2015 Thereafter, through October 2017, we will pay a weighted average fixed rate of 2 14%
on a remaimng notional amount of $25 0 milhon As of December 31, 2011, the unrealized loss (before
taxes) on these contracts was $2 9 milhon

We also entered into treasury rate lock agreements to hedge an anncipated 1ssuance of fixed-rate
debt Treasury lock contracts with a notional value of $100 0 million were settled in February 2011 for a
net pre-tax gain of $4 0 milhion Treasury lock contracts with a notional value of $750 million were
settled in October 2011 for a net pre-tax loss of $4 7 million These contracts were intended to hedge
the nisks associated with changes in interest rates on fixed-rate debt 1ssuance that 1s anttcipated to
occur prior to the end of the second quarter of 2012 The net loss on these contracts (30 7 million) 1s
reflected as a component of Other comprehensive income and wiil be recogmzed as an increase to
Interest expense over the life of the expected fixed rate debt 1ssuance, or recorded within Investment
and other (income) loss in the event we determine that it 15 not probable we will 1ssue the anticipated
fixed rate debt

Forward Equity Sale Agreement

In July 2011, we entered into a forward equity sale agreement with two major securities firms
under which we may sell shares of our common stock with an aggregate sales price of up to
$300 0 mullion  As of December 31, 2011, no forward equity sales have occurred

Affikate Equty

Many of our operating agreements provide us a conditional right to call and Affihate partners the
conditional night to put their retained equity interests at certain ntervals The purchase price of these
conditional purchases are generally calculated based upon a multiple of the Affiliate’s cash flow
distributions, which 1s intended to represent fair value Affillate management partners are also
permiited to sell their equity interests to other individuals or entities in certain cases, subject to our
approval or other restrictions

Our current redemption value for these interests has been presented as Redeemable
non-controlling interests on our Consohdated Balance Sheets Although the timing and amounts of
these purchases are difficult to predict, we expect 1o repurchase approximately $50 0 million of Affiliate
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equity during the next twelve months, and, 1n such event, will own the cash flow associated with any
equity repurchased

Operanng Cash Flow

Cash flow from operations generally represents Net income plus non-cash charges for amortization,
deferred taxes, equity-based compensation and depreciation, as well as increases and decreases in our
censolidated working capital

The increase in cash flows from operations 1n 2011 as compared to 2010, resulted principally from
increases in Net income of $72 3 milhion, 1n the collections of Investment advisory fees recewvable of
$71 7 million, in distribunions recerved from equity method investments of $62 5 milhon, in amortization
of intangible asscts of $37 7 million, and 1n share-based compensation of $10 8 milhon, as well as a
decrease in settlements of fund shares payable of $12 5 million These increases in cash flows were
partially offset by an increase n the settlements of Accounts payable and accrued habilities of
$57 3 million

The increase 1n cash flows from operations 1n 2010 as compared to 2009, resulted principally from
mncreases in Net income of $74 4 milbon and 1n other adjustments of $51 1 million, as well as a
decrease in settlements of Accounts payable and accrued habiliies of $127 3 milhien These increases in
cash flows were parnhially offset by an increase 1n income from equity method investments of
$45 9 million (offset by an increase 1n distributions recewved from equity method investments of
$10 3 milhion), as well as a decrease n collections of Investment advisory fees recevable of
$42 6 million, which reduced cash flows

Investing Cash Flow

The net cash flow used n investing activities decreased $906 1 million 1n 2011, as compared to
2010 This was pnimarily the result of the decrease in new Affihate investments in 2011 Net cash flow
used to make mvestments in Affilates was $13 3 milhion, $916 1 million and $139 3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively The investment in 2011 was funded with
existing cash Qur investments mn 2010 and 2009 were funded as described below

Financing Cash Flow

Financing cash flows decreased $1,048 8 million 1n 2011 as compared to 2010 This was primaniy a
result of a decrease in net borrowings of bank debt of $670 0 mithion, a decrease 1n proceeds from the
setilement of forward equity sales of $294 7 million, an ncrease in distributions to non-controlhing
interests of $66 9 million, as well as an increase n the repurchase of common stock of $61 0 milhon

Net cash flows from financing actvities increased $747 3 milhon in 2010 as compared to 2009,
primarily a result of an increase i net borrowings of senior bank debt of $693 5 mullion as well as an
increase in proceeds from the settlement of forward equity sales of $150 4 million These increases
were partially offset by an increase in repurchascs of Affihate equity of $96 2 million

In 2010, we used available cash and borrowings under our credit facihty to finance our mvesiments
n Artemus and Trilogy, and 1ssued shares of common stock for our Aston investment We financed our
Pantheon mvestment with available cash, borrowings under our credit facility, and proceeds from the
partial settlement of forward equity sales

Excess tax benefits associated with stock options have been reported as financing cash flows in the
amount of $7 1 milhon, $10 1 milhon and $7 5 millien as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively
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Under past acquisition agreements, we are contingently liable, upon achievement of specified
financial targets, to make payments of up to $491 4 million through 2017 In 2012, we expect to make
total payments of approximately $80¢ 1 million to settle portions of these contmgent arrangements In
addition, we expect to repurchase approximately $50 0 million of interests 1n certain existing Affihates
n 2012

Qur Board of Directors has periodically authorized share repurchase programs (most recently
October 2011} The maximum number of shares that may be repurchased under outstanding programs
1s approximately 2 9 milhon The timing and amount of repurchases are determined at the discretion of
our management In 2011, we repurchased 07 muillion shares for $61 0 nullion at an average price
of $83 63

We anticipate that borrowings under the credit facility and proceeds from the settlement of any
forward equity sales, together with cash flows from operations will be sufficient to support our cash
flow needs for the foreseeable future

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarnizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2011

Payments Due

Contractual Obligations Total 2012 2013-2014  2015-2016  Thereafter
{in millions)

Sentor bank debt $ 2500 $ — §$ — $2500 § —
Sentor convertible secunties( 950 6 182 363 363 8598
Jumor convertible trust preferred securities 16713 370 741 741 1,486 1
Leases 146 2 257 16 4 316 425
Other habilities® 637 331 — — 306
Dernvative instruments 77 18 35 20 04
Total contractual obligations $3,0895 $1158 $1603 $3940 $2,4194
Contingent Obhigations

Contingent payment obhigations® $ 1080 $801 § 184 $ 95 % —

(1) The timing of debt payments assumes that outstanding debt 1s settled for cash or common stock at
the applicable maturity dates The amounts include the cash payment of fixed interest Holders of
the 2008 convertible notes may put their interests to us for $460 0 million 1n 2013

(2) Other habiliies reflect amounts payable to Affiliate managers related to our purchase of additional
Affiliate equity interests and deferred purchase price payments for acquisitions This table does not
include habihities for uncertain tax positions or commitments to co-1avest 1n certamn mvestment
partnerships (of $21 3 million and $80 5 million as of December 31, 2011, respectively) as we
cannot predict when such obhgations will be paid

(3) The amount of contingent payments related to business acquisitions disclosed 1n the table
represents our expected settlement amounts The maximum settlement amount through 2012 1s
approximatcly $298 1 nultlion and $193 3 million 1n periods thereafter

Marker Risk

Qur revenue 1s denved primarnily from advisory fees which are based on assets under management
Such values are affected by changes in financial markets, and accordingly declines 1n the financial
markets will negatively impact our Revenue and Net income The broader financial markets are
affected, in part, by changing interest rates We cannot predict the effects that interest rates or changes
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In nterest rates may have on either the broader financial markets or our Affilates’ assets under
management and associated fees

We have fixed rates of interest on our 2008 senior convertible notes and on both 1ssues of our
jumor convertible trust preferred secunties We pay a vanable rate of interest on our credit facihity
From time to time, we seek to manage our exposure to changing interest rates by entering into interest
rate hedging contracts

While a change 1n market interest rates would not affect the interest expense incurred on our fixed
rate securities, such a change may affect the fair value of these secunties We estimate that a 1%
change 1n interest rates would result in a net change 1 the value of our fixed rate securities of
approximately $25 7 million

We operate primaniy in the Umited States, and most of our consolidated revenue and associated
expenses are denommated in U S dollars We also provide services and earn revenue outside of the
United States, therefore, the portion of our revenue and expenses denomunated 1n foreign currencies
may be impacted by movements 1n currency exchange rates In addition, the valuations of our foreign
Affilates are impacted by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, which could be recorded as a
component of stockholders’ equity To illustrate the effect of possible changes in currency exchange
rates, as of December 31, 2011, a 1% change 1n the Canadian dollar and British Pound to U § dollar
exchange rates would result 1in an approximate $6 3 milion change to stockholders’ equity and a
$0 8 million change to income before income taxes During 2011, changes 1n currency cxchange rates
decreased stockholders’ equity by $10 2 million

From time to time, we seek to offset our exposure to changing mterest rates under our debt
financing arrangements by entering into denvative contracts as described on page 33 We estimate that
a 19% increase n interest rates as of December 31, 2011 would result 1n a net increase 1n the unreahzed
value of our dervative contracts of approximately $4 3 million

There can be no assurance that our hedging contracts will meet their overall objective of reducing
our mterest expense or that we will be successful 1n obtaiming hedging contracts 1n the future on our
existing or any new indebtedness

Recent Accounting Developments

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued new guidance on testing
goodwill for impairment The new guidance provides the option of performing a quahtative assessment
before proceeding with a quantitative goodwill imparrment test Following an assessment of qualitative
factors, iIf an entity determmines that it 1s more likely than not that the faur value of a reporting uni 1s
greater than its carrying amount, including goodwill, then a quantitative asscssment 1s unnecessary This
gwidance 1s effective for annual and interim goedwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years
beginming after December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitied We early-adopted this guidance for
our annual goodwill impairment testing which was performed in the third quarter of 2011 Adoption of
this new guidance did not have a material impact on our Consohdated Financial Statements

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued new guidance on the presentation
of comprehensive income This new girdance requires the components of net income and other
comprehensive income to be either presented in one continuous statement, or tn two separate, but
consecutive statements The new guidance does not change the items that are recognized 1n net income
or other comprehensive income This new gurdance s effective for intenim and fiscal periods beginning
after December 15, 2011 We early-adopted this guidance in the fourth quarter of 2011 Adoption of
this new guidance did not have a matenal impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements

In May 2011, the Financiual Accounting Standards Board issued an update to the fair value
measurements and disclosures guidance The new guidance clanfies existing fair value measurement
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principles and expands certain disclosure requirements, particularly for measurements categorized as
Level 3 The amendment 15 effective for intenm and fiscal penods beginning after December 15, 2011
Adoption of this new guidance 15 not expected to have a matenal impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements

Cntical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformmty with GAAP requires
us to make judgments, assumptions, and estimates that affect the amounts reported 1n the Consohidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the Consolidated
Financial Statements The following are our cntical accounting estimates and judgments used in the
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements and actual results could differ matenally from the
amounts reported

Fair Value Measurements

Accounting standards define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability 1n an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date
These standards establish a fair value lerarchy that gives the highest prionty to quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or hiabilities and the lowest prionty to unobservable inputs

We make judgments to determine the fair value of certain assets, habilities and equity interests
when allocating the purchase price of our new mnvestments, when revaluing our contingent payment
arrangements, when we issue or repurchase equity interests and when we test our intangible assets or
equity and cost method mvestments for imparment

In determiming fair values, we make assumptions about the growth rates, profitability and useful
lives of existing and prospective chent accounts, and consider historical and current market multiples,
tax benefits, credit nisk, mterest rates and discount rates We consider the reasonableness of our
assumptions by comparing our valuation conclusions to observed market transactions, and in certain
instances consult with third party valuation experts As described further below, iIf we used different
assumptions, the effect may be material to our financial statements

Goodwill

As of December 31, 2011, the carrying value of Goodwill was $2,117 3 million Goodwill represents
the future economic benefits ansing from assets acquired in a business combination that are not
indvidually 1dentified and separately recogrized, and 1s reported within the segments in which the
business operates Qur goodwill impairment assessments arc performed annually at the reporting umit
level (in our case, our three operating segments), or more frequently, should circumstances suggest fair
value has declined below the related carrying amount We completed our annual goodwill impairment
assessment and no imparrments were identified For purposes of our assessment, we considered various
quahitative factors (including market multiples for asset management businesses) and determined that 1t
was unhkely that the fair value of any of our reporting umts was less than 1ts respective carrying
amount, including goodwill

The fair value of each of our reporting units substantially exceeds their respective carrying values,
the fair values of the Mutual Fund, High Net Worth and Institutional reporting units are at least 50%
greater than their respective carrying values Accordingly, only a substantial dechine in the value of any
of our reporting units would (ndicate that an impairment may exist
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Indefinute-Lived Intangible Assets

Indefinne-hived intangible assets are compnised of investment advisory contracts between our
Affihates and their sponsored registered investment companies Because the contracts are with the
registered mmvestment companies themselves, and not with the underlying investors, and the contracts
between our Affiliates and the registered investment companies are typically renewed on an annual
basis, industry practice under generally accepted accounting principles 1s to consider the contract hife to
be indefimte and, as a result, not amortizable

We perform indefimite-lived intangible asset impatrment tests annually, or more frequently should
circumstances suggest fair value has dechined below the related carrying amount We assess each of our
indefimite-lived intangible assets for impairment by comparing their carrying value to the fair value of
the investment advisory contract Duning the quarter ended December 31, 2011, we determined that the
fair value of an indefinmite-lived intangible asset at one of our Affiliates, a growth ortented manager of
U S equity mutual funds, had declined below 1ts carrying value and, accordingly, we reduced the asset
to 1ts current fair value This impairment, which totaled $9 2 million, has been presented within
Amortization of intangible assets in our Consolidated Statements of Income Further declines 1n the
fair value of this asset will likely result in future impairments For example, if assets under management
underlying this asset were to decline 5% (related erther to investment performance or client cash
outflows), we would likely record an additional impairment of approximately $10 0 million The fair
value of each of our other indefinite-lived mtangible assets sigmificantly exceeds their respective
carrying value by at least 150%, and accordingly, cnly a substantial decline in the fair value would
indicate an impairment may exist

Defirute-Lived Intangible Assets

Defimte-lived intangible asscts are comprised of investment advisory contracts between our
Affilates and their underlying investors, and are amortized over their estimated useful lives We
monitor the useful lives of these assets and revise them, 1f necessary We review historical and projected
attrition rates and other events that may influence our projections of the future economic benefit that
we will derive from these relationships Sigmficant judgment 1s required to estimate the period that
these assets will contnibute to our cash flows and the pattern over which these assets will be consumed
A change in the remamning useful life of any of these assets could have a matenial impact on our
amortization expense For example, if we reduced the weighted average remaining life of each of our
defimite-lived intangible assets by one year, our amortization expense would increase by approximately
$10 0 nullion per year

We perform defimite-lived intangible asset impairment tests annually, or more frequently should
circumstances suggest fair value has declined below the related carrying amount We assess each of our
defimte-lived acquired client relationships for impairment by comparing their carrying value to the
projected undiscounted cash flows of the acquired relationships

In the fourth quarter, we performed our impawment assessment, and no impairments were
identified Projected undiscounted cash flows over the remaining hfe of each of these assets exceed
their carrying value by at least 60% Accordingly, only a substantial dechne in the undiscounted cash
flows underlying these assets would indicate that an impairment may exist

Equuty and Cost Method Investments

We evaluate equity and cost method investments for impairment by assessing whether the fair
value of the investment has declined below 1ts carrying value for a period we consider
other-than-temporary If we determine that a decline in fair value below our carrying value 15
other-than-temporary, an impairment charge 1s recognized to reduce the carrying value of the
investment to ats fair value
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For companies with quoted market prices i active markets, we use these prices to determine the
fair value of our equity and cost method investments For companies without quoted market prices in
active markets, we determuine the fair values by applying a market multiple to the estimated cash flows
of each mvestment Our fair value multiples are supported by observed transactions and discounted
cash flow analyses which reflect assumptions of current and projected levels of Affihate assets under
management, fee rates and estimated expenses Changes in estimates used in these valuations could
materially affect the fair value of these investments

In the fourth quarter, we completed our evaluation of equity and cost method investments and no
impatrments were 1dentified The fair values of our equity method investments are at least 50% greater
than their respective carrying values Accordingly only a substantial dechine n the fair value of any of
these investments for a period that 1s considered other-than-temporary would indicate that an
mmpairment may exist The fair value of one of our cost methed investments, a publicly traded
mvestment firm 1 Hong Kong, had declined below our cost basis as of December 31, 2011 The
decline was 1n line with the broader market decline, and because we ntend to hold the mmvestment for
a reasonable period of ime sufficient for a forecasted recovery, no impairment was recorded

Imputed Interest Expense and Contingent Payment Arrangemenis
Convertible Debt

Imputed interest expense results, i part, from accreting the far value of our convertible debt
instruments at the time of 1ssuance to their principal amounts over their expected lives We determme
the fair value of our convertible debt using market interest rates in effect at the time of each
borrowing, and our expected lives are based on an instrument’s underlying contractual terms Market
mterest rates are supported by observed transactions and input from valuation experts

Contingent Payment Arrangements

Imputed mterest expense also results from accreting the fair value of our contingent payment
obligations to our projected future payment amounts over the expected hife of these arrangements, as
well as any changes to our estimate of the future payments The fair value of our contingent payment
arrangements 15 determined by discounting the projected future payments (such esiimates being
dependent upon projected revenue) using current market rates ‘Our discount rates are developed with
mnput from valuation experts Our expected hves are determimed based on the contractual terms of the
underlying arrangements

During the quarter ended December 31, 2011, we changed our estimate of payments to be made
under these arrangements and recogmzed a gamn totaling $4 8 mllion ($3 1 million of which 1s
attributable to the controlling interest) Changes 10 our projected future payment amounts could
matenally affect the amount of Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements we
recogmze 1n any period For example, a 1% change 1n our assumed discount rate or a 1% change 1n
our projected revenue at Affiliates with these types of arrangements would result 1n an increase or
decrease to our Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements of $1 0 million and
$7 0 mullion, respectively

Redeemable Non-controlling Interests

Redeemable non-controlling interests represent the currently redeemable value of our Affihate
partners’ retained equity interests We may pay for these Affiliate equity purchases in cash, shares of
our common stock or other forms of consideration, at our election, and have presented our obligation
to repurchase these mterests as Redeemable non-controlling interests on our Consohdated Balance
Sheets
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We value these interests upon their transfer or repurchase by applying market multiples to an
Affihate’s cash flows, which 1s intended to represent fair value The use of different assumptions could
change the value of these interests including the amount of compensation expense, If any, that we may
report upon therr transfer or repurchase

Income Taxes

Tax regulations often require mcome and expense to be included in our tax returns in different
amounts and 1n different periods than are reflected 1n the financial statements Deferred taxes are
established to reflect the differences between the inclusion of items of income and expense in the
financial statements and their reporting on our tax returns Qur overall tax position requires analysis to
estimate the expected realization of tax assets and habilittes Additionally, we must assess whether to
recognize the benefit of uncertain tax positions, and, if so, the appropriate amount of the benefit

Our deferred tax Liabilities are generated primanly from tax-deductible intangible asscts and
convertible securities Most of our intangible assets are tax-deductible because we generally structure
our Affihate investments to be taxable to the sellers We record deferred taxes because a substantial
majonty of our intangible assets do not amortize for financial statement purposes, but do amortize for
tax purposes, thereby creating tax deductions that reduce our current cash taxes We generally beheve
that our intangible-related deferred tax habilines are unlikely to be used to settie a cash obhgation
These habilities will reverse only 1 the event of a sale of an Affihate or an impairment We are
required to accrue the estimated cost of such a reversal as a deferred tax habihty As of December 31,
2011, our estimate of the tax hability associated with such a sale or impairment was approximately
$372 5 mulhon

During 2011, our convertible securities generated deferred taxes of approximately $22 5 million
because our interest deductions for tax purposes are greater than our reported Interest expense
(excluding Imputed 1nterest expense and contingent payment arrangements) These deferred tax
Irabilities may be reclassified to equity if the securities convert to common stock

We regularly assess our deferred tax assets 1n order to determine the need for valuation
allowances Our prnincipal deferred tax assets are state operating losses and foreign tax credit
carryforwards In our assessment, we make assumptions about future taxable income that may be
generated to utilize these assets, which have limited lives If we determine that we are unlikely to
realize the benefit of a deferred tax asset, we establish a valuation allowance that would increase our
tax expense n the period of such determinanon As of December 31, 2011, our valuation allowances
for state net operating losses, foreign tax credit carryforwards and tax benefit from uncertamn tax
posttions were $22 5 million, $2 6 million and $10 5 million, respectively

In our assessment of uncertan tax positions, we consider the probability that a tax authority would
sustain our tax position mn an examination For tax positions meeting a “more-likely-than-not”
threshold, the amount recognmized 1n the financial statements 1s the benefit expected to be reahzed upon
the ultimate settlement with the tax authonty For tax positions not meeting this threshold, no benefit
1s recogmized

Changes 1n our tax position could have a material impact on our earmings For example, a 1%
Increase to our statutory tax rate attnibutable to our deferred tax habilities would result 1in an increase
of approximately $14 9 million 1n our tax expense 1n the penod of such determination

Share-Based Compensation

We have share-based compensation plans covering directors, senior management and employees
We calculate share-based compensatnion using the fair value of the awards on the grant date Our share-
based compensation plans typically vest and become fully exercisable over three to five years of
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continued employment We recogmize expense net of expected forfeitures on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period, including granis that are subject to graded vesting

We estimate the fair value of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
The Black-Scholes model requires us to make assumptions about the volatihty of our common stock
and the expected life of our stock aoptions In measuning expected volatihity, we consider both the
historical volatility of our common stock, as well as the current imphed volatihity from traded secunties
In determining volatility, we have placed less emphasis on penods of high volatility that are not
representative of our future expectations (see Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements})

We grant equity interests 1in our Affihates to our management and Affihate partners from time to
tume, with vesting, forfeiture and repurchase terms established at the date of grant The fair value of
the equity interest 15 determined as of the date of grant using a discounted cash flow analysis Key
valuation assumptions include projected assets under management, fee rates and discount rates

The fair value of stock awards are determined based on the closing market price of our stock on
the date of the grant

Revenue Recognition

The majonty of our conschdated revenue represents adwvisory fees (asset-based and performance-
based) Qur Affiliates recogmze asset-based advisory fees as they render services to their chients In
addition to generating asset-based fees, over 75 Affihate products, representing approximately
$40 4 billion of assets under management, also bill on the basis of absolute or relative investment
performance Our Affihates recognize performance fees when they are earned (1e when they become
billable to customers) based on the contractual terms of agreements and when collection 1s reasonably
assured

International Operations

In connection with our international distribution imnatives, we have offices in Sydney, Austraha,
London, England, Hong Kong, and Dubai, United Arab Emurates In addition, we have international
operations through Affiliates who provide some or a significant part of themr mvestment management
services to non-US chents In the future, we may open additional offices, or invest mn other mnvestment
management firms which conduct a significant part of their operations outside of the Umited States
There are certain risks inherent in domng business internationally, such as changes in applicable laws
and regulatory requirements, difficulties 1n staffing and managing foreign operations, longer payment
cycles, difficulties in collecting investment advisory fees recewvable, different and 1n some cases, less
stringent, regulatory and accounting regimes, political instability, fluctuations in currency exchange
rates, expatniation controls, expropriation nsks and potential adverse tax consequences There can be
no assurance that one or more of such factors will not have a matenal adverse effect on our
international operations or our Affiliates that have international operations or on other investment
management firms in which we may invest 1n the future and, consequently, on our business, financial
condition and results of operations

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation or changing prices have had a matenal impact on our results of
operations See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Market Risk” i Item 7
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

For quantitative and qualitative disclosures about how we are affected by market nisk, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Market
Risk” 1n Item 7, which 1s incorporated by reference heremn

Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Daia
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financiat Reporting

Management of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc (the “Company”), 1s responsible for establishing
and mamntaining adequate internal control over financial reporting The Company’s internal control
over financial reporting processes arc designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s chief
executive and chief financial officers and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management
and other semor employees to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehiability of financial
reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 1in the Umted States

The Company’s mternal contrel over financial reporting mcludes policies and procedures that
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
transacttons and dispositions of assets, provide reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with accounting prninciples
generally accepted 1n the Umted States, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only i
accordance with authorizations of management and the directors of the Company, and provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usc or
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a matenal effect on our financial statements

As of December 31, 2011, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the framework established in Inrernal
Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commussion {“COSO”) Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 was effective

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 has been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLF, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report appearing on page 43, which expresses an unqualified opinion on the cffectiveness of the firm’s
internal control over financial reperting as of December 31, 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Aecounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Affihated Managers Group, Inc

In our opimion, the accompanying consohdated balance sheets and the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows present fairly, in all
materal respects, the financal posiion of Affihated Managers Group, Inc (the “Company™) at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of its operations and 1ts cash flows for each of the three
years n the pertod ended December 31, 2011 n conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of Amernica In addition, 1a our opinion, the financial statement schedule
listed under Ttem 15(a){(2) presents fairly, 1n all matenal respects, the information set forth therein
when read in conjunction wath the related consolidated financial statements Also in our opimion, the
Company mamntamned, 1n all matenal respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2011, based on cntena established 1n Internal Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamzations of the Treadway Commussion (COSO) The Company’s
management 1s responsible for these financmal statements and financial statement schedule, for
maintaiming effective internal control over financial reporting and for 1ts assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included 1n Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 8 Our responsibility 1s to express opimons on these financiat
statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits 1n accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
i all matenal respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
ponciples used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation Qur audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the nisk that a matenial weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk QOur audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary n the circumstances We believe that our audits provide a reasenable basis for our opinions

A company’s internal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the rehiabihity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A company’s intcrnal
control over finanaal reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
mawntenance of records that, 1n reasonable detai, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company, (1) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permut preparation of financial statements 1n accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company, and (1) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthonzed acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent linmtations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements Also, projections of any evaluauon of effectiveness to future penods are subject
to the risk that controls may become wnadequate because of changes 1n conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
February 23, 2012
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(m milhons, except per share data)

Revenue

Operating expenses
Compensation and related expenses
Selling, general and admimstrative
Amortrzation of intangible assets
Depreciation and other amortization
Other operating cxpenses

Operating income

Non-operating (income) and expenses
Investment and other (income) loss
Income from equity method investments
Investment (income) loss from Affihate investments in partnerships
Interest expense
Imputed nterest expense and contingent payment arrangements

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

Net income
Net income (non-controlling interests)
Net (income) loss (non-controlling interests in partnerships)

Net income (controlling interest)
Earnings per share—basic
Earnings per share—diluted

Average shares outstanding—basic
Average shares outstanding—diluted

For the Years Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011

$8418 $13582 $1,7048
402 6 5945 7188
126 & 2846 3508
329 600 977
127 141 150

26 9 310 36 4
601 9 9842 12187
2399 3740 4861
(249)  (229) 50
316y (775  (7127)
274) 45 —
646 662 738
135 249 273

(5 8) (48) 334
245 7 3788 4527
328 915 93 1
2129 2873 3596
(1267) (1531) (1947)
(26 7) 44 —

$ 595 § 1386 $ 1649
$ 144 § 292 § 318
$ 138 § 281 § 311
414 474 518
433 49 4 530

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consohdated Financial Statements
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in milhions)

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2009 2010 2011
Net mcome $2129 $2873 $3596
Other comprehensive income (toss)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 46 8 248 (102)
Change 1n net realized and unreahized gain (loss) on dervative
securities, net of tax — 37 (59)
Change 1n net unrealized gain (loss) on investment securiues, net of tax 32 260 (34 4)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 500 545 (50 5)
Comprehensive income 2629 3418 3091
Comprehensive income (non-controlling interests) (1534) (1487 (1947)
Comprehensive income {controlling nterest) $£1095 %1931 $1144

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consohdated Financial Statements

45

T

Affitlated Mancgeors Group, Ins 10-K  Prgj P3188880S11 Job 11ZDY78801 {11-31888-1)
Page Dim 8250" X 10 750" Copy Dim 38 X 543 File CS78801A ;6




MERRILL CORPORATION AKOSMIN//21-FEB-12
mirll_1111 fmt Free 54DM/0D Foot on/
DISK024 [PAGER PSTYLES]UNIVERSAL BST,96

16 41 DISKI121 [11ZDY1 11ZDY78801]CT78501A ,6
0D VIRSeq 1CIr 0
8 CCs 61389

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in mullions, except par value)

Investment advisory fees recewable
Investments 1n marketable secunties
Unsettled fund share recevables

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Fixed assets, net

Equity investments in Affihates
Acquired client relationships, net

Goodwill
Other assets

Total assets

Laabilities and Equty
Current habilities

Accounts payable and accrued habilines
Unsettled fund share payables

Payables to related parties
Total current hlabilities

Senior bank debt
Senior convertible securities

Junior convertible trust preferred securities

Deferred income taxes
Other long-term habilities

Total habilities

Redeemable non-controlling interests

Equity

Common stock ($ 01 par value, 153 0 shares authonzed, 53 9 shares outstanding 1n

2010 and 2011)
Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Retained earmings

Less treasury stock, at cost

Total stockholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

(2 3 shares 1n 2010 and 2 5 shares 1n 2011)

Total habilities and equity

The accompanying notes are an ntegral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc 10-K
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December 31,

2010

$ 3133
236 4
116 0

420
632

7709

677
6789
1,420 6
21219
2198

$5,279 8

$ 2528
398
114 8

407 4

460 0
4221
5099
495 4
203 4

24982
406 3

05
9805
o5

1,011 8

2,093 3
(293 3)

1,800 0
5753

23753
$5,279 8

2011

$ 4495
2149
100 4

345
771

876 4
691

$ 3436
408
332

4176

2500
4356
5126
5060
1457

2,2675
4518

05
9275
500
1,176 7

2,1547
(288 7)

1,866 0
633 6

2,499 6
$5,2189
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(in mmllions)

Total Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated Non-
Additional Other Treasury Non controtling
Common Paid-In  Comprehensive Retaned Stock at  controlling  interests in Total
Stock Capital  Income (Loss) Earmings Cost mtcrests  partnerships Equity

December 31, 2008 505 $ 8177 $ (40) § B137 $(730) § 1807 $655  $§1,1711
Stock 1ssued under opiion and other

mncentive plans — (753) — — 1i4 — — 361
Tax benefit of option exercises —_ 118 — — — — — 118
Issuance costs — " — — — - —_ 07N
Changes m Affiliate equity — (1328) — —_ - 99 — (1229)
Settlement of forward equity sale

agreements — (253) — — 169 6 —_ —_ 144 3
Share-based payment arrangements — 167 — — — — — 167
Distributions to non-controlling interests —_ — — —_ — (119 6) — (119 6)
Investments in Affihates — — — — — 841 —_ 841
Other changes 1n non-controliing

interests in partnerships — _ —_ - —_ _ zn 21)
Net income — - _ 595 _ 126 7 267 2129
Other comprehensive mcome —_ —_ 500 —_ —_ —_ —_ 500
December 31, 2009 05 $6121 5460 $ 8732 $(4220) $ 2818 $901 $1,4817
Stock issued under option and other

mncentive plans — (83 3) — — 1287 — — 454
Tax benefit of option exercises —_ 146 —_ —_ —_ —_ — 146
Issuance costs — (¢ 9) — — — — — (0 9)
Changes 1in Affihate equity value — (76 9) — —_ — 29 — (740)
Settlement of forward equity sale

agreements — 2947 —_— — — — — 2947
Share-based payment arrangements —_ 260 —_ — — — — 260
Conversion of zero coupoen convertible

notes — 474 —_ — — —_— — 474
Distnibutions to non-controlling mterssts _ —_ — —_ —_ (101 ¢) — (101 0)
Investments in Affihates — 146 8 — — — 2385 — 3853
Other changes 1 non-controlling

interests tn partnerships —_ —_— — — — _— 857) 857
Nel income — — — 1386 — 153 1 “44) 2873
Other comprehensive mcome — — 545 — — — — 545
December 31, 2010 305 § 9805 51005 S101ME 5(2933) §5753 $(00) 823753
Stock ssued under option and other

incentive plans —_ (376) —_ —_ 656 —_ _ 280
Tax benefit of option exercises — 82 — —_ — — —_ 82
Issuance costs — 03) — — — — — ©3)
Changes in Affihate equity value — {630) — —_ — 374 — (25 6)
Share-based payment arrangements —_ 397 — —_ — — — 397
Distributions to non-contrelling interests — — — — — (173 8) — (173 8)
Investments 1n Affiliates _ — — _ _ —_ —_ —_
Repurchase of common shares — — — — (61 0) — — (61 0)
Net mcome — —_ 1649 —_ 194 7 - 3596
Other comprehensive income — -_— (505) ~— — — —_ (50 5)
December 3t, 2011 $05 $9275 $ 500 $1,1767 $(2887) $6336 $(00) $24996

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Affiliated Managers Groug, In
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(an milhons)

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2009 2010 2011
Cash flow from operating activitics
Net income $2129 § 2873 §3596
Adjustments to reconaile Net income to net cash flow from operating activities
Amortization of intangible assets 329 600 977
Amortization of 1ssuance costs 73 76 81
Depreciation and other amortization 127 141 15¢
Deferred income tax provision 287 354 52
Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements 135 249 273
Income from equity method investments, net of amortization (316) (775) (727
Distnibutions receved from equity method investments 555 658 1283
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 43 45 11
Share-based compensation 86 195 303
Affihate equity expense 132 145 221
Cther adjustments (42 6) 85 213
Changes mn assets and habilities
(Increase) decrease m investment advisory fees receivable (65) (492) 225
(Increase) decrease i prepads and other current assets (8 1) 34 (15
(Increase) decrease 1n other assets 33 (13) (28)
Decrease in unsettled fund shares recervable — 141 59
Increase (decrease) m unsettled fund shares payable — (10 5) 20
Increase {decrease) mn accounts payable, accrued labilities and other long-term Labitities (60 9) 66 4 91
Cash ftow from operating activities 2432 4807 708 5
Cash flow used 1n investing activities
Investments in Affilates (139 3) (916 1) (133)
Purchase of fixed assels (26) (88) (16 1)
Purchase of mvestment securities “477) 64 0) (492)
Sale of investment securities 81 151 109
Cash flow used mm investing activities (181 5) {973 8) 677)
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities
Borrowings of semor bank debt 1420 IR LI 3600
Repayments of senior bank debt (373 5) {7315y (5700)
Issuance of common stock 371 464 280
Repurchase of common stock — — (61 0)
Issuance costs (13) ©9) (13 6)
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options 75 01 71
Settlement of treasury lock — — (08)
Settlement of forward equity sale agreement 144 3 294 7 —
Note payments 32 (28 8) (725)
Dustributions to non-controlling interests (1200} {1007y  (1676)
Affiliate equaty 1ssuances and repurchases (39 5) {135 8) {13 4)
Cash flow from (used m) financing activities (2022} 545 ¢ (503 8)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 36 19y (08)
Net increase (decrease) m cash and cash equivalents (136 9) 538 136 2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of period 3964 2595 3133
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $2595 § 3133 $4495
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid § 580 § 616 § 759
Income taxes pawd 178 492 46 6
Supplemental disclesure of non-cash financing activities
Payables recorded for Affiliate equity repurchases 784 46 | 321
Payables recorded under contingent payment arrangements 600 776 —
Stock 1ssued for conversion of zero coupon semior convertible note —_ 475 —
Stock issued for investments in Affilates — 1469 —
Stock 1ssued for settlement of forward equity sale agreement — 44 5 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consohdated Financial Statements
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Organization and Nature of Operations

Affilated Managers Group, Inc (“AMG” or the “Company”) 1s a global asset management
company with equity investments in a dverse group of boutique investment management firms
(“Affibates”y AMG’s Affiliates provide investment management services globally to mutual funds,
institutional chients and high net worth individuals Fees for services are larpely asset-based and, as a
result, the Company’s revenue may fluctuate based on the performance of financial markets

Affillates are either orgamized as llmited partnerships, limited hability partnerships, imited hability
companies, or corporations AMG generally has contractual arrangements with its Affilates whereby a
percentage of revenue 15 customarily allocable to fund Affihate operating expenses, including
compensation (the “Operating Allocation”), while the remaiming portion of revenue (the “Owners’
Allocation™) 1s allocable to AMG and the other partners or members, generally with a prionty to
AMG In certain other cases, the Affihate 1s not subject to a revenue sharing arrangement, but instead
operates on a profit-based model In these cases, AMG participates fully 1n any mncrease or decrease 1n
the revenue or expenses of such firms In situations where AMG holds a minonty equity interest, AMG
generally has a revenue sharing arrangement that allocates to AMG a percentage of the Affihate’s
revenue The remaimng revenue s used to pay operating expenses and profit distributions to the other
owners

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (“GAAP”) All dollar amounts, except per share data in the text and tables herein,
are stated 1n milhons unless otherwise indicated Certain reclassifications have been made to prior
years’ financial statements to conform to the current year’s presentation

(b) Use of Estumates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts included 1n the financial statements and
disclosure of contingent assets and habilities at the date of the financial statements Actual results
could differ from those estimates

(¢} Pnnciples of Consolidaton

The Company evaluates the nisk, rewards, and sigmficant terms of cach of 1ts Affihate and other
investments to determine the appropriate method of accounting Majonty-owned or otherwise
controlled investments are consohdated In many of its Affihate investments, AMG 1s, directly or
indirectly, the sole general partner (1n the case of Affiliates which are limited partnerships), managing
partner (in the case of Affihates which are hmited hability partnerships), sole manager member (in the
case of Affilhates which are limited hability companies) or principal shareholder (in the case of
Affihates which are corporations) As a result, the Company generally conschdates 1ts Affiliate
investments Investments that are determined to be varable interest entities (“VIEs”) are consohdated
if AMG or a consolidated Affilate 15 the pnimary beneficiary of the mvestment

For consolidated Affibates, the portion of the income allocated to owners other than AMG s
included in Net income (non-controlling interests) in the Consohdated Statements of Income
Non-controliing interests on the Consolidated Balance Sheets includes capital and undistnibuted income
owned by the managers of the consohdated Affillates All material intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AMG applies the equity method of accounting to investments where AMG or an Affihate does not
hold a majornity equity interest but has the ability to exercise significant influence (generally at least a
20% mterest or a general partner nterest) over operating and financial matters AMG or an Affihate
also applies the equity method when their unaffihated minority shareholders or partners have certain
nghts to remove AMG or an Affihate or have rights to participate 1n substantive operating decisions
(e g approval of annual operating budgets, major financings, selection of senior management, etc} For
equity method mvestments, AMG's or the Affiliate’s portion of income before taxes 1s included 1n
Income from equity method mnvestments Other investments i which AMG or an Affiliate own less
than a 20% interest and does not exercise sigmficant influence are accounted for under the cost
method Under the cost method, income 1s recognized as dividends when, and if, declared

The effect of any changes in the Company’s equity interests in 1ts consohdated Affiliates resulting
from the 1ssuance or repurchase of an Affihate’s equity by the Company or one of its Affihates 1s
included as a component of stockholders’ equity, net of the retated income tax effect in the period of
the change

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all lighly hiquid investments, including money market mutual funds, with
ongmal maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents Cash equivalents are stated at cost,
which approximates market value due to the short-term matunty of these investments

(e) Investments in Marketable Securities

Investments in marketable securities are classified as either trading or available-for-sale and carned
at fair value Unrealized gains or losses on mvestments classified as available-for-sale are reported, net
of tax, as a separate component of Accumulated other comprehensive income in Equity until reahized
Unrealized gans or losses related to trading securities are reported within Other operating expenses in
the period they occur If a dechine mn the fair value of an available-for-sale investment 1s determned to
be other than temporary, the carrying amount of the asset 1s reduced to its fair value, and the
difference 1s charged to income i the period mcurred

(f} Other Investments

Assets of consolidated partnerships are reported within Prepaid expenses and other current assets
A majority of these assets are held by investors that are unrelated to the Company, and are therefore
reported within Redeemable non-controlling interests Income from these partnerships 15 presented as
Investment (income) loss from Affiliate investments 1n partnerships (prior to 2011} and 1s presented 1o
Investment and other (income) loss 1 2011 The portion of this iIncome or loss that 1s attributable to
mvestors that are unrelated to the Company 1s reported as Net (income) loss (non-controtling interests
in partnerships)

Investments in partnerships that are not consolidated are reported within Other assets, with
mcome from these partnerships presented as Investment and other (income) loss. Investments
accounted for under the cost method are reported within Other assets, with dividend income presented,
when and if declared, as Investment and other (income) loss

(g) Fwed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-hine method over therr
estimated useful lives The estimated useful lives of office equipment and furniture and fixtures range
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

from three to ten ycars Computer software developed or obtained for internal use 1s amortized using
the straight-line method over the esnmated useful Life of the software, generally three years or less
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their esumated useful lives or the term of
the lease, and the building 15 amortized over 3% years The costs of tmprovements that extend the Iife
of a fixed asset are capitalized, while the cost of repairs and mamtenance are expensed as incurred
Land 1s not depreciated

(h} Leases

The Company and its Affihates currently lease office space and equipment under vanous leasing
arrangements As these leases expire, 1t can be expected that in the normal course of business they will
be renewed or replaced Leases are classified as either capital leases or operating leases, as
appropriate Most lease agreements classified as operating leases contain renewal options, rent
escalation clauses or other mnducements provided by the landlord Rent expense 1s accrued to recognize
lease escalation provisions and inducements provided by the landlord, if any, on a straight-line basis
over the lease term

(1) Equny Investments in Affilates

For equity method investments, the Company’s portion of income or loss before taxes 1s included
i Income from equity method investments The Company’s share of income taxes mcurred directly by
Affihates accounted for under the equity method are recorded within Income taxes—current because
these taxes generally represent the Company’s share of the taxes incurred by the Affilate Deferred
mcome taxes incurred as a direct result of the Company’s investment 1n Affihates accounted for under
the equity method have been inciuded in Income taxes—intangible-related deferred (see Note 13) The
associated deferred tax habihities have been classified as a component of Deferred income taxes i the
Consoldated Balance Sheet

The Company periodically evaluates its equity method nvestments for impairment In such
mpawment evaluations, the Company assesses 1f the fair value of the investment has declined below its
carrying value for a period considered to be other than temporary If the Company determines that a
dechine 1n fair value below the carrying value of the investment 1s other than temporary, then the
reduction in carrying value would be recognized in Income from equity method investments 1n the
Consolidated Statements of Income

() Acquired Client Relationships and Goodwiil

Each acquired Affiliate has identifiable assets arising from contractual or other legal nights with
therr chients (“acquired chient relatonships”) In determining the value of acquired client relationships,
the Company analyzes the net present value of each acquired Affihate's existing client relationships
based on a number of factors including the Affihate’s tustorical and potential future operating
performance, the Affiliate’s historical and potential future rates of attrtion among cxisting clients, the
stability and longevity of existing client relationships, the Affiliate’s recent, as well as long-term,
mvestment performance, the charactenstics of the firm’s products and investment styles, the stability
and depth of the Affiliate’s management team and the Affilate’s history and percewved franchise or
brand value

The Company has determined that certain of 1ts mutual fund acquired chent relationships meet the
catena to be considered indefimte-lived assets because the Company expects both the renewal of these
contracts and the cash flows generated by these assets to continue indefimtely Accordingly, the
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Company does not amorhize these intangible assets, but instead reviews these assets annually or more
frequently whenever events or circumstances occur indicating that the recorded indefinite-lived assets
may be impaired Each reporting peniod, the Company assesses whether events or circumstances have
occurred which indicate that the indefimite hife criteria are no longer met If the indefimte hife criteria
are no longer met, the Company would assesses whether the carrying value of the assets exceeds its fair
value, and an impairment loss would be recorded 1n an amount equal to any such cxcess

The expected useful hives of definite-lived acquired client relationships are analyzed each period
and determined based on an analysis of the historical and projected attrition rates of each Affihiate’s
existing clhients, and other factors that may nfluence the expected future economic benefit the
Company will derive from the relationships The Company tests for the possible impairment of defimte-
lived intangible assets annually or more frequently whenever events or changes 1n circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset 1s not recoverable If such indicators exist, the Company
compares the undiscounted cash flows related to the asset to the carrying value of the asset If the
carrying value 1s greater than the undiscounted cash flow amount, an impairment charge 1s recorded n
the Consolidated Statements of Income for amounts necessary to reduce the carrying value of the asset
to fair value

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in a business
combination that are not indvidually identified and separately recognized, and 1s reported within the
segments 1n which the business operates Goodwill 1s not amortized, but 15 instead reviewed for
impairment The Company assesses goodwill for impairment at least annually during the third quarter,
or more frequently whenever events or circumstances occur ndicating that the recorded goodwill may
be immpaired If the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss may be
recorded

(k) Revenue Recognition

The Company’s consolidated revenue primarnily represents advisory fees billed monthly, quarterly
and annually by Affihates for managing the assets of chients Asset-based advisory fees are recogmzed
monthly as services are rendered and are based upon a percentage of the value of client asscts
managed Any fees coliected in advance are deferred and recognized as income over the period earned
Performance based advisory fees are generally assessed as a percentage of the investment performance
realized on a client’s account, gencrally over an annual perniod Performance-based advisory fees are
recognized when they are earned (1e when they become billable to customers) based on the
contractual terms of agreements and when collection 1s reasonably assured Also included in revenue
are commissions earned by broker dealers, recorded on a trade date basis, and other service fees
recorded as earned

(1} Issuance Costs

Issuance costs incurred 1n securing credut facihty financing are amortized over the remaining term
of the credit facihty Costs incurred to 1ssue the 2008 semor convertible notes and the jumor
convertible trust preferred securines are amortized over the earhier of the penod to the first investor
put date or the stated term of the secunty Costs associated with financial instruments that are not
required to be accounted for separately as denvative instruments are charged directly to stockholders’

equity
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(m)} Derwvative Financial Instruments

The Company 1s exposed to interest rate risk mherent 1n 1ts vanable rate debt obhigations The
Company’s risk management strategy may utihze financial instruments, specifically interest rate
dervative contracts to hedge certain nterest rate exposures For example, the Company may agree with
a counter party (typically a major commercial bank) to exchange the difference between fixed-rate and
floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed notional principal amount In
entering into these contracts, the Company intends to offset cash flow gains and losses that occur on its
existing debt obligations with cash flow gains and losses on the contracts hedging these obligations

From time to time, denvatives are used to hedge the anticipated 1ssuance of fixed-rate debt These
exposures are hedged with treasury rate locks (e g, a 10-year treasury lock hedging the anticipated
underlying U § Treasury interest rate related to issuance of 10-year debt) The contracts are designated
as cash flow hedges

The Company records all denivatives on the balance sheet at fair value If the Company’s
dervatives qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the unrealized gamn or loss 1s recorded
in Accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and
reclassified into earnings when the hedged cash flows are recorded 1in earmings Hedge effectiveness 1s
generally measured by comparing the present value of the cumulative change n the expected future
vanable cash flows of the hedged contract with the present value of the cumulative change m the
expected future variable cash flows of the hedged item To the extent that the cntical terms of the
hedged item and the denivative are not identical, hedge ineffectiveness would be reported in earmings
as Interest expense

(n) Contingent Payment Armrangements

The Company penodically enters into contingent payment arrangements in connection with 1ts
business combinations In these arrangements, the Company agrees to pay additional consideration to
the sellers to the extent that certain levels of revenue growth are achieved The Company estimates the
fair value of the obhigation at the time the business combination 1s consummated, and accretes the
obligation to its expected payment amount over time If the Company’s expected payment amount
changes, the obhigation 1s increased or reduced 1n the current period Both the changes to expected
payments and the accretion of these obligations to their expected payment amounts are reflected within
Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements 1in the Company’s Consohdated
Statements of Income

(0} Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liabihty method Under this method, deferred
taxes are recogmzed for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the
book carrying amounts and tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabilines Histoncally, deferred tax
habihities have been attributable to intangible assets and convertible secunties Deferred tax assets have
been attributable to state and foreign loss carryforwards, deferred revenue, and accrued habilities

In measunng the amount of deferred taxes each period, the Company must project the impact on
1ts future tax payments of any reversal of deferred tax habihities (which would increase the Company’s
tax payments), and any use of s state and foreign carryforwards (which would decrease its tax
payments) In forming these estimates, the Company makes assumptions about future federal, state and
foreign income tax rates and the apportionment of future taxable income to junisdichons in which the
Company has operations An increase or decrease 1n federal or state income tax rates could have a

53

Afimnated Managers Group, inc 10-K Proj £31858B0S11 Job 11ZDY78801 (11.31888-1}
Page bim 8 250" X 10 750" Copy Dim 38 X 543 File DA78801A ,19




MERRILL CORPORATION AKOSMIN/21-FEB-12 16 41 DISK121 [11ZDY1 11ZDY78801]DATB801A |19
mrll_1111 fint Free 10D*/120D Foot oD/ 0D VIRSeq 6ClIr 0
DISKO024 [PAGER PSTYLES]JUNIVERSAL BST,26 & CCs 52470

1

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

matenal impact on the Company’s deferred income tax habilities and assets and would result n a
current income tax charge or benefit

The Company recognizes the financial statement benefit of an uncertain tax position only after
considening the probability that a tax authority would sustain the posiion i an examination For tax
positions meeting a “‘more-likely-than-not™ threshold, the amount recognized 1n the financial statements
15 the benefit expected to be realized upon settlement with the tax authority For tax posihons not
meeting the threshold, no financial statement benefit 1s recogmzed The Company recogmzes interest
and other charges relating to unrecogmzed tax benefits as additional tax expense

in the case of the Company’s deferred tax assets, the Company regularly assesses the need for

valuation allowances, which would reduce these assets to their recoverable amounts In forming these
estimates, the Company makes assumptions of future taxable income that may be generated to utilize
these asscts, which have limited lives If the Company determines that these assets will be realized, the
Company records an adjustment to the valuation allowance, which would decrease tax expense n the
petiod such determination was made Likewise, should the Company determine that it would be unable
to realize additional amounts of deferred tax assets, an adjustment to the valuation allowance would be
charged to tax expense in the period such determination was made

(p) Foreign Currency Translation

The assets and habilities of Affillates whose functional currency 1s not the United States dollar are
translated into U S dollars using exchange rates in effect as of the balance sheet date The revenue
and expenses of these Affilates are translated into U § dollars using average exchange rates for the
relevant period Because of the permanent nature of the Company’s investments, net translation
exchange gans and losses are excluded from Net income but are recorded in other comprehensive
mcome Foregn currency transaction gains and losses are reflected 1in Investment and other income

(q) Share-Based Compensation Plans

The Company recogmzes as an expense the cost of all share-based payments to directors, semor
management and employees, including grants of stock options, to be recogmized n the financial
statements based on their fair values over the requisite service period

The Company reports any tax benefits reahzed upon the exercise of stock options that are 1n
excess of the expense recognized for reporting purposes as a financing activity 1in the Company’s
Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows If the tax benefit realized 1s less than the cxpense, the tax
shortfall 1s recogmized 1n stockholders’ equity To the extent the expense exceeds available windfail tax
benefits, 1t 1s recognized n the Consohidated Statements of Income The Company was permiited to
calculate its cuomulative wandfall tax benefits for the purposes of accounting for future tax shortfalls
The Company elected to apply the long-form method for determiming the pool of windfall tax benefits

(r) Recent Accounting Developments

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued new guidance on testing
goodwill for impairment The new gundance provides the option of performing a qualitative asscssment
before proceeding with a quantitative goodwill impairment test Following an assessment of qualitative
factors, If an entity determnes that 1t 1s more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting umt 1s
greater than 1ts carrying amount, including goodwill, then a quantitative assessment 1s unnecessary This
guidance 1s effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted The Company early-adopted this
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

guidance for its annual goodwill impairment testing which was performed in the third quarter of 2011
Adoption of this new guidance did not have a matenal impact on the Company’s Consohdated
Financial Statements

In June 2011, the Finanaal Accounting Standards Board 1ssued new gumidance on the presentation
of comprehensive income This new guidance requires the components of Net income and Other
comprehensive income to be erther presented 1in one continuous statement, or 1n two separate, but
consecutive statements The new guidance does not change the items that are recogmzed 1n Net income
or Other comprehensive income This new guidance 1s effective for interim and fiscal periods beginning
after December 15, 2011 The Company early-adopted this guidance in the fourth quarter of 2011
Adoption of this new puidance did not have a matenal impact on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 1ssued an update to the fair value
measurements and disclosures guidance The new guidance clanfies existing fair value measurement
principles and expands certain disclosure requirements, particularly for measurements categorized as
Level 3 The amendment 1s effective for interim and fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2011
Adoption of this new gwidance 1s not expected to have a matenal impact on the Company’s
Consolhdated Financial Statements

2. Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial mstruments that potentially subject the Company to sigmficant concentrations of credit
nisk consist prinaipally of cash investments The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents,
investments and, at times, certain financial mstruments with various financial institutions These
financial institutions are typically located 1n cities in which AMG and its Affihates operate For AMG
and certamn Affiliates, cash deposits at a financial institution may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation msurance limits

3 Investments

Investments in Marketable Secunties

Investment 1n marketable secunties at December 31, 2010 and 2011 were $116 0 million and
$100 4 million, respectively These investments are comprnised of the Company’s mvestments in Value
Partners Group Limuted (*“Value Partners™), a publicly-traded asset management firm based in Hong
Kong, and investments held by Affihates

Available-for-Sale Investmenis

The following 1s a summary of the cost, gross unreahized gains and losses and fair value of
investments classified as available-for-sale at December 31, 2010 and 20311

December 31, 2010
Gross Unreahzed
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Equity securities $550 8456 $— $1006

December 31, 2011
Gross Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Equity securities $976 $14  $(127) 8863

55

T

Affillatad Managers Group, 'rc 10-K Proj P21888BOS11  Job 11ZDY78801 (11-31888-1)
Page Dim 8250" X 10750" Copy Dim 38 X543 File DA78801A ;19




MERRILL CORPORATION AKOSMIN//21-FEB-12 16 41 DISK121 [11ZDY1 11ZDY788011DAT7I801A 19
mrli_1111 fmt Free 425DM/OD Foot oD/ 0D VIRSeq 8CIr 0
DISK024 [FAGER PSTYLES]JUNIVERSAL BST, 96 8 CCs 6753

L

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has invested $79 6 million 1n Value Partners, representing |
7 8% of the outstanding common stock In the fourth quarter of 2011, the ivestment 1in Value Partners
dechned, resulting in an unrcahzed loss at December 31, 2011 The Company intends to hold this
mvestment for a reasonable period of ime sufficient for a forecasted recovery of fair value

The Company did not realize any gans or losses on mvestments classified as available-for-sale for
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011
Trading Sccunties

The following 1s a summary of the cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and fair value of

investments classified as trading secunities at December 31, 2010 and 2011

December 31, 2010

Gross Unrealized

Cost Gamns Losses Fair Valye
Equity securities $141 $15 $(04) $152
Debt secunties 02 _— — 02
Total $143 M $(04) 3154

December 31, 2011

Gross Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Equity secunities $135 309 $(03) $141
Debt securities — = — —
Total $135 9 $(03) $141

The following 15 a summary of the Company’s realized gains and losses on investments classified as
trading secunties at December 31, 2010 and 2011

December 31,

2010 2011

Gains $05 s$009
Losses —  @N
Net realized gamns (losses) $05 $02

|

Cost Method Investments

As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, the Company has invested $27 4 million and $14 6 million,
respectively During the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, the Company determined that the
value of a cost method 1nvestment had been reduced to zero and recorded a $12 8 million expense in
Investment and other (income) loss (allocated to the Company’s High Net Worth distribution
channel—see Note 26)
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Other Investments

Other investments consist of investments 1n funds advised by Affiliates As of December 31, 2010
and 2011, the Company’s other investments were $124 5 million and $145 3 million, respectively These
assets are reported within Prepaid expenses and other current assets ($18 3 million and $31 2 milhion at
December 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively) and Other assets ($106 2 milhon and $114 1 million at
December 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively) in the Consohdated Balance Sheets The income or loss
related to these investments 1s classified within Investment and other income 1n the Consohdated
Statements of Income

4  Unsettled Fund Share Receivables and Payables

Unsettled fund share recervables and payables are created by the normal settlement peniods on
transactions mitiated by certain chents of Affihate funds domiciled in the Umited Kingdom The gross
presentation of the recevable and offsetting payable reflects the legal relationship between the
underlying investor and the Company

5  Fawr Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair value of certain tnvestment secunties and other financial and
nonfinancial assets and habilities Fair value 15 determined based on the price that would be received
for an asset or paid to transfer a hability in the most advantageous market, utihzing a hierarchy of
three different valuation technigues

Level 1—Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments 1n active markets,

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments 1n active markets, quoted pnices for dentical or
similar instruments 1 markets that are not active, and model-derived valuations whose
mputs, or significant value drivers, arc observable, and

Level 3—Prices reflecting the Company’s own assumptions concermng unobservable mputs to the
valuation model These inputs require significant management judgment and reflect the
Company's estimation of assumptions that market participants would use 1 pricing the
asset or hability

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and habihties that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets

Cash equivalents $ 360 $360 $ — §$ —
Investments in marketable securities
Trading securities 154 152 02 —
Available for sale sccuriies 1006 992 14 —
Other mvestments@ 1245 16 9 219 857
Interest rate derivatives 59 — 59 —
Financial Liabilities
Contingent payment arrangements®™ $776 $ — 8§ — 3776
Obligations to related parties® 796 — — 16
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUE, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fair Yalue Measurements
December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets

Cash equivalents $ 232 $232 § — § —
Investments 1n marketable securities("
Trading securities 141 14 1 — —
Available for sale secuntics 863 863 — _
Other investments® 1453 311 108 103 4
Financial Liabihities
Contingent payment arrangements® $ 871 $ — $ — $3871
Obligations to related parties® 920 — — 920
Interest rate dernwvatives 2q —_ 29 —

(1) Prncipally investments i equity securities
(2) Other mvestments are reported within Prepaid expenses and other current assets and Other assets

(3) Contungent payment arrangements reported in Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and Other
long-term habilities

(4) Obhigations to related parties are presented within Payables to related party and Other long-term
hiabilities

The following 1s a description of the significant assets and hiabilities measured at fair value and the
fair value methodologies used

Cash equivalents consist primanly of highly liquid investments 1n money market funds Cash
ivestments 1n actively traded money market funds are classified as Level 1

Investments in marketable secunties consist primanly of investments in funds advised by Affihates
which are valued using NAV and in publicly traded securnities Investments in actively traded funds that
calculate daily NAVs and actively traded public securities are classified as Level 1 Investments 1n other
funds that hold investments with observable market prices are classified as Level 2

Other nvestments are valued using net asset value (“NAV”) Investments in actively traded funds
that calculate daily NAVs are classified as Level 1 Investments in non-public funds that hold
investments with observable market prices are classificd as Level 2 Investments in funds that hold
ilhqued securities or that are subject to redemption restrictions are classified as Level 3 The fair value
of Level 3 assets 1s determined using NAV one quarter i arrears (adjusted for current period catls and
distributions)

Interest rate denvatives include treasury rate lock contracts and interest rate swaps The fair value of
thesc assets 18 determined by model-derived valuations 1n which all sigmficant inputs were observable
active markets

Conuingent payment arrangements represents the present value of the expected future settlement of
contingent payment arrangements related to the Company’s business combmnations The fair value of
these obligations 1s determined using an income approach with assumptions made about future cash
flows and discount rates
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued}

Obligations to related partres include agreements to repurchase Affiliate equity and habilities
offsetting certamn investments which are held by the Company but economucally attnbutable to a related
party The fair value of the agreements to repurchase Affibate equity 1s determmed using an income
approach with assumptions made about future cash flows and discount rates The hability to a related
party 1s measured based upon certain investments held by the Company, the fair value of which 15
determined using NAV

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 assets and habilities for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2011

Level 3 Financial Assets and Frnancial Liabilities at Fair YValue
Net unrealized

gamsflosses
relating to Net transfers
Balance, mstruments n and/or
Year Ended beginning of Net reahized stll held at the Purchases and  Settlements out of Balance, end
December 31, 2010 perod gains/losses reporting date 1ssuances and reductions Level 3 of period
Other investments $40 $§ — § 520 $84 5 $ (@43 371 $857
Contingent payment
arrangements 271 — 11 0® 66 6% (27 1) — 776
Obligations to related
parties 787 (10)® 489 872 (90 1) — 796
Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabihties at Fair Value
Net unrealized
gans/losses
relating to Net transfers
Balance, mstruments 1 and/or
Year Ended beginning of Net realized still held at the Purchases and  Settlements out of Balance, end
December 31, 2011 penod gamns/losses  reporting date 1ssuances and reductions Level 3 of penod
Other mvestments $857 $(02) $ 961 $177 $ (94 5§ — $103 4
Contingent payment
arrangements 776 - 952 — — — 871
Obligations to related
parties 796 04 1 78 528 (425) — 920

(1) [In the periods prior to 2011, losses on other mvesiments are recorded in Investment loss from Affihate
mvestments m partnerships In 2011, gains and losses on Other nvestments are recorded in Investment and
other (income) loss

(2) Accretion and changes 10 payment estimates under the Company’s contingent payment arrangements are
recorded in Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements and foreign currency translation
adjustments related 10 such arrangements are recorded as Other comprehensive income (loss)

(3) In 2011, the Company changed its contingent payment arrangements for the year ended December 31, 2010
by $6 4 mllien (see Note 18)

(4) Gans and losses associated with agreements to repurchase Affiliate equity are recorded m Imputed interest
expense and contingent payment arrangements Gains and losses related to habihities offsetting certain
investments are recorded in Investment and other (income) loss

There were no significant transfers of financial assets or habihities between Level 2 and Level 1 1n
the twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2010 and 2011
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Company relies on the NAV of certain investments as their fair value The NAVs that have
been provided by the investees have been derved from the fair values of the underlying investments as
of the measurement dates The following table summanzes, as of December 31, 2010 and 2011, the
nature of these investments and any related hiquidation restrictions or other factors which may impact
the ultimate value realized

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2011
Unfunded Unfunded
Category of Investment Fair Value Commitments Far Value  Commitments
Private equity fund-of-fundst" $ 857 $892 $1034 $805
Other funds® 552 — 472 —
$1409 $89 2 $1506 $805

(1) These funds primarily invest 1n a broad range of private equity funds, as well as making
direct investments Distributions will be receved as the underlying assets are hquidated
over the life of the funds, generally 15 years

(2) These are multi-disciplinary funds that mvest across various asset classcs and strategies
including tong/short equity, credit and real estate Investments are generally redeemable
on a daily or quarterly basis

There are no current plans to sell any of these mmvestments

The carrying value of senior bank debt approximates fair value because the debt 1s a credit facility
with vartable interest based on selected short-term rates The fair market value of the 2008 senior
convertible notes and the junior convertible trust preferred securities at December 31, 2011 (based on
market prices) was $500 0 mullion and $594 3 mulhon, respectively

6. Vanable Interest Entities
Sponsored Investment Funds

The Company’'s Affiliates act as the investment manager for certain investment funds that are
considered vaniable interest entities (“VIEs”) In addition to an Affihate’s involvement as the
investment manager, Affiliates may also hold investments 1n these products Affiliates are not the
prnimary beneficiary of these VIEs as therr involvement 1s imited to that of a service provider and their
investment, if any, represents an insignificant interest 1 the fund’s assets under management As a
result, the Company’s vaniable interests will not absorb the majonty of the vaniability of the ennity’s net
assets and therefore the Company has not consolidated these entities

Trust Preferred Vehicles

The Company estabhished wholly-owned trusts in connection with the 2006 and 2007 1ssuances of
jumior convertible trust preferred securities These entities are considered VIEs and the Company 15 not
the primary beneficiary, therefore these entities are not consolidated in the Company’s financial
statements
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The net assets and habilities of these unconsohidated VIEs and the Company’s maximum nsk of

loss related thereto are as follows

As of December 31,

2010

2011

Carrying Value and
Unconsehdated Maximum Exposure

Carrying Value and
Unconsolidated Maximum Exposare

¥YIE Net Assets to Loss ¥IE Net Assels to Loss
Sponsored investment funds $3,350 7 $08 $3,6184 $11
Trust preferred vehicles 90 90 90 90
7. Fixed Assets and Lease Comnutments
Fixed assets consisted of the following
December 31,
2010 2011
Building and leasehold improvements $562 $591
Office equipment 330 341
Furniture and fixtures 147 2006
Land and improvements 170 179
Computer software 193 205
Fixed assets, at cost 140 2 1522
Accumulated depreciation and amortization ﬂ) &)
Fixed assets, net $a677 $691

The Company and 1ts Affiliates lease office space and computer equipment for their operations At
December 31, 2011, the Company’s aggregate future mimimum payments for operating leases having
mit1al or noncancelable lease terms greater than one year are payable as follows

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter

Required Minimum
Payments

$257
250
214
i88
128
425

Consohidated rent expense for 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $19 6 million, $23 3 million and

$29 9 mullion, respectively
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

8  Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabihties

Accounts payable and accrued habilities consisted of the following

December 31,
2010 2011
Accrued compensation $1170 $1362
Accrued professional fees 177 243
Accrued distributions 235 250
Accounts payable 398 901
Other 54 8 68 0
$2528 $3436

9.  Benefit Plans

The Company has three defined contribution plans consisting of a qualified employee profit-
sharing plan coverning substantially all of its full-ime employees and several of its Affiliates, and
non-quahfied plans for certain sentor employees AMG’s other Affiliates generally have separate
defined contribution retirement plans Under each of the qualified plans, AMG and each participating
Affihate, as the case may be, are able to make discretionary contributtons for the benefit of qualified
plan participants up to Internal Revenue Service limits

The Company has established a Deferred Compensation Plan that provides officers and directors
of the Company the opportunity to voluntanly defer base salary, bonus payments and director fees, as
applicable, on a pre-tax basis, and invest such deferred amounts in one or more specified measurement
funds While the Company has no obligation to do so, the Deferred Compensation Plan also provides
the Company the opportunity to make discretionary contributions, 1n the event any such contributions
are made, contributed amounts will be subject to vesting and forfetture provisions

Consohdated expenses related to the Company’s benefit plans in 2009, 2010 and 2011 were
$9 7 million, $12 1 mullion and $12 0 milhon, respectively

10. Semor Bank Debt

The Company entered mnto a $1 0 billion senior unsecured credit facihity in November 2011 (the
“amended credit facility™), consisting of a $750 0 million revolving credit facility (the “revolver’) and a
$250 0 million term loan (the “term loan™), the principal terms of which are similar to the Company’s
previous senior unsecured revolving credit facihty The term loan and $720 0 million of the revolver
have a five-year maturity (maturing November 3, 2016), the remaiming $30 0 muillion of the revolver
matures January 12, 2015 Subject to certain conditions, the Company may increase the revolver and
the term loan by up to $150 0 million and $250 0 million, respectively The term loan borrowings were
used 1o repay the outstanding balance under the previous revolving credit facility ($210 0 million} and
for general corporate purposes

The amended credit facility 15 unsecured and contains financial covenants with respect to leverage
and nterest coverage, as well as customary affirmative and negative covenants, including imitations on
indebtedness, liens, cash dividends, asset dispositions and fundamental corporate changes As of
December 31, 2011, the Company was in comphance with all terms of its credit facility
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As further descnibed 1in Note 14, the Company has entered into interest rate swap contracts to
exchange a fixed rate for the variable rate on a portion of its credit facility

11. Convertible Securities

At December 31, 2011, the Company has one semor convertible security outstanding (2008 semor
convertible notes”} and two jumor convertible trust preferred securities outstanding, one 1ssued 1n 2006
(the “2006 junmior convertible trust preferred securities”) and a second 1ssued in 2007 (the “2007 jumor
convertible trust preferred secunities”) The carrying values of the Company’s convertible securities are

as follows

Senior convertible securities

2008 senior convertible notes(

Junior convertible trust preferred securities
2007 jumor convertible trust preferred secuninies™®
2006 junior convertible trust preferred securines!”

Total junior convertible securities

December 31, 2010

December 31, 2011

Principal
Carrying amount at
Value maturity

Principal
Carrying amount at
Value matursty

$4221 $460 0

$4356  $4600

$2963 34308
213 6 3000

$2978  $4308
2148 3000

$5099 37308

$5126  $7308

(1) Carrying value 1s accreted to the principal amount at matunity over an expected hife of five years
for the 2008 senior convertible notes and 30 years for each of the junior convertible trust preferred

secunties

The principal terms of these securities are summarnzed below

Issue date

Maturity date

Next potential put date
Denomination

Current conversion rate
Price

Stated coupon

Coupon frequency

Tax deduction rate®

2008 Scmior
Convertible
Notes'"

August 2008
August 2038
Aupust 2013

$ 1,000

7959

$ 125 65
395%

Semi-annually

9 38%

2007 Junior 2006 Junmor
Convertible Convertible
Trust Preferred Trust Preferred
Securities'™ Securities™

October 2007  Apnit 2006
October 2037  Apnl 2036
N/A N/A
$ 50 $ 50
0250 0333
$ 200 00 $ 15000
515% 510%
Quarterly Quarterly
8 00% 7 50%

(1) The Company may redeem the notes for cash (subject to the holders’ nghts to convert) at
any time on or after August 15, 2013

(2) The Company may redeem the 2007 junior convertible trust preferred securnities on or
after October 15, 2012 if the closing price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $260
per share for a specified period of time
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(3) The Company may redeem the 2006 jumor convertible trust preferred securities if the
closing price of the Company's common stock exceeds $195 per share for a specified
period of time

(4) These convertible securities are considered contingent payment debt instruments under
federal income tax regulations, which require the Company to deduct interest 1n an
amount greater than 1ts reported Interest expense These deducttons result in annual
deferred tax habilities of approximately $23 2 mullion These deferred tax hiabilities will be
reclassified directly to stockholders’ equity if the Company’s common stock 1s trading
above certain thresholds at the time of the conversion of the secunties

12. Forward Equity Sale Agreements

During 2008 and 2009, the Company entered into three forward equity sale agreements with major
securities firms to sell shares of 1ts common stock (up to $200 0 million under each agreement} During
2009, the Company settled $147 2 million of forward equity sales by 1ssuing 1 8 million shares of 1ts
common stock Durning 2010, the Company settled $349 3 mulhon of forward equity sales by 1ssuing
5 5 million shares of its common stock

In July 2011, the Company entered into a forward equity sale agreement with two major securities
firms under which 1t may sell shares of common stock with an aggregate sales prices of up to
$300 0 milhon This agreement replaced all previous forward equity sale agreements As of
December 31, 2011, no forward equity sales have occurred

13. Income Taxes

The consohdated income tax provision includes taxes attributable to the contrelling interest and, to
a lesser extent, taxes attributable to non-controlling 1interests as follows

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Controlling Interests
Current tax $(07) $421 3 450
Intangible related deferred taxes 386 475 432
Other deferred taxes (99) (93) “0)
Total controlhng interests 280 803 842
Non-Controthng Interests
Current tax $48 $ 140 %129
Deferred taxes — (28) (40}
Total non-controlling interests 48 112 89
Provision for mcome taxes $328 $ 915 % 931
Income before mncome taxes (controlling nterest) $875 3$2189 $2491
Effective tax ratc attributable to controlling interests 320% 367% 338%

(1) Taxcs attributable to the controlling interest divided by Income before income taxes
(controlling interest}
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUE INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A summary of the consolidated provision for income taxes is as follows

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011

Current

Federal $(112) $128 § 77

State 84 99 97

Foreign 68 334 405
Total current 40 561 579
Deferred

Federal 318 432 47 4

State 06 27 44

Foreign (36) (105) (166)
Total deferred 288 354 352
Provision for income taxes $328 $915 §931

The components of mncome before income taxes consisted of the following

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Domestic $1809 351863 $2438
International 64 8 1926 2089

$2457 33789 84527

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the amount computed by using income
before income taxes and applying the U § federal income tax rate to such amount because of the
effect of the following items

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Tax at US federal income tax rate 350% 350% 350%
State mcome taxcs, net of federal benefit 89 20 24
Non-deductible expenses 07 01 05
Valuation allowance 92) 10 (11
Effect of foreign operations (34) 05 —
Foreign basis differences — ()] 09
Effect of changes 1n tax law, rates — (12) 21
Effect of income from non-controlling interests (187) (125) (132)

133% 242% 206%

In 2008, the state of Massachusetts enacted legislation that requred combined tax reporting for
the Company and all its subsidianies beginming in 2009 In 2009, regulations under this legislation
changed the methodology for measuring net operatiag losses, resulting in a $3 7 million reduction of
the state net operating loss carryforwards and the valuation allowance During 2010 and 2011, the
Company realized « deferred tax benefit of $4 1 million and $7 6 mullion, respectively, from the
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Centinued)

revaluation of 1ts deferred taxes as a result of a reduction of corporate tax rates in the United
Kingdom

The Company does not provide for deferred taxes on the excess of the financial reporting basis
over the tax basis in its investments n foresgn subsidianes that are permanent in duration That excess
totaled approximately $25 0 million as of December 31, 2011 The addinonal deferred taxes that have
not been previded are approximately $2 1 milhon for 2011, and $9 5 million cumulatively

The components of deferred tax assets and habilities are as follows

__December 31,
_%o10 - _20m
Deferred Tax Assets
State net operating loss carryforwards $ 306 $ 265
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 173 151
Deferred compensation 103 175
Tax benefit of uncertain tax positions 108 116
Accrued expenses 85 116
Capital loss carryforwards 15 15
Total deferred tax assets 790 838
Valuation allowance (38 4) (35 6)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 406 $ 482
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Intangible asset amortization $(2093) $(2471)
Convertible securitics interest (1545 (1711)
Non-deductible intangible amortization (1431) (127 2)
Deferred revenue (26 3) (56)
Other (2 8) (32)
Total deferred tax habilities (5360) (5542)
Net deferred tax habiity $(4954) $(506 0)

Deferred tax liabilities are primarnly the result of tax deductions for the Company’s intangible
assets and convernble secunties The Company amortizes most of tts intangible assets for tax purposes
only, reducing 1ts tax basis below 1its carrying value for financial statement purposes and gencrating
deferred taxes cach reporting period The Company’s 2008 sentor convertible notes and junior
convertible trust preferred securities also gencrate deferred taxes because the Company’s tax deductions
are lgher than the interest expense recorded for financial statement purposes

At December 31, 2011, the Company has state net operating loss carryforwards that expire over a
15-year period beginning in 2011 The Company also has foreign {ax credit carryforwards that expire
over a 10-year peniod beginming 1in 2011 The valuation allowances at December 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2011 were principally related to the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable
income prior to the expiration of these carryforwards

The Company carried a liabihity for uncertain tax positions of $21 9 mllion, $24 6 million and
$21 3 mullion as of December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively These amounts included
$4 4 million, $3 2 million and $1 6 milhion of interest and related charges, respectively At December 31,
2009, 2010 and 2011, these habihities included $13 9 milhion, $16 7 milhon and $12 6 million,
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUE, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

respectively, for tax positions that, if recogmized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate The
Company does not anticipate that this hability will change sigmificantly over the next twelve months

A reconcihiation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecogmzed tax benefits 1s as follows

2009 z00 20M)
$219 $219 $246

Balance as of January 1

Additions based on tax positions related to current year 40 70 48
Additions based on tax positions of prior years 02 —_ —_
Reductions for tax provisions of prior years — (12 —
Settlements . — — (12)
Reductions related to lapses of statutes of limitations (50 (34 BT
Additions (reductions) related to foreign exchange rates 08 03 (03

Balance as of December 31 $219 $246 $212

The Company penodically has tax examinations 1 the Umited States and foreign jurisdictions
Examination outcomes, and any related settlements, are subject to significant uncertainty The
completion of examinations may result in the payment of additional taxes and/or the recogmtion of tax
benefits The Company 1s generally no longer subject to mmcome tax examinations by any tax authorities
for years before 2006

14. Denvative Financial Instruments

From time to time, the Company seeks to offset 1ts exposure to changing nterest rates under 1ts
debt financing arrangements by entering into winterest rate hedging contracts The Company does not
hold or 1ssue dervative financial instruments for speculative purposes

In 2010, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements as summarized 1n the table

below
Notional
Amount Paying Recerving Start Date Expiration Date
Counterparty A $250 167% 3-Month LIBOR October 2010 October 2015
Counterparty A $250 165% 3-Month LIBOR October 2010 October 2015
Counterparty B $250 159% 3-Month LIBOR October 2010 October 2015
Counterparty B $250 214% 3-Month LIBOR October 2010 October 2017

In November 2010, the Company entered into a senes of treasury rate lock contracts with a total \
notional value of $100 0 mulhon which were settled 1n February 2011 for a net pre-tax gan of
$4 0 millien (each contract was designated and quahfied as a cash flow hedge)} In the third quarter
2011, the Company entered into a sentes of treasury rate lock contracts with a total notional value of
$75 0 milhion which were settled for a net pre-tax loss of $4 7 milion 1in October 2011 (each contract
was designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge) These contracts were intended to hedge the risks
associated with changes in interest rates on a fixed-rate debt 1ssuance that 15 anticipated to occur prior
to the end of the second quarter of 2012 The net loss on these contracts (30 7 mullion) 15 reflected as a
component of Other comprehensive income and will be recognized as an increase to Interest expense
over the hife of the expected fixed rate debt 1ssuance, or recorded within other income and loss tn the
event that the Company determines that 1t 1s not probable that 1t will 1ssue the anticipated fixed rate
debt
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Company's derivative contracts contain provisions that may require the Company or the
counterparties to post collateral based upon the current fair value of the derivative contracts As of
December 31, 2011, the Company had posted collateral of $3 5 miltion related to 1ts interest rate swap
contracts

The Company records all derivative instruments on the balance sheet at fair value As cash flow
hedges, the effective portion of the unreahzed gain or loss on the derivative instruments 1s recorded i
accumulated other comprechensive income as a separate component of stockholders’ equity Hedge
effectiveness 1s measured by comparing the present value of the cumnulative change 1n the expected
future variable cash flows of the hedged contract with the present value of the cumulative change 1n
the expected future vanable cash flows of the hedged item To the extent that the crifical terms of the
hedged 1item and the derivative are not 1dentical, hedge ineffectiveness would be reported in earnings
as Interest expense Hedge ineffectiveness was not material 1n any periods presented The Company
does not expect to reclassify any material portion of the unrealized gain into earnings in the next
twelve months

The followmg summanzes the location and amount of dervative 1nstrument gains and (losses),
before taxes reported in the Consohdated Statements of Comprehensive Income

2009 2010 2011

Cash Flow Hedges

Interest rate swaps®" $ $25 $(54)
Treasury rate locks™" — 34 (43
Total §_: $59 $(97)

(1) Presented within Other comprehensive income

The following summarizes the location and fair values of denvative instruments on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2000 2011
Cash Flow Hedges
Interest rate swaps(!) $25 $(29)
Treasury rate locks® 34 _
Total $59 $(29)

|

(1) Presented within Other assets and Other long-term habilities as of December 31, 2010
and 2011, respectively

(2) Presented within Prepaid expenses and other current assets

The Company does not hold or 1ssue dervative financial instruments for trading purposes Interest
rate swaps and treasury rate locks are intended to enable the Company to achieve a level of
vanable-rate and fixed-rate debt that 15 acceptabie to management and to limit interest rate exposure
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUE, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

15 Comprehensive Income

The following table shows the tax cffects allocated to each component of other comprehensive

income
Year Ended Decetmber 31, 2009
Pre-Tax  Tax Expense  Net of Tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment $46 8 $ — 346 8
Change i net unrealized gain on investment securities 53 1) 32
Other comprehensive income $521 $2D $500
Year Ended December 31, 2010
Pre-Tax  Tax Expense  Net of Tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment . $248 8 — $248
Change 1n net realized and unreahzed gain on dervative securities 59 (22) 37
Change 1n net unrealized gan on investment securties 413 (153) 26 0
Other comprehensive income . $720 $(175) $54 5
Year Ended Dcecember 31, 2011
Pre-Tax  Tax Benefit  Net of Tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment $(1e2y § — $(102)
Change 1n net realized and unrealized loss on denivative securities CX)) 38 (59)
Change 1n net unrealized loss on investment securities (56 6) 222 (344)
Other comprehensive loss $(765) $26¢0 $(50 5)

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes, are as follows

Other
December 31, Comprehensive  December 31,
2010 Income 2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 679 $(102) 577
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on derivative securities 37 59 (22)
Unreahzed gain (loss) on investment securities 289 (344) (55)
Accumulated other comprehensive income $1005 $(50 5) $500

16 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company and 1ts Affiliates are subject to claims, legal proceedings and other contingencies 1n
the ordinary course of their business activities Each of these matters 1s subject to vartous uncertainties,
and it 1s possible that some of these matters may be resolved in a manner unfavorable to the Company
or its Affihates The Company and 1ts Affilhates establish accruals for matters for which the outcome 1s
probable and can be reasonably estimated Management beheves that any hability in excess of these
accruals upon the ultmate resolution of these matters will not have a matenal adverse effect on the
Company
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUPE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Certain Affiliates aperate under regulatory authonties which require that they maintain mimmum
financial or capital requirements Management 1s not awarc of any violations of such financial
requirements occurring during the perrod

In connection with 1ts investment in Pantheon Ventures, the Company has commutted to co-invest
1n certain 1nvestment partnerships where 1t serves as the general partner As of December 31, 2011,
these commitments totaled approximately $80 5 million and may be called in future periods Russell
Investments (Pantheon Ventures’ former owner) 1s contractually obhigated to reimburse the Company
for $47 6 mullion of these commitments if they are called

Under past acquisiion agreements, the Company s contingently hable, upon achievement of
specified financial targets, to make payments of up to $491 4 milhon through 2017 In 2011, the
Company reduced its current estimate of payments to be made under these agreements and recognized
a gain of $4 8 miilon ($3 1 mulhon of which 1s attributable to the controlling interest}) This gamn has
been classificd within Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements 1n the
Consolidated Statements of Income Based on estimates as of December 31, 2011, the Company
expects to make payments of approximately $108 0 million to settle these contingent obligations, of
which $80 1 mullion 1s expected to be settled in 2012 and the remainder to be settled between 2014 and
2015

17. Affihate Equity

The Company perodically 1ssues Affiliate equity interests to and repurchases Affihate equity
interests from 11s Affihate partners In these transactions, if the equaty 1s 1ssued for consideration below
the fair value of the equity or repurchased for consideration above the fair value of the equity, then
such difference 1s recorded as compensation expense over the requisite service period The Company
recognized compensation expenses related to Affiliate equity of $16 8 million, $26 2 million, and
$29 0 million (of which $13 2 million, $14 5 million, and $22 1 million were attributable to the
controlling iterest) in 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively

Many of the Company’s operating agreements provide the Company a condiional right to call and
Affihate partners the conditional right to put their retained equity interests at certan intervals The
purchase price of these conditional purchases are generally calculated based upon a multiple of the
Affiiate’s cash flow distributions, which 1s mntended to represent fair value Affiliate management
partners are also permutted to sell their equity interests to other individuals or entities 1n certan cases,
subject to the Company’s approval or other restnictions The Company, at its option, may pay for
Affihate equity purchases 1n cash, shares of 1ts common stock or other forms of consideration and can
consent to the transfer of these interests to other individuals or entities

The current redemption value of these interests has been presented as Redeemable non-controlling
nterests on the Company’s Consohidated Balance Sheets Changes in the current redemption value are
recorded to Additional paid-in capital The foliowing table presents the changes in Redecmable
non-controlling interests during the period

2010 2011
Balance as of January 1 $3690 $4063
Issuance of Redeemable non-controlling interest 190 525
Repurchase of Redeemable non-controlling interest 973y (578)
Changes in redemption value 1156 508
Balance as of December 31 $4063 $4518
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

During the years ended 2009, 2010 and 2011, the Company acquired interests from and transferred
interests to Affihate management partners The following schedule discloses the effect of changes in the
Company’s ownership interests in 1its Affihates on the controlling interest’s equity

For the Years
Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Net income (controlling interest) $595 81386 $1649
Increase (decrease) in controlling interest paid-in capital from the sale of
Affililate equity (582) (454) (281)
Change from Net income (controlling interest) and net transfers with
non-controlling interests $ 13 $932 $1368

18 Goodwll and Acquired Cheni Relationships
The fallowing table presents the change in Goodwill during 2010 and 2011

Mutual Fund  Institutional  High Net Worth Total

Balance, as of December 31, 2009 $5617 $ 6030 $2485 $1,4132
Goodwill acquired 2191 466 6 70 6927
Foreign currency transiation 59 40 61 16 0
Balance, as of December 31, 2010 $786 7 $1,073 6 $261 6 $2,1219
Goodwill acquired —_ 01 13 14
Foreign currency translation (a7 (23) (20) (60)
Balance, as of December 31, 2011 $7850 $1,071 4 $2609 $2,117 3

Duning 2011, the Company revised its balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2010 related
to the finahzation of 1ts purchase price allocation for certain of its 2010 business combinations
($4 5 million), and 10 correct the mibal estimate of 1ts contingent payment obligation ($4 8 nullion)
The net effect of these changes reduced goodwill by $9 3 milhon and was not materal to the
Consolhidated Financial Statements

The following table reflects the components of intangible assets of the Company’s Affiliates that
are consohdated as of December 31, 2010 and 2011

2010 2011
Carrying Accumulated Carrying  Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Amortized intangible assets
Definite-lived acquired client relationships $ 9712 $2286 $ 9705 $3170
Non-amortized intangible assets
Indefinite-lived acquired client refationships 6780 — 6676 — i
Goodwill 2,1219 — 2,1173 —

For the Company’s Affihates that are consolidated, definite-lived acquired client relationships are
amortized over their expected useful lives As of December 31, 2011, these relanonships were being
amortized over a weighted average hife of approximately ten years The Company estimates that its
consolidated annual amortization expense will be approximately $88 5 nullion for the next five years,
assuming no addittonal investments 1n new or existing Affiliates
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The defimte-lived acquired client relationships attnibutable to the Company’s equity method
mvestments are amortized over theuwr expected useful lives As of December 31, 2011, these
relationships were being amortized over approximately seven years Amortization expense for these
relationships was $32 9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 Assuming no
addittonal investments 1n new or existing Affihates, the Company estimates the annual amortization
expense attributable to its current equity-method Affibates for the next five years as follows

Estimated

Amortization
Year Ending Becember 31, __Em
2012 $326
2013 326
2014 111
2015 29
2016 02

During 2011, the Company completed impairment assessments on 1ts goodwill and definite-lived
and indefimite-lived acquired client relationships The Company determined that fair value of the
indefimte-hved intangible assets at one of its Affihates, a growth oriented manager of US equity
mutual funds had declined below 1ts carrying value and, accordingly, 1t reduced the carrying value to 1ts
current fair value This impairment, which totaled $9 2 milion, has been presented within Amortization
of intangible assets in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income Further dechines in the fair
value of this asset will likely result 10 future impairments No impairments were tdentified related to
the Company’s goodwill or other definite-lived or indefinite-lived intangible assets

19. Equity Investments in Affilhates

The following table presents summarized financial information for Affihates accounted for under
the equity method

2009 2010 201t
Revenue(® $3616 $ 6195 §$§ 5810
Net income 1789 444 2 3879
2010 2011
Current assets® $7.2593 $8,1931
Noncurrent assets 356 291
Current habilities 1,471 0 1,022 7
Noncurrent liabilities and Non-controlling interest® 53383 6,7543

(1) Revenue includes advisory fecs for asset management services, investment income and
dividends from consohdated mvestment partnerships

(2) For its investments in BlueMountain and ValueAct, the Company 1s entitled to a share of
revenue but no portion of the assets held by investors that are unrelated to the Company
(which 1include consohdated investment partnerships)

The Company’s share of undistributed earnings from equity method investments totaled
$32 5 million as of December 31, 2011
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20. Net Income (non-controlling interests)

Net income (non-controlling interests) in the Consolidated Statements of Income includes the
income allocated to owners of consohdated Affihates, other than AMG For the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, this income was $126 7 malhion, $153 1 million and $194 7 milhon,
respectively Non-controlling interests on the Consohidated Balance Sheets includes capital and
undistributed profits owned by the managers of the consolidated Affihates (including profits allocated
to managers from the Owners’ Allocation and Operating Allocation)

21 Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

The Company 1s authorized to ssue up to 5 0 million shares of Preferred Stock Any such
Preferred Stock 1ssued by the Company may rank pnior to common stock as to dividend rights,
hgquidation preference or both, may have full or limited voting rights and may be convertible into
shares of common stock

Common Stock

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized the 1ssuance of up to 150 0 milhion shares of
Voting Common Stock and 3 0 milhion shares of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock As more fully
described in Note 12, the Company 1s party to a forward equity sale agreement to 1ssuc new shares of
the Company’s common stack

The Company's Board of Directors has also authorized share repurchase programs in recent
perteds The maximum number of shares that may yet be repurchased under outstanding programs 1s
29 milhon The timing and amount of 1ssuances and repurchases are determined at the discretion of
AMG’s management

A summary of the Company’s recent share repurchase activity 1s as follows

Shares Average
Period Repurchased Price
2009 — —
2010 — —
2011 07 $83 63

Financial Instruments

The Company’s 2008 senior convertible notes and jumor convertible trust preferred securities
contain an embedded nght for holders to receive shares of the Company’s common stock under certain
condiions These arrangements, as well as the forward equity sale agreement, meet the defimtion of
equity and are not required to be accounted for separately as derivative instruments

Stock Option and Incentive Plans

The Company established the 1997 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (as amended and restated, the
“1997 Plan”), under which ut was authonzed to grant options to employees, officers and directors In
2002, stockholders approved an amendment to increase the number of shares of common stock
authorized for 1ssuance under this plan to 79 milhion
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUPF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors established the 2002 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
{(as amended and restated, the “2002 Plan”), under which the Company was authonized to grant
3 4 mulhon non-qualified stock options and certain other awards to employees and directors This plan
requires that the majority of grants under the plan in any three-year period must be 1ssued to
cmployees of the Company who are not executive officers or directors of the Company This plan was
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors

In May 2006, the stockholders of the Company approved the 2006 Stock Option and Incentive
Plan (the *2006 Plan”), under which the Company was authonzed to grant 3 0 million stock options or
stock appreciation rights to semor management, employees and directors

In May 2011, the stockholders of the company approved the 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
(the “2011 Plan™), under which the Company was authonzed to grant 4 0 milhon stock options or stock
appreciation rights to semor management, employees, consultants and directors

The plans are administered by a commttee of the Board of Directors Under the plans, options
generally vest over a peniod of three to five years and expire seven to ten years after the grant date All
options have been granted with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant

The following table summarizes the transactions of the Company’s stock option and incentive

plans
Weighted Average
Remaiming
‘Weighted Average Contractual
Stock Options Exeraise Price Life (years)
Unexercised options outstanding—January 1, 2011 51 $ 6234
Options granted 06 99 42
Options exercised (06) 46 87
Options expired _— —
Options forfeited [(1Y)] 11042
Unexercised options outstanding—December 31, 2011 31 6818 45
Exercisable at December 31, 2011 30 61 66 38

The fair value of options granted 15 estmated using the Black-Schales option pricing model The
weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and
2011 was $17 03, $23 54 and $30 27 per option, respectively, based on the assumptions stated below

Year Ended
December 31,
W09 2010 2011

Dividend yield 00% 00% 00%
Expected volatihityt"? 307% 324% 331%
Risk-free interest rate(® 18% 16% 13%
Expected life of options (in years)® 40 45 48
Forferture rate® 50% 50% 125%

(1) Based on historical and implied volatility
(2) Based on the US Treasury yield curve 1n effect at the date of grant
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(3) Based on the Company’s historical data and expected exercise behavior

The Company generally uses treasury stock to settle stock option exercises The total intrinsic
value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $32 2 million,
$42 3 mullien and $35 4 million, respectively As of December 31, 2011, the intrinsic value of exercisable
options outstanding was $103 6 milhion and 3 5 mullion options are avaulable for future grant under the
Company’s option plans

In addition, under the Company’s Executive Incentive Plan and Deferred Compensation Plan, the
Company periodically grants awards denominated 1n the Company’s common stock The Company
granted awards with fair values of $20 9 nullion, $1 0 nulhon, and $3 3 million 1in 2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively

Further to its retention and icentive objectives, the Company granted awards under the
Company’s Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan with aggregate fair values of $21 0 mithon and
$14 6 mullion during 2010 and 2011, respectively These awards represent profits interests 1n the
Company’s Affihates, and recipients of these awards have rights to cash flows beginning in 2018
Recipients may require the Company to purchase their interests starting 1n 2014

Dunng the year ended December 31, 2011, the cash received and the actual tax benefit recognized
for options exercised were $28 0 milhon and $8 2 mullion, respectively Dunng the year ended
December 31, 2011, the excess tax benefit classified as a financing cash flow was $7 1 mulion During
the year ended December 31, 2010, the cash received and the actual tax benefit recogmized for options
exercised were $46 4 milhon and $14 6 million, respectively Duning the year ended December 31, 2010,
the excess tax benefit classified as a financing cash flow was $10 1 mllion

A summary of recent share based compensation expense 1s as follows

Share Based
Compensation
Period Expense Tax Benefit
2009 $ 86 $33
2010 195 75
2011 303 116

As of December 31, 2010, there was $75 4 milhon of compensation expense related to share-based
compensation arrangements which will be recogmized over a weighted average penod of approximately
four years (assuming no forfeitures) As of December 31, 2011, there was $80 0 nilhon of
compensation expense related to share-based compensation arrangements which will be recognized over
a weighted average period of approximately three years (assuming no forfettures)

22, Earmings Per Share

The calculanion of basic earnings per share 15 based on the weighted average number of shares of
the Company’s common stock outstanding during the period Diluted earmings per share 1s similar to
bastc earmings per share, but adjusts for the dilutive effect of the potenual 1ssuance of incremental
shares of the Company’s common stock The following 1s a reconcihiation of the numerator and
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

denomunator used 1n the calculation of basic and diluted earmings per share available to common

stockholders
Year Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011
Numerator
Net income (controlling interest) $595 $1386 $1649
Interest expense on convertible securities, net of taxes 01 01 —
Net income {controlling interest), as adjusted $596 $1387 31649
Denominator:
Average shares outstanding—basic 41 4 474 518
Effect of dilutive instruments
Stock options and other awards 05 10 12
Forward sale 05 06 —
Semor convertible securitics 09 04 —
Average shares outstanding—diluted 433 494 530

As more fully discussed in Notes 10 and 11, the Company had convertible secunities outstanding
during the periods presented and 1s required to apply the if-converted method tc these securities in its
calculation of diluted earmings per share Under the if-converted method, shares that are 1ssuable upon
conversion are deemed cutstanding, regardless of whether the securities are contractually convertible
nto the Company’s common stock at that time For this calculation, the interest expense (net of tax)
attributable to these dilutive securities 1s added back to Net income (controlling interest), reflecting the
assumption that the secunities have been converted Issuable shares for these secunnes and related
interest expense are excluded from the calculation 1If an assumed conversion would be anti-dilutive to
diluted earmings per share

The Company did not repurchase any shares of cotnmon stock during the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2010 For the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, the Company
repurchased approximately 0 7 mullion shares of common stock under the share repurchase programs
approved by the Company’s Board of Directors
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Centinued)

The diluted earnings per share calculatrons 1n the table above exclude the anti-dilutive effect of the
following shares

Year Ended

December 31,
209 20107 2011
Stock options 31 13 12
Senior convertible securities 36 36 36
Jumor convertible trust preferred secunties 42 42 42

As discussed further in Note 17, the Company may settle portions of 1ts Affiliate equity purchases
in shares of its common stock Because 1t 1s the Company’s intent to settle these potential repurchases
mn cash, the calculation of diluted earnings per share excludes any potential dilutive effect from possible
share settlements

23 Fimnancial Instruments and Risk Management

The Company 1s exposed to market nisks brought on by changes 1n interest and currency exchange
rates The Company has not entered into foreign currency transactions or derivative financial
instruments to reduce risks associated with changes in currency exchange rates The Company may use
dervative financial instruments to reduce nisks associated with changes in interest rates

Nouonal amounts and credit exposures of dertvattves

The notional amount of derivatives does not represent amounts that are exchanged by the parties,
and thus are not a measure of the Company’s exposure The amounts exchanged are calculated on the
basis of the notional or contract amounts, as well as on other terms of the interest rate dervatives and
the volatility of these rates and prices

The Company would be exposed to credit-related losses 1n the event of nonperformance by the
counter parties that 1ssued the financial instruments, although the Company does not expect that the
counter parties to interest rate dervatives will faul to meet thewr obhigations, given their typrcally high
credit ratings The credit exposure of derivative contracts 1s represented by the positive fair value of
contracts at the reporting date, reduced by the effects of master netting agreements and collateral
posted by the counterparty

Interest Rate Risk Management

From time to time, the Company enters into denivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to
mterest rate risk The Company does not hold or 1ssue denivative financral instruments for trading
purposes Dervative financial instruments are mtended to enable the Company to achieve a level of
variable-rate or fixed-rate debt that 1s acceptable to management and to hmit interest rate exposure
The Company agrees with another party to exchange the difference between fixed-rate and floating rate
interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed notional principal amount

Fair Value

Fair value of a financial instrument 1s the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 1n a
current transaction between willing parties, other than 1n a forced or hiquidation sale Quoted market
prices arc used when available, otherwise, management ¢sumates fair value based on pnices of financial
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

instruments with stmilar charactenstics or by using valuation techmques such as discounted cash flow
models Valuation techniques involve uncertainties and requure assumptions and judgments regarding
prepayments, credit risk and discount rates Changes 1n these assumptions will result 1n different
valuation estimates The fair value presented would not necessardy be realized 1in an immediate sale
nor are there typically plans to settle habilities prior to contractual maturity Additionally, current
authoritative guidance allows companies to use a wide range of valuation techmiques, therefore, 1t may
be difficult to compare the Company’s fair value information to other compames’ fair value
information

The carrying amount of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments approximates fair value
because of the short-term nature of these instruments The carrying value of notes recevable
approximate fair value because interest rates and other terms are at market rates The carrymg value of
notes payable approximates fair value principally because of the short-term nature of the notes The
carrymg value of sentor bank debt approximates fair value because the debt 15 a credit facility with
variable interest based on selected short-term rates The fair market value of the semor convertible
secunities and the junior convertible trust preferred secunties at December 31, 2011 was $500 0 mllion
and $594 3 million, respectively

24, Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The foliowing 1s a summary of the quarterly results of operations of the Company for the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2011

2010

First Second Thard Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Revenue $2510 3$3320 $3544 $4208

Operating income 68 5 958 956 1141

Income before income taxes 64 7 751 930 1460

Net income (controlling interest)} 174 252 340 620

Earnings per share—diluted $038 $053 $065 $118
2011

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Revenue $4263 $4623 54138 34024
Operating income 1249 1400 1260 952
Income before income taxes 1161 1277 999 10990
Net income (controlhng interest){ 391 454 401 403
Earnings per share—diluted $074 308 $07 $077

(1) During the third quarter of 2011, the Company recorded a deferred tax benefit of $3 9 million
($2 6 million attributable to the controlling interest) from the revaluation of 1ts deferred taxes as a
result of a reduction of corporate tax rates in the Umted Kingdom In the fourth quarter of 2011,
the Company determined that the revalvation of the tax benefit should have been $7 6 rmilion
($5 2 million to the controlhng interest) The ret effect of this change, which was reflected as an
out-of-period adjustment 1n the fourth quarter, reduced Income taxes by $3 7 million ($2 6 million
to the controlling interest) and was not matenal to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

25. Related Party Transactions

The Company periodically records amounts receivable and payable to Affilate partners in
connection with the transfer of Affihate equity interests The Company also has habilities to related
parties for deferred purchase price and contingent payment arrangements n connection with certamn
business combinations

Total recervable at December 31, 2010 was $42 9 mullion, which 1s included in Other assets The
total recewvable at December 31, 2011 was $41 3 mulhon, of which $1 4 million 1s included 1in Prepaid
expenses and other current assets and $39 9 milhon 1s included in Other assets The total payable as of
Deccmber 31, 2010 was $183 0 million, of which $114 8 million 1s included m current habilities and
$68 2 million 15 inctuded in Other long-term habihties The total payable as of December 31, 2011 was
$84 1 million, of which $33 2 milhion 15 included in current Liabilittes and $50 9 mullion 1s included in
Other long-term habilities

In certain cases, Affihate management owners and Company officers may serve as truste<s or
directors of certain mutual funds from which the Affihate earns advisory fee revenue

26. Segment Information

Management has assessed and determined that the Company operates i three business segments
representing the Company’s three prnincipal distnbution channels Mutual Fund, Insututionat and High
Net Worth, each of which has different client relationships

Revenue n the Mutual Fund disiribution channel 1s earned from advisory and sub-advisory
relationships with all domestically-registered investment products as well as non-institutional investment
products that are registered abroad Revenue in the Institutional distribution channel 1s earned from
relationships with foundations and endowments, defined benefit and defined contnbution plans and
Taft-Hartley plans Revenue m the High Net Worth distribution channel 1s earned from relationships
with wealthy individuals, family trusts and managed account programs

Revenue earned from client relationships managed by Affihates accounted for under the equity
method 15 not consolidated with the Company’s reported Revenue but mstead 1s included (net of
operating expenses, including amortization) in Income from equity method investments, and reported in
the distnbution channel in which the Affihate operates Income tax atinbutable to the profits of the
Company’s equity method Affiliates 1s reported within the Company’s consohdated income tax
provision

In firms with revenue sharing arrangements, a certamn percentage of revenue 1s allocated for use by
management of an Affiliate in paying operating expenses of that Affihate, including salaries and
bonuses, and 15 cailed an “Operating Allocation ” In reporting segment operating expenses, Affiliate
expenses are allocated to a particular segment on a pro rata basis with respect to the revenue
generated by that Affihate 1n such segment Generally, as revenue increases, additional compensation 1s
typically paid to Affihate management partners from the Operating Allocation As a result, the
contractual expense allocation pursuant to a revenue sharing arrangement may result in the
charactenization of any growth in profit margin beyond the Company’s Owners' Allocation as an
operating expense All other operating expenses (excluding intangible amortization) and 1nterest
expense have been allocated to segments based on the proportion of cash flow distributions reported by
Affihates 1in each segment
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Statements of Income

Revenue

Operating expenses
Depreciation and other amortization
Other operating expenses

Operating income

Non-operating (income) and expenses
Investment and other (income) loss
Income from equity method investments
Investment (income} loss from Affilate

Investments 1n partnerships
Interest expense

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

Net income
Net income (non-controlhng interests)

Net (income) loss (non-controlling interests in

partnerships)

Net mcome (controlling interest)

Total assets
Goodwill

2009
Mutual Fund  Institutional  High Net Worth Total
$ 3132 $ 4156 $1130 $ 8418
71 293 92 456
2021 2778 76 4 5563
2092 3071 856 6019
104 0 1085 274 2399
(15 1) (63) (35) (24 9)
10) (285) 21 (316)
(02) (12) (26 0} (274)
218 459 104 781
55 99 (212) (5 8)
98 5 9B 6 48 6 2457
139 150 39 328
846 836 44 7 2129
(54 7) (587) (133) (126 7)
02) 13) (25 2) (26 7)
$ 297 § 236 $ 62 $ 595
$1,1829 $1,703 0 $505 0 $3,390 9
$ 5617 $ 6030 $248 5 $1,4132
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2010
Mutual Fund Institutional  High Net Worth Total
Revenue $ 5788 $ 6492 $1302 $1,358 2
Operating expenses
Depreciation and other amortization 153 496 92 741
Other operating expenses 401 2 424 9 840 9101
416 5 474 5 932 984 2
Operating income 162 3 174 7 370 3740
Non-operating (income) and expenses
Investment and other (income) loss (77) (11 0) 42) (229)
Income from equity mcthod investments 04 (70 4) (75) (77 5)
Investment (imcome) loss from Affiliate
investments in partnerships 01 02 42 45
Interest expense 324 496 91 911
252 (31 6) 16 (4 8)
Income before income taxes 1371 2063 354 378 8
Income taxes 362 471 82 915
Net income 1009 159 2 272 2873
Net income (non-controlling interests) (547) (81 6) (16 8) (153 1)
Net (income} loss (non-controlling interests in
partnerships) 01 02 41 44
Net income (controlling interest) $ 463 £ 778 3145 $ 1386
Total assets $1,8484 $2,997 4 $434 0 $5,2798
Goodwill $ 7867 $1,073 6 $261 6 $2,1219
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUF, INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenue

Operating expenses
Depreciation and other amortization
Other operating expenses

Operating income

Non-operating (income) and expenses
Investment and other (income) loss
Income from equity method investments
Investment (income) loss from Affiliate

investments 1n partnerships
Interest expense

Income before income taxes
Income taxes

Net income
Net income (non-controlhing interests)

Net (income) loss (non-controlling mnterests n

partnerships)
Net income (controlling interest)

Total assets
Goodwill

2011
Mutual Fund  Institutional  High Net Worth Total
$ 7237 $ 8414 $139 7 $1,704 8
280 769 78 1127
492 4 5249 887 1,106 0
5204 6018 965 1,2187
2033 2396 432 4861
06 (69) 113 50
(79 (572) (76) (727
376 548 87 1011
303 (93) 124 334
1730 2489 308 4527
344 534 53 931
1386 1955 255 3596
(73 1) (105 3) (16 3) (194 7)
$ 655 5 902 $ 92 $ 1649
$1,9206  $2,8362 $462 1 $5,2189
$ 7850 $1,0714 $2609 $2,1173

In 2009, 2010 and 2011, revenue attributable to chents domiciled outside the U S was
approximately 18%, 33% and 39% of total revenue, respectively

As of December 31, 2009, ecquity method investments of $12 1 million, $602 1 million and

$44 1 milhon were included n the total assets of the Mutual Fund, Inststutional and High Net Worth

segments, respectively As of December 31, 2010, equity method investments of $9 1 million,

$630 1 millron and $39 7 million were included in the total assets of the Mutual Fund, Instittutional and
High Net Worth segments, respectively As of December 31, 2011, equity method investments of

$75 6 milhon, $490 6 milhon and $49 6 million were included 1n the total assets of the Mutual Fund,
Institutional and High Net Worth segments, respectively
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Income Tax Valuation Allowance
Year Ending December 31,

Schedule 11

N

Valuation and Quahfying Accounts

Balance

Beginning Additions Charged to
Costs and Expenses

of Period

Additions Charged

Balance

to Other Accounts Deductions End of Period

2011 $384
2010 331
2009 398
Other Allowances(®
Year Ending December 31,

2011 $ 85
2010 132
2009 190

$—
53
09

$12

03

$— $28
— 76
$— $01
— 47
— 61

8356
384
331

$96
85
132

(1) Other Allowances represents reserves on notes received in connection with transfers of our interests n
certain Affiliates as well as other receivable amounts, which we consider uncollectible
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2011, we carned out an
evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded, as of the end of the period covered by this report, that our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective to ensure that (1) information required to be disclosed by us in
the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act 1s recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the ime periods specified in the Secunties and Exchange Commussion’s rules and forms, and
(1) such information 1s accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive officer and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure In desigming and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, we and our
management recognize that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control ebjectives, and our management
necessanly was required to apply its judgment 1n evaluating and implementing possible controls and
procedures Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of
achieving their stated objectives and our principal executive officer and principal financial officers
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level
We review on an ongoing basis and document our disclosure controls and procedures, and our internal
control over financial reporting, and we may from time to time make changes 1n an effort to enhance
their effectiveness and ensure that our systems evolve with our business See Item 8 for “Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,” which 1s incorporated by reference herein

Our independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has 1ssued an
attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting, which 1s included n Item 8

No change 1n our internal control over financial reporting (as defined 1n Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2011 that
has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably hikely to matenally affect, our internal control over financial
reporting
Item 9B  Other Information

None
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PART I11
Item 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,

Information required by this Item will be set forth 10 our proxy statement for our 2012 Annual
Meeting of shareholders (to be filed wathin 120 days after December 31, 2011) (the “Proxy
Statement™), and 1s incorporated herein by reference
Item 11 Executive Compensation.

Information relating to executive compensation will be set forth 1n our Proxy Statemcent, and 15
incorporated heremn by reference
Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Information required by this item will be set forth 1 our Proxy Statement, and 1s incorporated
herein by reference
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence,

Information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and 15 incorporated
herein by reference
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information relating to pnincipal accountant fees and services will be set forth in our Proxy
Statement, and 13 incorporated herem by reference
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Fmnancial Statements See Item § of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
(2} Financial Statement Schedule See Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

(3) Exhbits See the Exhibit Index attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securnities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authonzed
AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
(Registrant)

Date February 23, 2012 By /s/ SEAN M_HEALEY

Sean M Healey
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and 1n the capacities and on the dates
mdicated

Signature Title Date

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors February 23, 2012
(Principat Executive Officer)

/sf SEAN M HrCALEY

Sean M Healey

s/ JaY C HORGEN Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Pnincipal Financial and Principal February 23, 2012
Accounting Officer)

Jay C Horgen

/sf SAMUEL T BYRNE

Director February 23, 2012
Samuel T Byrne
/s{ DWIGHT D CHURCHILL
Director February 23, 2012
Dwight D Churchill
/s/ HAROLD ] MEYERMAN
Director February 23, 2012
Harold J] Meyerman
/s/ WILLIAM J NutT
Dhrector February 23, 2012
Wilham J Nutt
fs/ RITA M RODRIGUEZ
Director February 23, 2012
Rita M Rodriguez
fs/ PATRICK T RyaN
Director February 23, 2012
Patrick T Ryan
/s/ JIDE J ZEITLIN
Director February 23, 2012

Jide J Zeithn
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Exhibit Index

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation®

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation®
Amendment to Amended and Restated Cernificate of Incorporation®
Second Amended and Restated By-laws®

Specimen certificate for shares of common stock of the Registrant!!}

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of AMG Capital Trust I, dated as of Apnl 3,
2006, by and among Affiliated Managers Group, Inc, Chnistiana Bank & Trust Company, as
Delaware Trustee, U S Bank National Association, successor n interest to Bank of America,
N A, successor by merger to LaSalle Bank National Asscciation, as Property Trustee and
Administrative Trustee, and the holders from time to ume of undivided beneficial interests in
the assets of AMG Capital Trust [

Indenture, dated as of April 3, 2006, by and between Affihated Managers Group, Inc and
U S Bank National Association, successor 1n interest to Bank of Amenica, N A , successor by
merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Debenture Trustee®

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of Apnl 3, 2006, by and between Affilated Managers
Group, Inc and US Bank National Association, successor n interest to Bank of America,
N A, successor by merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Guarantee Trustee®

Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of AMG Capital Trust II, dated as of October 17,
2007, by and among Affihated Managers Group, Inc, U S Bank National Association,
successor In interest to Bank of Amenica National Trust Delaware, successor by merger to
LaSalle National Trust Delaware, as Delaware Trustee, U S Bank National Association,
successor n mterest to Bank of America, N A, successor by merger to LaSalle Bank National
Association, as Property Trustee and Institutional Admimistrator, and the holders from time to
time of undiided beneficial interests 1n the assets of AMG Capital Trust 11

Indenture, dated as of October 17, 2007, by and between Affilated Managers Group, Inc and
U S Bank National Association, successor in nterest to Bank of America, N A | successor by
merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Debenture Trustee®®

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2007, by and between Affiliated Managers
Group, Inc and US Bank National Association, successor in interest to Bank of America,
N A, successor by merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Guarantee Trustee®)

Indenture related to the 3 95% Convertible Senior Notes due 2038, dated as of August 6,
2008, by and between Affihated Managers Group, Inc and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N A ™

Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2011, by and
among Affihated Managers Group, Inc, Bank of America, N A, as Admmnmistrative Agent, and
the several lenders from time to time parties thereto®

First Amendment to the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
July 5, 2011, by and among Affilated Managers Group, Inc, Bank of America, NA | as
Admmstrative Agent, and the several lenders from time to time parties thereto®

Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2011, by and among
Affilated Managers Group, Inc, Bank of Amenica, N A , as Administrative Agent, and the
several lenders from time to time parties thereto¢!®
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Term Credit Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2011, by and among Affihated Managers
Group, Inc, Bank of America, N A, as Admumstrative Agent, and the several lenders from
time to time partics thereto!"

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc Defined Contribution Plan*!

Affibated Managers Group, Inc Executive Incentive Plan (f/k/a Long-Term Executive Incentive
Plan)!®

Affihated Managers Group, Inc Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option and Incentive
Plant'®

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Option and Incentive
Plan!¥

Affihated Managers Group, Inc 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan®
Affihated Managers Group, Inc Long-Term Stock and Investment Plan®®
Affihated Managers Group, Inc Executive Retention Plant!®

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc Deferred Compensation Plan®>

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc LongTerm Equity Interests Plan 2010, LPU%
Affilated Managers Group, Inc 2011 Stock Option and Incentive Plan(!”
Affthated Managers Group, Inc Long-Term Equity Interests Plan 2011, LP*

IDistnbution Agency Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2011, by and among Affiliated
Managers Group, Inc, Mernll Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smuth Incorporated, and Bank of
America, N A (%)

Form of Confirmation Letter Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2011, by and between Affihated
Managers Group, Inc and Bank of America, N A (9

Distnibution Agency Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2011, by and among Affihated Managers
Group, Inc, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc, and Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch?®

Form of Confirmation Letter Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2011, by and among Affiltated
Managers Group, Inc, Deutsche Bank Secunties Inc, and Deutsche Bank AG, London
Brancht!®

Form of 2011 Indemmfication Agreement entered into by each Director and Executive
Officer!”

Transition and Advisory Services Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2011, by and between
Affiliated Managers Group, Inc and Darrell W Crate®”

Schedule of Subsidiaries*
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP*

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

Cerufication of Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002**

Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002**
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101  The following financial statements from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 are furmished herewith, formatted i XBRL (eXtensible
Business Reporting Language) (1) the Consohdated Statements of Income for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 20039, (n) the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31,
2011 and December 31, 2010, (1n) the Consolidated Statement of Equity for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, (1v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

T Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan
*  Filed herewith
**  Furmshed herewith

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No 333-34679),
filed August 29, 1997, as amended

(2) Incorporated by reference 10 the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S$-8
(No 333-129748), filed November 16, 2005

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (No 001-13459),
filed Apnl 28, 2006

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No 001-13459),
filed November 9, 2010

(5) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No 001-13459), filed
Apnl 7, 2006

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No 001-13459), filed
October 18, 2007

(7) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No 001-13459), filed
August 12, 2008

(8) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No 001-13459), filed
January 13, 2011

(9) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No 001-13459), filed
July 6, 2011

(10) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No 001-13459), filed
November 4, 2011

(11) Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1999 (No 001-13459), filed March 30, 2000

(12) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (No 001-13459),
filed Apnl 29, 2010

(13} Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q {(No 001-13459),
filed May 10, 2004

(14) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No 001-13459),
filed November 9, 2005

(15) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Foerm 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2008 (No 001-13459), filed March 2, 2009, as amended

(16} Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No 001-13459), filed
December 17, 2010
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(17) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (No 001-13459),
filed April 19, 2011

(18) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No 001-13459),
filed August 9, 2011

(19) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2010 (No 001-13459), filed March 1, 2011

(20) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No 001-13459),
filed May 10, 2011
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference n the Registration Statement on Forms §-3
(No 333-168627) and S-8 (No 333-175912, No 333-135416, No 333-129748, No 333-100628,
No 333-84485, and No 333-72967) of Affihated Managers Group, Inc (the “Company”) of our report
dated February 23, 2012 relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears i this Form 10-K

fs/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 23, 2012

T
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sean M Healey, certify that

1
2

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affihated Managers Group, Inc,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, 1n hight of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
peried covered by this report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information mcluded 1n
this report, faurly present 1n all materal respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the penods presented n this report,

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishuing and mamtaming
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and mternal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that matenal information
relating 1o the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 1s made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the pertod in which this report 15 being
prepared,

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such nternal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles,

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure contrels and procedures and
presented 1n this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the pentod covered by this report based on such
evaluation, and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or 15
reasonably likely to matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting, and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s avditors and the
audit commuttee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions)

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summanze and report financial informanon, and

b) Any fraud, whether or not maternial, that involves management or other employees who
have a sigruficant role 1n the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting

Date February 23, 2012

/s/ SEAN M HEALEY

Sean M Healey
Chief Executrve Officer and Chairman

T
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Exhibit 31 2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jay C Horgen, certify that

1
2

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affihated Managers Group, Inc,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a materal fact necessary to make the statements made, in hight of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report,

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all matenal respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report,

The registrant’s other certifymg officer and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaimng
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 1in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e} and
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)} for the registrant and have

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidianes, 1s made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duning the period in which thes report 1s being
prepared,

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such nternal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles,

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented n this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the penod covered by this report based on such
evaluation, and

d) Dasclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred dunng the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter 1n the case of an annual report) that has maternally affected, or s
reasonably likely to maternally affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting, and

The registrant’s other certifying offtcer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functiens)

a) All sigmficant deficiencies and material weaknesses 1n the design or operanon of internal
8 4 p
control over financial reporting which are reasonably hikely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summanze and report financial information, and

b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who
have a sigmficant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting

Date February 23, 2012

/s/ Jay C HORGEN

Jay C Horgen
Chuef Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 321

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U S8.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc (the
‘ “Company”) for the penod ended December 31, 2011 as filed with the Secunties and Exchange
‘ Comrmussion on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Sean M Healey, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, that

(1) the Report fully complics with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, m all matenal respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company

Date February 23, 2012
By /s/ SEAN M HEALEY

Sean M Healey
Chuef Executve Officer
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Exhibit 32 2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affihated Managers Group, Inc (the
“Company”’) for the period ended December 31, 2011 as filed with the Secunties and Exchange
Commussion on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Jay C Horgen, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, that

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13{a) or 15(d), as applicable, of
the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and

(2) the information contamed in the Report fairrly presents, 1n all matenal respects, the financial
conditton and results of operations of the Company

Date February 23, 2012
By /s/ JaAy C HORGEN

Jay C Horgen
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

o

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc 10-K Pro] P31888B0OS11 Job 11ZDY78801 (11-31888-1)
Page Dim: 8 250" X 10 750" Copy Dim 38 X 543 File: KO78801A ,5




